UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

	FORM 20-F
	REGISTRATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OR (g) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
OR ⊠	ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For fiscal year ended January 31, 2023
OR	
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
OD	For the transition period from to
OR □	SHELL COMPANY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 Date of event requiring this shell company report:
	Commission file number 000-55982
	C21 Investments Inc.
	(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)
	British Columbia, Canada
	(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
	19th Floor, 885 West Georgia Street
	Vancouver, British Columbia V6E 3H4 Canada
	(Address of principal executive offices)
	Michael Kidd C21 Investments Inc.
	19th Floor, 885 West Georgia Street
	Vancouver, British Columbia V6E 3H4 Canada
	Tel: 833-289-2994

(Name, Telephone, E-mail and/or Facsimile number and Address of Company Contact Person)

Securities registered pursuant to	Section 12(b) of the A	Act: Not applicable.	
Securities registered pursuant to	Section 12(g) of the A	Act: Common shares, no par	value
Securities for which there is a rep	porting obligation pur	rsuant to Section 15(d) of the	Act: None
			or common stock as of the close of mon shares of the Registrant were
Indicate by check mark if the reg Yes □ No⊠	istrant is a well-know	vn seasoned issuer, as defined	l in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
If this report is an annual or tra pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) or			strant is not required to file reports ▼
	4 during the preceding	ng 12 months (or for such sh	e filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the norter period that the registrant was or the past 90 days. Yes ⊠ No □
	of Regulation S-T (§	232.405 of this chapter) duri	Interactive Data File required to being the preceding 12 months (or for
	See definition of "la		rated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or rated filer," and "emerging growth
Large accelerated filer □ Ac	ccelerated filer	Non-accelerated filer ⊠	Emerging growth company ⊠
If an emerging growth company check mark if the registrant has e revised financial accounting stan	elected not to use the	extended transition period for	complying with any new or
		andard" refers to any update i dification after April 5, 2012.	ssued by the Financial Accounting
	ol over financial repo	orting under Section 404(b) of	its management's assessment of the fthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. eport.
			hark whether the financial statements is sued financial statements. [] 1
			that required a recovery analysis of during the relevant recovery period
Indicate by check mark which bathis filing:	sis of accounting the	registrant has used to prepare	the financial statements included in
U.S. GAAP ⊠		ncial Reporting Standards as al Accounting Standards Boa	
¹ Not applicable.	<u>—</u>		

If "Other" has been checked in response to the registrant has elected to follow:	e previous questic	on, indicate by check mark which financial statement item
	Item 17 □	Item 18 □
If this is an annual report, indicate by check of the Exchange Act). Yes \square No \boxtimes	mark whether the	Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION		3
CURRENCY		5
CAUTIONARY NO	TE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	5
Item 1.	Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers	6
Item 2.	Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable	6
Item 3.	Key Information	6
Item 4.	Information on the Company	22
Item 4A.	Unresolved Staff Comments	31
Item 5.	Operating and Financial Review and Prospects	32
Item 6.	Directors, Senior Management and Employees	38
Item 7.	Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions	47
Item 8.	Financial Information.	48
Item 9.	The Offer and Listing.	49
Item 10.	Additional Information	50
Item 11.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	57
Item 12.	Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities	59
Part II.		
Item 13.	Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies	59
Item 14.	Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds	59
Item 15.	Controls and Procedures	59
Item 16.	[Reserved]	60
Item 16A.	Audit Committee Financial Expert	60
Item 16B.	Code of Ethics	60
Item 16C.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	60
Item 16D.	Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees	61
Item 16E.	Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers	61
Item 16F.	Changes in Registrant's Certifying Accountant	61

Item 16G.	Corporate Governance 61
Item 16H.	Mine Safety Disclosure61
Item 16I.	Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Item 16J.	Insider Trading Polcies. 61
Part III.	
Item 17.	Financial Statements
Item 18.	Financial Statements
Item 19.	Exhibits
SIGNATURES	63

INTRODUCTION

In this annual report on Form 20-F, which we refer to as the "Annual Report", except as otherwise indicated or as the context otherwise requires, the "Company", "we", "our" or "us" or "C21" refers to C21 Investments Inc. The Company is a "foreign private issuer" as defined in Rule 3b-4 under the United States Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Rule 405 under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). Equity securities of the Company are accordingly exempt from Sections 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(f) and 16 of the Exchange Act pursuant to Rule 3a12-3 thereunder.

CURRENCY

Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts in this Annual Report are in United States dollars. The exchange rate of Canadian dollars into United States dollars, on January 31, 2023 based upon the daily exchange rate as quoted by the Bank of Canada was U.S.\$1.00 = Cdn.\$1.3350.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report includes "forward-looking information" and "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Canadian securities laws and United States ("U.S.") securities laws (collectively, "forward-looking statements"). All forward-looking statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this Annual Report that addresses activities, events or developments that the Company expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future is forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements includes, among other things, information regarding: statements relating to the business and future activities of, and developments related to, the Company, including such things such as the lasting impact of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic with potential reductions of operating (including marketing) and capital expenses and revenues, future business strategy, competitive strengths, goals, expansion and growth of the Company's business, operations and plans, including information concerning the completion and timing of the completion of contemplated acquisitions or dispositions, expectations whether such proposed transactions will be consummated on the current terms or otherwise and contemplated timing, expectations and effects of such proposed transactions, including the potential number and location of cultivation and production facilities and dispensaries or licenses therefor to be acquired or sold and markets to be entered into or exited by the Company as a result of completing such proposed transactions, the ability of the Company to successfully achieve its business objectives as a result of completing such proposed acquisitions or dispositions, estimates of future cultivation, manufacturing and extraction capacity, expectations as to the development and distribution of the Company's brands and products, the expansion into additional U.S. and international markets, any potential future legalization of adult-use and/or medical cannabis under U.S. federal law, expectations of market size and growth in the United States and the states in which the Company operates or contemplates future operations and the effect such growth will have on the Company's financial performance, expectations for other economic, business, regulatory and/or competitive factors related to the Company or the cannabis industry generally, and other events or conditions that may occur in the future.

Readers are cautioned that forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, estimates, analysis and opinions of management of the Company at the time they were provided or made in light of their experience and their perception of trends, current conditions and expected developments, as well as other factors that management believes to be relevant and reasonable in the circumstances, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements is not a guarantee of future performance and are based upon a number of estimates and assumptions of management at the date the statements are made including among other things assumptions about: the contemplated acquisitions and dispositions being completed on the current terms and current contemplated timeline; development costs remaining consistent with budgets; ability to manage anticipated and unanticipated costs; favorable equity and debt capital markets; the ability to raise sufficient capital to advance the business of the Company; favorable operating and economic conditions; political and regulatory stability; obtaining and maintaining all required licenses and permits; receipt of governmental approvals and permits; sustained labor stability; favorable production levels and costs related to the Company's operations; the pricing of various cannabis products; the level of demand for cannabis products; the availability of third party service providers and other inputs for the Company's operations; the Company's ability to conduct operations in a safe, efficient and effective manner; the ability of the Company to restructure and service its secured debt; the availability of securitized debt financing on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all; and the ability of the Company's operations to perform and continue in the ordinary course in light of the lasting impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. While the Company considers these assumptions to be reasonable, the assumptions are inherently subject to significant business, social, economic, political, regulatory, competitive and other risks, uncertainties, contingencies and

other factors that could cause actual performance, achievements, actions, events, results or conditions to be materially different from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Many assumptions are based on factors and events that are not within the control of the Company and there is no assurance they will prove to be correct.

Risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements include, among others, risks relating to U.S. regulatory landscape and enforcement related to cannabis, including governmental and environmental regulation, public opinion and perception of the cannabis industry, risks related to the ability to consummate any proposed acquisitions or dispositions on the proposed terms and the ability to obtain requisite regulatory approvals and third party consents and the satisfaction of other conditions, risks related to reliance on third party service providers, the limited operating history of the Company, risks inherent in an agricultural business, risks related to proprietary intellectual property, risks relating to financing activities, risks relating to the management of growth, increasing competition in the cannabis industry, risks associated to cannabis products manufactured for human consumption including health risks, potential product recalls, reliance on key inputs, reliance on a healthy global supply chain, suppliers and skilled labor (the availability and retention of which is subject to uncertainty), cyber-security risks, ability and constraints on marketing products, fraudulent activity by employees, contractors and consultants, risk of litigation and conflicts of interest, and the difficulty of enforcement of judgments and effecting service outside of Canada, risks related to future acquisitions or dispositions, limited research and data relating to cannabis, risks and uncertainties related to the lasting impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the continued impact it may have on the global economy and the retail sector, particularly the cannabis retail sector in the states in which the Company operates, as well as those risk factors discussed elsewhere herein, including under "Risk Factors".

Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such information and statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.

The Company may elect to update such forward-looking statements at a future time, it assumes no obligation for doing so except to the extent required by applicable law.

The forward-looking statements or information contained in this Annual Report are made as of the date of this filing.

PART I.

Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Not Applicable.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable

Not Applicable.

Item 3. Key Information

A. [Reserved]

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not Applicable.

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not Applicable.

D. Risk Factors

The following are certain factors relating to the business and securities of the Company. The Company will face a number of challenges and significant risks in the development of its business due to the nature of and present stage of its business. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently

known to the Company or currently deemed immaterial by the Company, may also impair the operations of or materially adversely affect the securities of the Company. If any such risks occur, the Company's shareholders could lose all or part of their investment and the business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects of the Company could be materially adversely affected. Some of the risk factors described herein are interrelated and, consequently, readers should treat such risk factors as a whole.

The acquisition of any of the securities of the Company is speculative, involving a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only by persons whose financial resources are enough to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. An investment in the securities of the Company should not constitute a major portion of a person's investment portfolio and should only be made by persons who can afford a total loss of their investment.

Risks Related to the Cannabis Industry

While certain U.S. states have enacted medical and/or adult-use cannabis legislation, cannabis continues to be illegal under U.S. federal law, which may subject us to regulatory or legal enforcement, litigation, increased costs and reputational harm.

Eighty (80%) of the U.S. states have enacted legislation to regulate the sale and use of cannabis on either a medical or adultuse level. However, notwithstanding the permissive regulatory environment of cannabis at the state level, cannabis continues to be categorized as a controlled substance under the U.S. Controlled Substances Act of 1970 ("CSA"), and as such, activities within the cannabis industry are illegal under U.S. federal law. It is also illegal to aid or abet such activities or to conspire to attempt to engage in such activities. Financing businesses in the cannabis industry may be deemed aiding and abetting an illegal activity under federal law. If such an action were brought, we may be forced to cease operations and our investors could lose their entire investment. Such an action would have a material negative effect on our business and operations.

Individual U.S. state laws do not always conform to U.S. federal regulatory standards, or to other U.S. state laws. A number of states have decriminalized marijuana to varying degrees, other states have created exemptions specifically for medical cannabis, and several have both decriminalized and/or created medical marijuana exemptions. Several states have also legalized the recreational use of cannabis. Variations exist among states that have legalized, decriminalized or created medical marijuana exemptions. For example, Oregon and Colorado have limits on the number of marijuana plants that can be home grown. In most states, the cultivation of marijuana for personal use continues to be prohibited except for those states that allow small-scale cultivation by the individual in possession of a medical marijuana license or that person's caregiver. Even in those states in which the use and commercialization of marijuana has been legalized, its use remains a violation of U.S. federal law.

The Company is currently aware of 40 states of the United States, the District of Columbia, and four out of five U.S. territories, that have laws and/or regulations that recognize, in one form or another, legitimate medical uses for cannabis and consumer use of cannabis in connection with medical treatment. Many other states are considering similar legislation. Additionally, the sale and adult-use of recreational cannabis is legal in 17 U.S. states and the District of Columbia, including: Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Illinois, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Vermont, Virginia and Washington. At the federal level, however, cannabis currently remains a Schedule I controlled substance under the CSA. Under U.S. federal law, a Schedule I drug or substance has a high potential for abuse, no accepted medical use in the United States, and a lack of accepted safety for the use of the drug under medical supervision. As such, even in those states in which marijuana is legalized under state law, the manufacture, importation, possession, use or distribution of cannabis remains illegal under U.S. federal law.

Although the Company's activities are in compliance with applicable state and local law, strict compliance with state and local laws with respect to cannabis may neither absolve the Company of liability under U.S. federal law, nor may it provide a defense to any federal proceeding which may be brought against the Company. Any such proceedings brought against the Company may adversely affect the Company's operations and financial performance.

The Company could face a number of operational risks and may not be adequately insured for such risks.

The Company will be affected by a number of operational risks and may not be adequately insured for certain risks, including: labor disputes, catastrophic accidents, fires, blockades or other acts of social activism, changes in the regulatory environment, impact of non-compliance with laws or regulations, natural phenomena, such as inclement weather conditions, floods, earthquakes and ground movements. There is no assurance that the foregoing risks and hazards will not result in damage to, or destruction of, the Company's properties, grow facilities and extraction facilities, personal injury or death,

environmental damage, adverse impacts on the Company's operations, costs, monetary losses, potential legal liability and adverse governmental action, any of which could have an adverse impact on the Company's future cash flows, earnings and financial condition.

Proceeds from the Company's financings could be considered proceeds of crime which may restrict the Company's ability to pay dividends or effect other distributions to its shareholders.

Currently, the Company engages in the manufacture, distribution, possession and sale of cannabis in the U.S. medical and recreational cannabis markets, and therefore the enforcement of U.S. federal laws is a significant risk to the Company. Unless and until the U.S. Congress amends the CSA (or the Drug Enforcement Agency ("DEA") reschedules or de-schedules cannabis), there is a risk that U.S. federal authorities, including the United States Attorney's Office for the District of Nevada, may enforce current federal law, and the Company may be deemed to be possessing, manufacturing, and trafficking marijuana in violation of U.S. federal law. Such activities also may serve as the basis for the prosecution of other crimes, such as those prohibited by the money laundering statutes, the unlicensed money transmitter statute, and the U.S. Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 ("Bank Secrecy Act"). Additionally, the Company may be deemed to be facilitating the sale or distribution of drug paraphernalia in violation of U.S. federal law with respect to the Company's current or proposed business operations. As to the timing or scope of any such potential amendments to the CSA, there can be no assurances to when or if any potential amendments will be enacted. Active enforcement of the current federal statutory laws and regulatory rules regarding cannabis may thus directly and/or indirectly and adversely affect the Company's future operations, cash flows, earnings, and financial condition.

The Company could face (i) seizure of its cash and other assets used to support or derived from its cannabis subsidiaries; and (ii) the arrest of its employees, directors, officers, managers and investors, who could face charges of ancillary criminal violations of the CSA for aiding and abetting and conspiring to violate the CSA by virtue of providing financial support to state-licensed or permitted cultivators, processors, distributors, and/or retailers of cannabis. Additionally, as affirmed by U.S. Customs and Border Protection, employees, directors, officers, managers and investors of the Company who are not U.S. citizens face the risk of being barred from entry into the United States for life.

Management may not be able to predict all new emerging risks or how such risks may impact actual results of the Company in the highly regulated, highly competitive and rapidly evolving U.S. cannabis industry.

As a result of the conflicting views between individual state governments and the U.S. federal government regarding cannabis, investments in U.S. cannabis businesses are subject to inconsistent legislation and regulation. The response to this inconsistency was addressed in August 2013 when then U.S. Deputy Attorney General, James Cole, authorized the Cole Memo (as defined herein) addressed to all United States Attorneys acknowledging that, notwithstanding the designation of cannabis as a controlled substance at the federal level in the U.S., several U.S. states have enacted laws relating to cannabis for medical purposes. The Cole Memo outlined certain priorities for the U.S. Department of Justice relating to the prosecution of cannabis offenses. In particular, the Cole Memo noted that in jurisdictions that have enacted laws legalizing cannabis in some form, and that have also implemented strong and effective regulatory and enforcement systems to control the cultivation, distribution, sale and possession of cannabis, that conduct in compliance with those laws and regulations is less likely to be a priority at the federal level.

On January 4, 2018, Jeff Sessions, the U.S. Attorney General at the time, issued the Sessions Memo (as defined herein) to all United States Attorneys, which rescinded the Cole Memo in its entirety. The Sessions Memo provided that in deciding which marijuana activities to prosecute under U.S. federal laws, prosecutors should follow the same well-established principles that govern all U.S. federal prosecutions. Following the release of the Sessions Memo, the fate of state-legal cannabis is uncertain, and the risk of prosecution varies from state to state based on the posture, priorities and resources of each United States Attorney's Office for each applicable state.

Although the Cole Memo was rescinded, one legislative safeguard for the medical cannabis industry, appended to federal appropriations legislation, remains in place. Currently referred to as the "Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment", this so-called "rider" provision has been appended to the Consolidated Appropriations Acts every year since fiscal year 2015. Under the terms of the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer rider, the federal government is prohibited from using congressionally appropriated funds to enforce federal cannabis laws against regulated medical cannabis actors operating in compliance with state and local law. On December 20, 2019, then President Donald Trump signed the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2020 which included the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment, which prohibits the funding of federal prosecutions with respect to medical cannabis activities that are legal under state law. On December 27, 2020, the omnibus spending bill passed including the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment, extending its application until September 30, 2021. The Amendment was then renewed through a series of stopgap spending bills on September 30, 2021, December 3, 2021,

February 18, 2022, and March 11, 2022. On March 15, 2022, the Amendment was renewed through the signing of the fiscal year 2022 omnibus spending bill, extending previous funding levels and riders, including the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment. There can be no assurances that the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment will be included in future appropriations bills to prevent the federal government from using congressionally appropriated funds to enforce federal cannabis laws against regulated medical cannabis actors operating in compliance with state and local law.

On March 11, 2021, Merrick Garland was sworn in as the U.S. Attorney General. During his campaign, President Biden stated a policy goal to decriminalize possession of cannabis at the federal level, but he has not publicly supported the full legalization of cannabis. In response to questions posed by Senator Cory Booker, Merrick Garland stated during a February 2021 congressional testimony that he would reinstitute a version of the Cole Memo. He reiterated the statement that the Justice Department under his leadership would not pursue cases against Americans "complying with the laws in states that have legalized and are effectively regulating marijuana", in written responses to the Senate Judiciary Committee provided around March 1. It is not yet known whether the Department of Justice under President Biden and Attorney General Garland, will re-adopt the Cole Memo or announce a substantive marijuana enforcement policy. Justice Garland indicated at a confirmation hearing before the United States Senate that it did not seem to him to be a useful use of limited resources to pursue prosecutions in states that have legalized and that are regulating the use of marijuana, either medically or otherwise. It is unclear what impact, if any, the current administration will have on U.S. federal government enforcement policy on cannabis.

In October 2021, in a letter from U.S. Senators Corey Booker and Elizabeth Warren to Attorney General Garland, the Senators advocated the federal decriminalization of cannabis by removing cannabis from the CSA's list of controlled substances. To date, Attorney General Garland and the Department of Justice have not publicly responded to the Senators' letter. Further, there is no guarantee that state laws legalizing and regulating the sale and use of cannabis will not be repealed or overturned, or that local governmental authorities will not limit the applicability of state laws within their respective jurisdictions. Unless and until the United States Congress amends the CSA with respect to cannabis (and as to the timing or scope of any such potential amendments there can be no assurance), there is a risk that federal authorities may enforce current U.S. federal law.

Given the conflict of laws and regulations, there is no certainty as to how the U.S. Department of Justice ("**POJ**"), Federal Bureau of Investigation and other government agencies will handle cannabis matters in the future. There can be no assurance that the Biden Administration would not change the current enforcement policies, priorities and resources and choose to enforce the subject federal laws. The Company regularly monitors ongoing developments in this regard.

Violations of any laws and regulations could result in significant fines, penalties, administrative sanctions, forfeiture, convictions or settlements arising from civil proceedings conducted by either the federal government or private citizens, or criminal charges, including, but not limited to, disgorgement of profits, cessation of business activities or divestiture. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company, including its reputation and ability to conduct business, its title (directly or indirectly) to cannabis licenses in the United States, the listing of its securities on various stock exchanges, its financial position, its operating results, and profitability or liquidity or the market price of its publicly traded shares. In addition, it is difficult for the Company to estimate the time or resources that would be needed for the investigation of any such matters or the final resolution of such matters because, in part, the time and resources that may be needed are dependent on the nature and extent of any information requested and degree of enforcement by the applicable authorities involved, and such time or resources could be substantial.

As a company listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "CSE"), the Company accesses the Canadian capital markets on a public and private basis, and any capital raised may be utilized for the ongoing operations of its U.S. holdings that operate in the U.S. cannabis industry. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful, in whole or in part, in raising funds, particularly if the U.S. federal authorities change their position toward enforcing the CSA. Further, access to funding from residents, citizens, venture capital, private equity and banks in the United States may be limited due to their unwillingness to be associated with activities that violate U.S. federal laws. Notwithstanding the above, the SAFE Banking Act (as defined herein) would be a positive development for the industry and access to more affordable banking and lending.

Changes to current laws and regulation may impose substantial costs on the Company.

Local, state and federal cannabis laws and regulations in the United States are broad in scope and subject to evolving interpretations, which could require the Company to incur substantial costs associated with compliance or alter certain aspects of its business plan. In addition, violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt certain aspects of the Company's business plan and result in a material adverse effect on certain aspects of the Company's planned operations. Furthermore, it is possible that regulations may be enacted in the future that will be directly applicable to certain

aspects of the Company's cannabis business. The Company cannot predict the nature of any future laws, rules, regulations, resolutions, declarations, policy positions, interpretations or applications, nor can it determine what affect additional governmental regulations or administrative policies and procedures, when and if promulgated, could have on the Company's business.

Further, there is no guarantee that state laws legalizing and regulating the sale and use of cannabis will not be repealed or overturned, or that local governmental authorities will not limit the applicability of state laws within their respective jurisdictions. If the federal government begins to enforce federal laws relating to cannabis in states where the sale and use of cannabis is currently legal, or if existing applicable state laws are repealed or curtailed, the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects would be materially adversely affected.

The Company is aware that multiple states are considering special taxes or fees on businesses in the marijuana industry. It is a potential yet unknown risk at this time that other states are in the process of reviewing such additional fees and taxation. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Beginning in September 2019, the United States media began reporting on potential vape related illnesses and death based on conditions resembling pneumonia, that consumers of flavored nicotine and flavored THC vaping products were experiencing. Vaping product sales are a material source of revenue for the Company. Although there has been no conclusive medical or scientific determination as to the cause of the subject conditions, management believes that the Company's products do not contain any of the components or chemicals, including but not limited to vitamin E acetate, which were implicated as possible sources of the condition, and which were identified by the CDC based on laboratory findings released on November 8, 2019. Out of an abundance of caution, governors of certain US states took precautionary, short-term actions until a more conclusive link between vaping products and the condition is determined; as mentioned in previous reports, Oregon was one of those states until the State was forced to lift its ban by court order on January 16, 2020.

The cannabis industry is subject to extensive controls and regulations, which may significantly affect the financial condition of market participants, including the Company.

The Company operates in a new industry which is highly regulated, highly competitive and evolving rapidly. As such, new risks may emerge, and management may not be able to predict all such risks. The Company incurs ongoing costs and obligations related to regulatory compliance. Failure to comply with regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions of operations. In addition, changes in regulations, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to operations, increased compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company.

Further, the Company may be subject to a variety of claims and lawsuits. Adverse outcomes in some or all of these claims may result in significant monetary damages or injunctive relief that could adversely affect its ability to conduct its business.

Litigation and other claims are subject to inherent uncertainties and management's view of these matters may change in the future. A material adverse impact on the Company's financial statements could also occur for the period in which the effect of an unfavorable outcome becomes probable and reasonably estimable.

The cannabis industry is subject to extensive controls and regulations, which may significantly affect the financial condition of market participants. The marketability of any product may be affected by numerous factors that are beyond the control of the Company and which cannot be predicted, such as changes to government regulations, including those relating to taxes and other government levies which may be imposed. Changes in government levies, including taxes, could reduce the Company's earnings on investments and could make future capital investments or the Company's operations uneconomic.

The cannabis industry is also subject to numerous legal challenges, which may significantly affect the financial condition of market participants in the industry, such as the Company, which cannot be readily predicted.

Regulatory scrutiny of the Company's industry may negatively impact its ability to raise additional capital.

The Company's business activities rely on newly established and/or developing laws and regulations. These laws and regulations are rapidly evolving and subject to change with minimal notice. Regulatory changes may adversely affect the Company's profitability or cause it to cease operations entirely. The cannabis industry may come under the scrutiny or

further scrutiny by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), the DOJ, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or other federal, applicable state or nongovernmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise or regulate the production, distribution, sale or use of cannabis for medical or nonmedical purposes in the United States.

It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any proposals will become law. The regulatory uncertainty surrounding the Company's industry may adversely affect the business and operations of the Company, including without limitation, the costs to remain compliant with applicable laws and the impairment of its ability to raise additional capital, which could reduce, delay or eliminate any return on investment in the Company.

The Company's operations in the U.S. are subject to applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations.

The Company is subject to a variety of laws and regulations domestically and in the United States that involve money laundering, financial record keeping and proceeds of crime, including the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by Title III of the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (Canada), as amended and the rules and regulations thereunder, and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by governmental authorities in the United States and Canada.

In the event that any of the Company's operations, or any proceeds thereof, any dividends or distributions therefrom, or any profits or revenues accruing from such operations in the United States were found to be in violation of money laundering legislation or otherwise, such transactions may be viewed as proceeds of crime under one or more of the statutes noted above or any other applicable legislation. This could restrict or otherwise jeopardize the ability of the Company to declare or pay dividends, effect other distributions or subsequently repatriate such funds back to Canada. Furthermore, while there are no current intentions to declare or pay dividends on C21's common shares in the foreseeable future, in the event that a determination was made that the Company's proceeds from operations (or any future operations or investments in the United States) could reasonably be shown to constitute proceeds of crime, the Company may decide or be required to suspend declaring or paying dividends without advance notice and for an indefinite period of time.

The Company's operations and any proceeds thereof may be considered proceeds of crime since cannabis remains illegal federally in the United States. This restricts the ability of the Company to declare or pay dividends, effect other distributions or subsequently repatriate such funds back to Canada. Furthermore, while the Company has no current intention to declare or pay dividends on its shares in the foreseeable future, the Company may decide or be required to suspend declaring or paying dividends without advance notice and for an indefinite period of time in response to factors outside of the Company's control.

The Company may have difficulty accessing the services of banks and processing credit card payments in the future, which may make it difficult to operate. To mitigate this risk, the Company has maintained banking relations with three private credit unions in states where cannabis has been legalized at the state level, including Partners Colorado Credit Union (Colorado), Salal (Washington State) and Greater Nevada Credit Union (Nevada). Through these private credit unions, the Company is able to access bank services to support its Nevada cannabis operations.

Losing access to traditional banking, or bank-specific liquidity risks, could have a significant effect on our ability to operate, conclude financings and achieve returns.

Since the use of cannabis is illegal under U.S. federal law, there is a strong argument that banks cannot accept for deposit funds from businesses involved with the cannabis industry. Consequently, businesses involved in the cannabis industry often have difficulty finding a bank willing to accept their business. The inability to open or maintain traditional bank accounts may make it difficult to operate the Company's cannabis business. To mitigate this risk, the Company has maintained banking relations with three private credit unions in states where cannabis has been legalized at the state level, including Partners Colorado Credit Union (Colorado), Salal (Washington State) and Greater Nevada Credit Union (Nevada). Through these private credit union banks, the Company can access comprehensive banking services including cash management checking accounts, ACH transfer processing, cash pick-up and delivery services, debit card and credit card processing, online banking, and processing of bank wires and transfers.

The recent closures of Silicon Valley Bank, Signature Bank and First Republic Bank and their placement into receivership with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") have identified bank-specific liquidity risks and concerns. Although the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointly released a statement that depositors

at Silicon Valley Band Bank and Signature Bank would have access to their funds, even deposit amounts that exceed FDIC deposit insurance limits, future adverse developments with respect to specific financial institutions or the broader financial services industry may lead to market-wide liquidity shortages.

The February 2014 U.S. Department of the Treasury Financial Crimes Enforcement Network ("FinCEN") Guidance (as defined herein), sets forth certain circumstances whereby it is permissible for banks to provide services to cannabis-related businesses without risking prosecution for violation of federal money laundering laws. However, as discussed above, most banks and other financial institutions do not feel comfortable providing banking services to cannabis-related businesses, or relying on the FinCEN Guidance which could be revoked at any time by the Biden Administration. In addition to the foregoing, banks may refuse to process debit card payments and credit card companies generally refuse to process credit card payments for cannabis-related businesses.

Accordingly, the Company may have limited or no access to banking or other financial services in the U.S. in the future and may have to operate the Company's U.S. business on a cash-only basis. In addition, federal money laundering statutes and Bank Secrecy Act regulations discourage financial institutions from working with any organization that sells a controlled substance, regardless of whether the state it resides in permits cannabis sales. While the United States House of Representatives has passed the SAFE Banking Act, which would permit commercial banks to offer services to cannabis companies that are in compliance with state law, it remains under consideration by the Senate, and if Congress fails to pass the SAFE Banking Act, the Company's inability, or limitations on the Company's ability, to open or maintain bank accounts, obtain other banking services and/or accept credit card and debit card payments, may make it difficult for the Company to operate and conduct its business as planned or to operate efficiently. The prospects of the SAFE Banking Act, or some permutation thereof, becoming law is uncertain as of the date of this Annual Report.

The Company's operations in the United States may be subject to heightened scrutiny.

The Company's existing operations in the United States cannabis market, and any future interests, may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by regulators, stock exchanges, clearing agencies or other authorities in Canada. As a result, the Company may be subject to significant direct and indirect interaction with public officials. There can be no assurance that this heightened scrutiny will not in turn lead to the imposition of certain restrictions on the Company's ability to invest in the United States or any other jurisdiction.

Given the heightened risk profile associated with cannabis in the United States, it was previously reported by certain publications in Canada that the Canadian Depository for Securities Limited may implement policies that would see its subsidiary, CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. ("CDS"), refuse to settle trades for cannabis issuers that have investments in the United States. The TMX Group, the owner and operator of CDS, subsequently issued a statement on August 17, 2017, reaffirming that there is no CDS ban on the clearing of securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States, despite media reports to the contrary, and that the TMX Group was working with regulators to arrive at a solution that will clarify this matter, which would be communicated at a later time.

On February 8, 2018, following discussions with the Canadian Securities Administrators and recognized Canadian securities exchanges, the TMX Group announced the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding (the "TMX MOU") with Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., the CSE, the Toronto Stock Exchange and the TSX Venture Exchange (the "TSXV"). The TMX MOU outlines the parties' understanding of Canada's regulatory framework applicable to the rules, procedures and regulatory oversight of the exchanges and CDS as it relates to issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States.

The TMX MOU confirms, with respect to the clearing of listed securities, that CDS relies on the exchanges to review the conduct of listed issuers. As a result, there is no CDS ban on the clearing of securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States. However, there can be no guarantee that this approach to regulation will continue in the future. If such a ban were to be implemented, it would have a material adverse effect on the ability of holders of common shares to make and settle trades. In particular, the common shares would become highly illiquid and until an alternative was implemented investors would have no ability to affect a trade of common shares through the facilities of a stock exchange.

Unfavorable publicity or consumer perception of cannabis may have an adverse effect on the demand for our products.

The Company believes the adult-use and medical cannabis industries are highly dependent upon consumer perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the cannabis produced. Consumer perception can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of cannabis products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention or other publicity will be favorable to the cannabis market or any particular

product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or other publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for adult-use or medical cannabis and on the business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows or prospects of the Company. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of cannabis in general, or associating the consumption of adult-use and medical cannabis with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. There is no assurance that such adverse publicity reports, findings or other media attention will not arise.

Public opinion may result in a significant influence over the regulation of the cannabis industry in Canada, the United States or elsewhere. A negative shift in the public's perception of cannabis in the United States, or any other applicable jurisdiction could affect future legislation or regulation. Among other things, such a shift could cause state jurisdictions to abandon initiatives or proposals to legalize medical cannabis, thereby limiting the number of new state jurisdictions into which the Company could expand. Any limits on future expansion may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, and results of operations.

State and local laws and regulations may heavily regulate brands and forms of cannabis products and there is no guarantee that the Company's current and proposed brands and products will remain or be approved for sale and distribution in any state.

States generally only allow the manufacture, sale and distribution of cannabis products that are grown in that state and may require advance notice of such products. Certain states and local jurisdictions have promulgated certain requirements for approved cannabis products based on the form of the product and the concentration of the various cannabinoids in the product. While the Company will continue to follow the guidelines and regulations of each applicable state and local jurisdiction in preparing products for sale and distribution, there is no guarantee that such future products will be approved to the extent necessary. For the products that are approved, there is a risk that any state or local jurisdiction may revoke its approval for such products based on changes in laws or regulations or based on its discretion or otherwise.

The business premises of the Company are a target for theft, which may have an adverse impact on its financial condition and results of operations.

The business premises of the Company are a target for theft. While the Company has implemented security measures and continues to monitor and improve its security measures, its cultivation, processing, distribution and dispensary facilities could be subject to break-ins, robberies and other breaches in security. If there was a breach in security and the Company fell victim to a robbery or theft, the loss of cannabis plants, cannabis oils, cannabis flowers, cannabis products, cultivation and processing equipment, and cash could have a material adverse impact on the business, financials condition, results of operation and property of the Company.

As the Company's business involves the movement and transfer of cash which is collected from third parties or deposited into its bank, there is a risk of theft or robbery during the transport of cash. The Company engages security firms to provide armed guards and security in the transport and movement of large amounts of cash. While the Company has taken robust steps to prevent theft or robbery of cash during transport, there can be no assurance that there will not be a security breach during the transport and the movement of cash involving the theft of product or cash.

The Company has historically relied on access to both public and private capital in order to support its continuing operations, and the Company expects to continue to rely on the capital markets to finance its business.

Although such business carries a higher degree of risk, and despite the legal standing of cannabis businesses pursuant to U.S. federal laws, Canadian based issuers involved in the U.S. state-legal cannabis industry have been successful in raising substantial amounts of private and public financing. However, there is no assurance the Company will be successful, in whole or in part, in raising funds in the future, particularly if the U.S. federal authorities change their position toward enforcing the CSA. Further, access to funding from U.S. residents may be limited due to their unwillingness to be associated with activities which violate U.S. federal laws.

As consumer perceptions of cannabis evolve, the Company may face unfavorable publicity or consumer perception.

The state-legal cannabis industry in the U.S. is at an early stage of its development. Cannabis has been, and will continue to be, a controlled substance for the foreseeable future. Consumer perceptions regarding legality, morality, consumption, safety, efficacy and quality of cannabis are mixed and evolving. Consumer perception can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the

consumption of cannabis products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favorable to the cannabis market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for cannabis and on the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Company. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding cannabis in general or associating the consumption of cannabis with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. Public opinion and support for medical and adult-use cannabis use has traditionally been inconsistent and varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. While public opinion and support appears to be rising for legalizing medical and adult-use cannabis, it remains a controversial issue subject to differing opinions surrounding the nature of legalization (for example, support for legalization of medical versus recreational cannabis). The Company's ability to maintain and increase market acceptance of its company and products may require substantial expenditures on investor relations, strategic relationships and marketing initiatives. There can be no assurance that such initiatives will be successful, and their failure may have an adverse effect on the Company.

Product liability claims or regulatory actions against the Company could result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Company's reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a material adverse effect on the business.

As a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, the Company faces an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. This is particularly true in light of the United States media news, beginning in September 2019, regarding potential vaporizer (vape) related illnesses and deaths. The Company closely monitors the news reports on this topic, including results from the investigations being conducted by the CDC, and put out a statement over its social media feed on September 11, 2019 confirming its commitment to consumer safety, discussing the rigorous quality control and testing of its products, and explaining that none of its vape products are manufactured with vitamin E acetate, or any other additives, thickeners or agents. The Company further disclosed its complete ingredient list for all of its vape products. In addition, the manufacture and sale of marijuana involves the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of marijuana alone or in combination with other medications or substances could occur. As a manufacturer, distributor and retailer of adult-use and medical marijuana, or in its role as an investor in or service provider to an entity that is a manufacturer, distributor and/or retailer of adult-use or medical marijuana, the Company may be subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that the marijuana product caused injury or illness, include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against the Company could result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Company's reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of the Company. There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to maintain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of the Company's potential products or otherwise have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of the Company.

As the cannabis industry is nascent, expectations regarding the development of the market may not be accurate and may change.

Due to the early stage of the state-legal cannabis industry, forecasts regarding the size of the industry and the sales of products are inherently subject to significant unreliability. A failure in the demand for products to materialize as a result of competition, technological change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company.

The cultivation, extraction and processing of cannabis and derivative products is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs which relies on a health supply chain.

Any significant interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of an operator. Some of these inputs may only be available from a single supplier or a limited group of suppliers. If a single source supplier were to go out of business, an operator might be unable to find a replacement for such source in a timely manner or at all. Any inability to secure required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact on the business, financial

condition and operating results of an operator, and consequently, the Company. Given the recent, systemic issues with the global supply chain, there is an increased risk of interruption or negative change in the availability of key inputs the Company relies upon which could materially adversely impact the Company in the current supply chain environment and into the foreseeable future.

Operational and General Business Risks

The Company's business, operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by outbreaks of epidemics or pandemics or other health crises, including the lasting impacts and implications of COVID-19.

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization ("WHO") declared the outbreak a public health event of international concern, and on March 11, 2020, the WHO declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. Despite the WHO's declaration, on or about May 5, 2023, of the end of the COVID-19 global pandemic, the lasting impacts of COVID-19 on the United States and broader global economy, including supply chain disruption, may have a significant continuing negative effect on the Company and may continue to materially impact the Company.

Such public health crises can result in volatility and disruptions in global supply chains and financial markets, as well as declining trade and market sentiment and reduced mobility of people, all of which could affect commodity prices, interest rates, credit ratings, credit risk and inflation. The risks to the Company of such public health crises also include risks to employee health and safety, a slowdown or temporary suspension of operations, increased labor costs, regulatory changes, political or economic instabilities or civil unrest. Similarly, the Company's ability to obtain financing and the ability of the Company's vendors, suppliers, consultants, and partners to meet their obligations to the Company may be impacted as a result of the lasting impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and the continued efforts to contain the virus, most notably in China. Consequently, the lasting impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic or potential future public health crises may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition. The extent to which COVID-19 and any other pandemic or public health crisis impacts the Company's business, affairs, operations, financial condition, liquidity, availability of credit and results of operations will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of and the actions required to continue to contain COVID-19 or mitigate its impact.

The Company may pursue strategic acquisitions in the future, which may be unsuccessful or result in other costs to the Company.

As part of the Company's overall business strategy, the Company may pursue select strategic acquisitions which would provide additional product offerings, vertical integrations, additional industry expertise, and a stronger industry presence in both existing and new jurisdictions. Future acquisitions may expose the Company to potential risks, including risks associated with (a) the integration of new operations, services and personnel; (b) unforeseen or hidden liabilities; (c) the diversion of resources from the Company's existing business and technology; (d) potential inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset new costs; (e) the expenses of acquisition; or (f) the potential loss of or harm to relationships with both employees and existing users resulting from its integration of new business. In addition, any proposed acquisitions may be subject to regulatory approval.

While the Company intends to conduct reasonable due diligence in connection with such strategic acquisitions, there are risks inherent in any acquisition. Specifically, there could be unknown or undisclosed risks or liabilities of such entities or assets for which the Company is not sufficiently indemnified. Any such unknown or undisclosed risks or liabilities could materially and adversely affect the Company's financial performance and results of operations. The Company could encounter additional transaction and integration-related costs or other factors such as the failure to realize all of the benefits from the acquisition. All of these factors could cause dilution to the Company's revenue per share or decrease or delay the anticipated accretive effect of the acquisition and cause a decrease in the market price of C21's common shares.

The Company may face litigation, formal or informal complaints, enforcement actions, and inquiries by various federal, state, or local governmental authorities.

The Company's participation in the cannabis industry may lead to litigation, formal or informal complaints, enforcement actions, and inquiries by various federal, state, or local governmental authorities against the Company. Litigation, complaints and enforcement actions involving the Company could consume considerable amounts of financial and other corporate resources, which could have an adverse effect on the Company's future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition.

Should any litigation in which the Company is or becomes involved be determined against the Company, such a decision could adversely affect the Company's ability to continue operating and the market price for its common shares. Even if the Company wins current or future litigation, such litigation can redirect significant resources.

The Company has identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and if we are unable to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or effective disclosure controls, we may be at risk to accurately report financial results or detect fraud, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the SEC adopted rules requiring an annual assessment by management of the effectiveness of a public company's internal controls over financial reporting and an attestation report by the Company's independent auditors addressing this assessment, if applicable. As discussed in Item 15 "Controls and Procedures" based on a review of our internal controls over financial reporting, management concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting was not effective due to the existence of material weaknesses related to inadequate segregation of duties in certain financial reporting processes, lack of evidence and review of certain internal controls processes, and partly due to the Company's small size insufficient personnel with an appropriate level of technical accounting knowledge and experience relative to the Company's complexity and financial accounting and reporting requirements resulting in certain errors within the Company's consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by the Company's internal controls. Management intends on expanding the scope of services with the Company's independent outside accounting consultants in order to remediate this weakness, among other measures. For additional information, see Item 15 "Controls and Procedures."

We cannot assure you that we will be able to remediate our existing material weaknesses in a timely manner, if at all, or that in the future additional material weaknesses will not exist, reoccur or otherwise be discovered, a risk that is significantly increased in light of the complexity of our business. If our efforts to remediate this material weakness, as described in Item 15 "Controls and Procedures", is not successful or if other deficiencies occur, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial position, results of operations, cash flows or key operating metrics could be impaired, which could result in late filings of our annual or interim reports under the Exchange Act, restatements of our consolidated financial statements or other corrective disclosures. Our failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on an ongoing, timely basis could result in the loss of investor confidence in the reliability of its financial statements, which in turn could harm our business and negatively impact the trading price of the common shares. In addition, future changes in our accounting, financial reporting, and regulatory environment may create new areas of risk exposure. Failure to modify our existing control environment accordingly may impair our controls over financial reporting and cause our investors to lose confidence in the reliability of our financial reporting, which may adversely affect our share price, suspension of trading or removal of our common shares from the OTCQX International Market, or other material adverse effects on our business, reputation, results of operations, financial condition or liquidity. Furthermore, if we continue to have this existing material weakness, other material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in the future, it could create a perception that our financial results do not fairly state our financial condition or results of operations. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value of our shares.

The Company's operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various jurisdictions in which it operates, which may adversely affect the Company's operations.

The Company's operations are subject to environmental regulation in the various jurisdictions in which it operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality standards and land reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors (or the equivalent thereof) and employees. There is no assurance that future changes in environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company's operations.

The Company is dependent on governmental approvals, licenses and permits to operate, and failure to obtain or maintain such approvals, licenses and permits may adversely affect the Company's operations.

Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future, be required in connection with the Company's operations or future operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained or maintained, the Company may be curtailed or prohibited from its current or proposed production, manufacturing, processing, distribution or sale of cannabis or from proceeding with the development of its operations as currently proposed.

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. The Company may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of its operations and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations.

Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing the production or manufacturing of cannabis, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material adverse impact on the Company and cause increases in expenses, capital expenditures or production or manufacturing costs or reduction in levels of production or manufacturing or require abandonment or delays in development.

Further, the Company may not be able to obtain or maintain the necessary licenses, permits, authorizations or accreditations, or may only be able to do so at great cost, to operate its marijuana business. In addition, the Company may not be able to comply fully with the wide variety of laws and regulations applicable to the marijuana industry. Failure to comply with or to obtain the necessary licenses, permits, authorizations or accreditations could result in restrictions on the Company's ability to operate the marijuana business, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business. Further, should any state in which the Company considers a license important not grant, extend or renew such license or should it renew such license on different terms or decide to grant more than the anticipated number of licenses, the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company could be materially adversely affected.

The Company's limited operating history makes evaluating its business and prospects difficult.

The Company has a limited operating history on which to base an evaluation of its business, financial performance and prospects. As such, the Company's business and prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in the early stage of development. As the Company is in an early stage and is introducing new products, the Company's revenues may be materially affected by the decisions, including timing decisions, of a relatively consolidated customer base. The Company has had limited experience in addressing the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in their early stage of development, particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving industries such as the cannabis industry. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in addressing these risks, and the failure to do so in any one area could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company is dependent upon existing management, its key research and development personnel and its growing and extraction personnel, and its business may be severely disrupted if it loses their service.

The Company's future success depends substantially on the continued services of its executive officers, its key research and development personnel and its key growing and extraction personnel. If one or more of its executive officers or key personnel were unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, the Company might not be able to replace them easily or at all. In addition, if any of its executive officers or key employees joins a competitor or forms a competing company, the Company may lose know-how, key professionals and staff members. These executive officers and key employees could compete with and take customers away.

The Company will need to hire additional personnel in order to grow its business.

As the Company grows, it will need to hire additional human resources to continue to develop the business. However, experienced talent is difficult to source, and there can be no assurance that the appropriate individuals will be available or affordable to the Company. Without adequate personnel and expertise, the growth of the Company's business may suffer.

The Company may be exposed to infringement or misappropriation claims by third parties, which, if determined adversely to the Company, could subject the Company to significant liabilities and other costs.

The Company's success may likely depend on its ability to use and develop new extraction technologies, recipes, know-how and new strains of marijuana without infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties. The Company cannot assure that third parties will not assert intellectual property claims against it. The Company is subject to additional risks if entities licensing to its intellectual property do not have adequate rights in any such licensed materials. If third parties assert copyright or patent infringement or violation of other intellectual property rights against the Company, it will be required to defend itself in litigation or administrative proceedings, which can be both costly and time consuming and may significantly divert the efforts and resources of management personnel. An adverse determination in any such litigation or proceedings to which the Company may become a party could subject it to significant liability to third parties, require it to seek licenses

from third parties, to pay ongoing royalties or subject the Company to injunctions prohibiting the development and operation of its applications.

The Company may need to incur significant expenses to enforce its proprietary rights, and if the Company is unable to protect such rights, its competitive position could be harmed.

The Company regards proprietary methods and processes, domain names, trade names, trade secrets, recipes and other intellectual property as critical to its success. The Company's ability to protect its proprietary rights is critical for the success of its business and its overall financial performance. The Company has taken certain measures to protect its intellectual property rights. However, the Company cannot assure that such measures will be sufficient to protect its proprietary information and intellectual property. Policing unauthorized use of proprietary information and intellectual property is difficult and expensive. Any steps the Company has taken to prevent misappropriation of its proprietary technology may be inadequate. The validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property in the marijuana industry is uncertain and still evolving. In particular, the laws and enforcement procedures in some developing countries are uncertain and may not protect intellectual property rights in this area to the same extent as do the laws and enforcement procedures in Canada, the United States and other developed countries.

The Company may face increased competition in the marketplace for cannabis.

There can be no assurance that significant competition will not enter the marketplace and offer some number of similar products and services or take a similar approach. An increase in the number of companies competing in this industry could limit the ability of the Company to expand its operations. Current and new competitors may be better capitalized, have a longer operating history, have more expertise and be able to develop higher quality equipment or products, at the same or a lower cost. The Company cannot provide assurances that it will be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors. Such competition could have a material adverse effect on the growth potential of the Company's business by effectively dividing the existing market for its products. In addition, despite Canadian federal and U.S. state-level legislation of marijuana, illicit or "black market" operations remain abundant and present substantial competition to the Company. In particular, illicit operations, despite being largely clandestine, are not required to comply with the extensive regulations that the Company must comply with to conduct business and, accordingly, may have significantly lower costs of operations.

There is no assurance of the Company's profitability.

The Company cannot give assurances that it will not incur losses in the future. The limited operating history makes it difficult to predict future operating results. The Company is subject to the risks inherent in the operation of a new business enterprise in an emerging and uncertain business sector, and there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully address these risks.

The success of the Company will be dependent on its ability to manage growth.

The Company may experience a period of significant growth in the number of personnel that will place a strain upon its management systems and resources. Its future will depend in part on the ability of its officers and other key employees to implement and improve financial management controls, reporting systems and procedures on a timely basis and to expand, train, motivate and manage the workforce. The Company's current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may be inadequate to support its future operations.

The Company's operations are impacted by general economic trends.

Any worldwide economic slowdown and tightening of credit in the financial markets may impact the business of the Company's customers, which could have an adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, or results of operations. Adverse changes in general economic or political conditions in the United States and elsewhere could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and property.

The Company faces significant costs in order to gain and increase market acceptance of its products.

The Company's ability to gain and increase market acceptance of its products depends on its ability to educate the public on the benefits of its marijuana products. It also requires the Company to establish and maintain its brand name and reputation. In order to do so, substantial expenditures on product development, strategic relationships and marketing

initiatives may be required. There can be no assurance that these initiatives will be successful, and their failure may have an adverse effect on the Company's operations.

The Company may not have adequate insurance coverage, which may adversely impact the Company's business, results of operations and profitability.

The Company requires insurance coverage for a number of risks, including business interruption, environmental matters and contamination, product liability, personal injury and property damage. Although the Company believes that the events and amounts of liability covered by its insurance policies will be reasonable, considering the risks relevant to its business, and the fact that agreements with users contain limitations of liability, there can be no assurance that such coverage will be available or sufficient to cover claims to which the Company may become subject. If insurance coverage is unavailable or insufficient to cover any such claims, the Company's financial resources, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected. Further, because the Company is engaged in the cannabis industry, there may be additional difficulties and complexities associated with such insurance coverage that could cause the Company to suffer uninsured losses, which could adversely impact the Company's business, results of operations and profitability.

The Company faces risks related to tax credits and deductions.

The provisions of the Section 280E of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") are being applied by the United States Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") to businesses operating in the U.S. medical and adult-use marijuana industry. Section 280E of the Code provides that no deduction or credit shall be allowed for any amount paid or incurred during the taxable year in carrying on any trade or business if such trade or business (or the activities which comprise such trade or business) consists of trafficking in controlled substances (within the meaning of schedule I and II of the CSA) which is prohibited by Federal law or the law of any State in which such trade or business is conducted.

Even though several states have medical and adult-use marijuana laws, the IRS is applying Section 280E of the Code to deny business deductions. Businesses operating legally under state law argue that Section 280E of the Code should not be applied because Congress did not intend the law to apply to businesses that are legal under state law. The IRS asserts that it was the intent of Congress to apply the provision to anyone "trafficking" in a controlled substance, as defined under Federal law (as stated in the text of the statute). Section 280E of the Code is at the center of the conflict between Federal and state laws with respect to medical and retail marijuana which applies to the business conducted by the Company. Section 280E of the Code may adversely impact the Company and cause it to be subject to higher effective U.S. federal income tax rates than similar companies in other industries.

Proposed legislation in the U.S. Congress, including changes in U.S. tax law, and the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 may adversely impact the Company and the value of the Common Shares.

Changes to U.S. tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect the Company or holders of the common shares. In recent years, many changes to U.S. federal income tax laws have been proposed and made, and additional changes to U.S. federal income tax laws are likely to continue to occur in the future.

The U.S. Congress is currently considering numerous items of legislation which may be enacted prospectively or with retroactive effect, which legislation could adversely impact the Company's financial performance and the value of the common shares. Additionally, states in which the Company operates or owns assets may impose new or increased taxes. If enacted, most of the proposals would be effective for the current or later years. The proposed legislation remains subject to change, and its impact on the Company and purchasers of the common shares is uncertain.

In addition, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 includes provisions that will impact the U.S. federal income taxation of corporations. Among other items, this legislation includes provisions that will impose a minimum tax on the book income of certain large corporations and an excise tax on certain corporate stock repurchases that would be imposed on the corporation repurchasing such stock. It is unclear how this legislation will be implemented by the U.S. Department of the Treasury and the Company cannot predict how this legislation or any future changes in tax laws might affect the Company or purchasers of the common shares.

Results of future clinical research may negatively impact demand for the Company's products.

Research in Canada, the U.S. and internationally regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids (such CBD and THC) remains in early stages. There have been relatively few clinical trials on the benefits of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids (such as CBD and THC). Although the Company

believes that the articles, reports and studies to date support its beliefs regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis, future research and clinical trials may prove such statements to be incorrect, or could raise concerns regarding, and perceptions relating to, cannabis. Given these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, investors should not place undue reliance on such articles, reports and studies. Future research studies and clinical trials may draw opposing conclusions to those stated herein or reach negative conclusions regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing, social acceptance or other facts and perceptions related to cannabis, which could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Company's products with the potential to lead to a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

The Company faces risks inherent in an agricultural business, including adverse weather conditions and rising energy costs.

Adult-use and medical marijuana are agricultural products. There are risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases and similar agricultural risks. Although the products are usually grown indoors under climate-controlled conditions, with conditions monitored, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on the production of the Company's products. The occurrence of severe adverse weather conditions, especially droughts, fires, storms or floods is unpredictable and may have a potentially devastating impact on agricultural production and may otherwise adversely affect the supply of cannabis. Adverse weather conditions may be exacerbated by the effects of climate change and may result in the introduction and increased frequency of pests and diseases. The effects of severe adverse weather conditions may reduce the Company's yields or require the Company to increase its level of investment to maintain yields. Additionally, higher than average temperatures and rainfall can contribute to an increased presence of insects and pests, which could negatively affect cannabis crops. Future droughts might reduce the yield and quality of the Company's cannabis production, which could materially and adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Adult-use and medical marijuana growing operations consume considerable energy, making the Company potentially vulnerable to rising energy costs. Rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of the Company.

The Company relies on third-party contractors to maintain its information technology systems.

We rely on information technology ("IT") systems and networks in our operations which are provided and maintained by third-party contractors. The availability, capacity, reliability and security of these IT systems could be subject to network disruptions caused by a variety of malicious sources, including computer viruses, security breaches, cyber-attacks and theft, as well as network and/or hardware disruptions resulting from unexpected failures such as human error, software or hardware defects, natural disasters, fire, flood or power loss. Our operations also depend on the timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment, IT systems and software, as well as pre-emptive expenses to mitigate the risks of failures.

The ability of the IT function to support our business in the event of any such failure and the ability to recover key systems from unexpected interruptions cannot be fully tested. There is a risk that if such an event were to occur, our response may not be adequate to immediately address all of the potential repercussions of the incident. In the event of a disaster affecting our head office, key systems may be unavailable for a number of days, leading to inability to perform some business processes in a timely manner. The failure of our IT systems or a component thereof could, depending on their nature, materially impact our financial condition, results of operations, reputation and share price.

Unauthorized access to our IT systems as a result of cyber-attacks could lead to exposure, corruption or loss of confidential information, and disruption to our communications, operations, business activities or our competitive position. Further, disruption of critical IT services, or breaches of information security, could expose us to financial losses and regulatory or legal action. Our risk and exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the evolving nature of these threats. As a result, cyber- security and the continued development and enhancement of controls, processes and practices designed to protect systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, damage or unauthorized access remain a priority.

We apply technical and process controls in line with industry-accepted standards to protect information, assets and systems. Although these measures are robust, they cannot possibly prevent all types of cyber-threat. There is no assurance that we will not suffer losses associated with cyber-security breaches in the future, and we may be required to expend significant additional resources to investigate, mitigate and remediate any potential vulnerabilities. As cyber-threats continue to evolve,

we may be required to expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance protective measures or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities.

The size of the Company's target market is difficult to quantify, and investors will be reliant on their own estimates on the accuracy of market data.

Because the cannabis industry is in an early stage with uncertain boundaries, there is a lack of information about comparable companies available for potential investors to review in deciding about whether to invest in the Company and, few, if any, established companies whose business model the Company can follow or upon whose success the Company can build. Accordingly, investors will have to rely on their own estimates in deciding about whether to invest in the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company's estimates are accurate or that the market size is sufficiently large for its business to

The Company is a British Columbia corporation governed by the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) ("BCBCA") and, as such, our corporate structure, the rights and obligations of shareholders and our corporate bodies may be different from the United States or those of the home countries of international investors.

Substantially all of the Company's assets are located outside of Canada, and certain of its directors are resident outside of Canada, and their assets are outside of Canada. Serving process on those directors may prove to be difficult or excessively time consuming. Non-Canadian residents may find it more difficult and costlier to exercise shareholder rights. Additionally, it may be difficult to enforce a judgment obtained in Canada against the Company, its subsidiaries and any directors and officers residing outside of Canada.

The success of the Company may depend, in part, on the ability of an operator to maintain and enhance trade secret protection over its various existing and potential proprietary techniques and processes, or trademark and branding developed by it.

Each operator may also be vulnerable to competitors who develop competing technology, whether independently or as a result of acquiring access to the proprietary products and trade secrets of the operator. In addition, effective future patent, copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign countries and may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions.

The Company may experience difficulty implementing its business strategy.

The growth and expansion of the Company is heavily dependent upon the successful implementation of its business strategy. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in the implementation of its business strategy.

Conflicts of interest involving the Company's directors and officers may arise and may be resolved in a manner that is unfavorable to the Company.

Certain of the Company's directors and officers are, and may continue to be, involved in other business ventures through their direct and indirect participation in corporations, partnerships, joint ventures, etc. that may become potential competitors of the technologies, products and services the Company intends to provide. Situations may arise in connection with potential acquisitions or opportunities where the other interests of these directors and officers may conflict with or diverge from the Company's interests. In accordance with applicable corporate law, directors who have a material interest in or who is a party to a material contract or a proposed material contract with the Company are required, subject to certain exceptions, to disclose that interest and generally abstain from voting on any resolution to approve the contract. In addition, the directors and officers of the Company are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the Company's best interests. However, in conflict-of-interest situations, the Company's directors and officers may owe the same duty to another company and will need to balance their competing interests with their duties to the Company. Circumstances (including with respect to future corporate opportunities) may arise that may be resolved in a manner that is unfavorable to the Company.

Prolonged periods of inflation could increase costs, have an adverse effect on general economic conditions and impact consumer spending, which could impact our profitability and have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Inflation has risen on a global basis and countries around the world are experiencing historically high levels of inflation. If the inflation rate continues to increase, it can also push up the costs of labor and other expenses. There is no assurance that our revenues will increase at the same rate to maintain the same level of profitability. Inflation and government efforts to

combat inflation, such as raising the benchmark interest rate, could increase market volatility and have an adverse effect on the financial market and general economic conditions. Such adverse conditions could negatively impact demand for our products, which could adversely affect our profitability, results of operations and cash flow.

Currency fluctuations may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and operating results.

Due to the Company's present operations in the United States, and its intention to continue future operations outside Canada, the Company is expected to be exposed to significant currency fluctuations. All or substantially all of the Company's revenue will be earned in U.S. dollars, but operating expenses are incurred in both U.S. and Canadian dollars. The Company does not have currency hedging arrangements in place, and there is no expectation that the Company will put any currency hedging arrangements in place in the future. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and operating results. The Company may, in the future, establish a program to hedge a portion of its foreign currency exposure with the objective of minimizing the impact of adverse foreign currency exchange movements. However, even if the Company develops a hedging program, there can be no assurance that it will effectively mitigate currency risks.

Risks Associated With The Securities Of The Company

The Company may require additional financing, which may not be available, or may be too expensive.

The continued development of the Company may require additional financing. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to achieve its business objectives. The Company intends to fund its business objectives by way of additional offerings of equity and/or debt financing. The failure to raise or procure such additional funds, or failure to raise or procure such additional funds at an affordable interest rate in an increasingly higher interest rate environment, could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of current business objectives. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, will be on terms acceptable to the Company. If additional funds are raised by offering equity securities or convertible debt, existing shareholders could suffer significant dilution. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve the granting of security against assets of the Company and also contain restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the Company to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions.

Investors in the Common Shares may experience dilution from future financings.

The Company may issue additional securities in the future, which may dilute a shareholder's holdings in the Company. The Company's articles permit the issuance of an unlimited number of common shares, and the Company's shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further issuances. C21's Board of Directors ("Board") has discretion to determine the price and the terms of further issuances. Moreover, additional common shares will be issued by the Company on the exercise, conversion or redemption of certain outstanding securities of the Company in accordance with their terms. The Company may also issue common shares to finance future acquisitions. The Company cannot predict the size of future issuances of common shares or the effect that future issuances and sales of common shares or other securities will have on the market price of its common shares. Issuances of a substantial number of additional common shares, or the perception that such issuances could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for the common shares. With any additional issuance of common shares, investors will suffer dilution and the Company may experience dilution in its revenue per share.

Company indebtedness could have a number of adverse impacts on the Company, including reducing the availability of cash flows to fund working capital and capital expenses.

Any indebtedness of the Company could have significant consequences on the Company, including: increase the Company's vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; require the Company to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from operations to making interest and principal payments on its indebtedness, reducing the availability of the Company's cash flow to fund capital expenditures, working capital and other general corporate purposes; limit the Company's flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the business and the industry in which it operates; place the Company at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors that have greater financial resources; and limit the Company's ability to complete fundamental corporate changes or transactions or to declare or pay dividends.

There is a limited market for resale of the Company's common shares.

Notwithstanding that the Company's common shares are listed on the CSE, there can be no assurance that an active and liquid market for such securities will develop or be maintained and securityholders may find it difficult to resell any securities of the Company.

There can be no assurance that the publicly traded price of the Company's common shares will be high enough to create a positive return for investors. Further, there can be no assurance that the common shares will be sufficiently liquid so as to permit investors to sell their position in the Company without adversely affecting the stock price. In such an event, the probability of resale of the common shares would be diminished.

As well, the continued operations of the Company will be dependent upon its ability to procure additional financing in the short term and to generate operating revenues in the longer term. There can be no assurance that any such financing can be obtained or that revenues can be generated. If the Company is unable to obtain such additional financing or generate such revenues, investors may be unable to sell their common shares and any investment in the Company may be lost.

The price of the Common Shares has been and may continue to be volatile.

The market price of C21's common shares cannot be predicted and has been and may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Company's control. This volatility may affect the ability of shareholders or holders of other securities to sell their securities at an advantageous price. Market price fluctuations in the securities may be due to the Company's operating results failing to meet expectations of securities analysts or investors in any period, downward revision in securities analysts' estimates, adverse changes in general market conditions or competitive, regulatory or economic trends, adverse changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies in the industry in which the Company operates, acquisitions, dispositions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, capital commitments or other material public announcements by the Company or its competitors or government and regulatory authorities, operating and share price performance of the companies that investors deem comparable to the Company, addition or departure of the Company's executive officers and other key personnel, along with a variety of additional factors. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of the Company's securities.

Financial markets have at times historically experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of equity and convertible securities of companies and that have often been unrelated to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. Accordingly, the market price of C21's common shares and other securities may decline even if the Company's operating results, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue or arise, the Company's operations may be adversely impacted, and the trading price of the common shares and other securities may be materially adversely affected.

Maintaining a public listing is costly and will add to the Company's legal and financial compliance costs.

As a public company, there are costs associated with legal, accounting and other expenses related to regulatory compliance. Securities legislation and the rules and policies of the CSE require listed companies to, among other things, adopt corporate governance and related practices, and to continuously prepare and disclose material information, all of which add to a company's legal and financial compliance costs. The Company may also elect to devote greater resources than it otherwise would have on communication and other activities typically considered important by publicly traded companies.

The Company has not paid dividends and does not anticipate paying dividends for the foreseeable future.

The Company has not paid dividends to shareholders in the past and does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company expects to retain its earnings to finance growth, and where appropriate, to pay down debt.

The Company could lose Foreign Private Issuer status under U.S. Securities Laws.

The Company is a "foreign private issuer", under applicable U.S. federal securities laws, and is, therefore, not subject to the same requirements that are imposed upon U.S. domestic issuers by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Under the Exchange Act, the Company is subject to reporting obligations that, in certain respects, are less detailed and less frequent than those of U.S. domestic reporting companies. As a result, the Company does not file the same reports that a U.S. domestic issuer would file with the SEC, although the Company is required to file with or furnish to the

SEC the continuous disclosure documents that it is required to file in Canada under Canadian securities laws. In addition, the Company's officers, directors, and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act. Therefore, the Company's shareholders may not know on as timely a basis when the Company's officers, directors and principal shareholders purchase or sell Common Shares, as the reporting periods under the corresponding Canadian insider reporting requirements are longer.

As a foreign private issuer, the Company is exempt from the rules and regulations under the Exchange Act related to the furnishing and content of proxy statements. The Company is also exempt from Regulation FD, which prohibits issuers from making selective disclosures of material non-public information. While the Company complies with the corresponding requirements relating to proxy statements and disclosure of material non-public information under Canadian securities laws, these requirements differ from those under the Exchange Act and Regulation FD and shareholders should not expect to receive the same information at the same time as such information is provided by U.S. domestic companies. In addition, the Company may not be required under the Exchange Act to file annual and quarterly reports with the SEC as promptly as U.S. domestic companies whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act.

The Company may in the future lose its foreign private issuer status if a majority of its common shares are held in the U.S. and if the Company fails to meet the additional requirements necessary to avoid loss of its foreign private issuer status. The regulatory and compliance costs under U.S. federal securities laws as a U.S. domestic issuer may be significantly more than the costs incurred as a Canadian foreign private issuer using the standard foreign form or as Canadian foreign private issuer eligible to use the multi-jurisdictional disclosure system adopted by the securities regulatory authorities in United States and Canada ("MJDS"). If the Company is not a foreign private issuer, it would not be eligible to use the MJDS or other foreign issuer forms and would be required to file periodic and current reports and registration statements on U.S. domestic issuer forms with the SEC, which are more detailed and extensive than the forms available to a foreign private issuer.

The Company is an emerging growth company and relies on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements which may make its common shares less attractive to investors.

The Company is an "emerging growth company" as defined in section 3(a) of the Exchange Act (as amended by the JOBS Act, enacted on April 5, 2012), and the Company will continue to qualify as an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of: (a) the last day of the fiscal year during which the Company has total annual gross revenues of US\$1,070,000,000 (as such amount is indexed for inflation every five years by the SEC) or more; (b) the last day of the fiscal year of the Company following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of common equity securities of the Company pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, as amended; (c) the date on which the Company has, during the previous three year period, issued more than US\$1,000,000,000 in non-convertible debt; and (d) the date on which the Company is deemed to be a "large accelerated filer", as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act. The Company will qualify as a large accelerated filer (and would cease to be an emerging growth company) at such time when on the last business day of its second fiscal quarter of such year the aggregate worldwide market value of its common equity held by non-affiliates will be US\$700,000,000,000 or more.

For so long as the Company remains an emerging growth company, it is permitted to and intends to rely upon exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company cannot predict whether investors will find its common shares less attractive because the Company relies upon certain of these exemptions. If some investors find the Common Shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for the Common Shares and the Common Share price may be more volatile. On the other hand, if the Company no longer qualifies as an emerging growth company, the Company would be required to divert additional management time and attention from the Company's development and other business activities and incur increased legal and financial costs to comply with the additional associated reporting requirements, which could negatively impact the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 4. Information on the Company

A. History and Development of the Company

History

The Company was incorporated in the Province of British Columbia under the Company Act (British Columbia) on January 15, 1987, as Empire Creek Mines Inc. On May 11, 1987, the Company changed its name to Curlew Lake Resources Inc. Effective November 24, 2017, the Company changed its name to C21 Investments Inc.

On June 15, 2018, the common shares of the Company were delisted from the TSXV and on June 18, 2018, the common shares of the Company commenced trading on the CSE under the symbol "CXXI". The Company registered its common shares in the United States and on May 6, 2019, its common shares were cleared by FINRA for trading on the OTC Markets platform under the U.S. trading symbol "CXXIF". On August 23, 2019, the Company announced it had been approved for trading on the OTCQB Venture Market, and on September 28, 2020 the Company commenced trading on the OTCQX Best Market.

The Company's corporate office and principal place of business is 19th Floor, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3H4. The Company's telephone number is +1 833-289-2994 and its corporate website is www.cxxi.ca. The information contained on its website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report. The SEC maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding registrants that make electronic filings with the SEC using its EDGAR system.

Development

Since the Company changed its focus to the cannabis market on January 29, 2018, the Company has aggressively grown its business, based primarily on its acquisition and optimization of assets in Nevada in 2019.

As of January 31, 2023, the Company has closed its acquisitions of Silver State Relief LLC (retail) and Silver State Cultivation LLC (cultivation and extraction) located in Nevada, and closed its acquisitions and subsequently sold off the majority of its assets with respect to Eco Firma Farms LLC (cultivation), Megawood Enterprises Inc (retail), Phantom Venture Group, LLC and Phantom Brands, LLC (cultivation, extraction and wholesale) and Swell Companies Limited (extraction and wholesale), located in Oregon. The Company is no longer operational in Oregon and has listed, or will be listing, its remaining real and personal property in Oregon for sale.

In the current phase of C21's strategic plan, the Company is focused primarily on improving and expanding its retail footprint in Nevada and is liquidating its Oregon assets. The Company may also entertain strategic opportunities in other jurisdictions, as such opportunities may arise.

The Company funded its acquisitions through private placement financings and convertible debentures.

Completed Acquisitions and Dispositions

Nevada

Silver State Cultivation LLC and Silver State Relief LLC - Nevada, USA

On January 15, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the membership interests of both Silver State Relief LLC and Silver State Cultivation LLC (collectively "Silver State"), which are Nevada limited liability companies. The acquisition was made effective January 1, 2019. Silver State operates indoor cannabis cultivation and processing in a licensed facility in Sparks, Nevada, and owns two retail licenses that operate cannabis dispensaries in Sparks and Fernley, Nevada.

In consideration for 100% of the membership interests of Silver State, the Company paid total consideration of \$49,105,048, which included a secured promissory note to the vendor, Sonny Newman, for \$30,000,000 (the "Newman Note").

Mr. Newman was subsequently engaged by the Company to act as its President and Chief Executive Officer.

Promissory Note to Sonny Newman

Effective November 21, 2019, Mr. Newman and the Company agreed to amend the terms of the Newman Note, with a remaining principal balance of \$21,800,000. The December 1, 2019, principal payment of \$800,000 was cancelled and the principal monthly payments thereafter were reduced to \$600,000 per month. Further, the annual interest rate on the note was reduced from 10% to 9.5%. The remaining balance on the note was then due and payable on July 1, 2020.

Effective June 25, 2020, Mr. Newman and the Company agreed to further amend the terms of the Newman Note, with the remaining principal balance of \$18,200,000. The maturity date of the Note was extended from July 1, 2020, to January 1,

2021, and all other terms of the Newman Note remained the same, including the monthly payment obligations of principal and interest.

Effective November 19, 2020, Mr. Newman and the Company agreed to further amend the terms of the Newman Note, with the remaining balance of \$15,200,000. The remaining balance of the Note was termed out 30 months to May 1, 2023, and the monthly payments reduced to \$506,666 per month; all other terms of the Newman Note remained the same. As at January 31, 2023, the outstanding balance of the Newman Note was \$2,026,667, and is \$nil as of the date of this Annual Report.

Effective February 6, 2023, Mr. Newman and the Company agreed to defer payment of the principal portion of the March 1, 2023, payment on the Newman Note to facilitate the cash payment on settlement with the Swell vendors. The payment was deferred to June 1, 2023. The Newman Note was fully repaid on June 1, 2023.

Silver State Buildings

The Silver State Relief dispensary in Sparks, Nevada was the first dispensary in Nevada and opened in July 2015 selling medical cannabis. In July 2017, the sale of recreational cannabis commenced, and in January 2019 a second dispensary location was opened in Fernley, Nevada.

The Silver State businesses operate in three buildings, a cultivation/production warehouse and a dispensary, both located in Sparks, Nevada. The third building is the Fernley dispensary in Fernley, Nevada, which opened on January 15, 2019. The Company has the option, exercisable during the term of its leases, to acquire all three of the real estate assets of Silver State including: the land and 158,000 square-foot building ("Stanford Way") located in Sparks, Nevada that houses its cultivation and extraction facility; the land and 8.000 square foot retail dispensary building ("Greg Street") located in Sparks, Nevada, servicing more than 30,000 customers per month; and the 6,000 square foot dispensary and land located in Fernley, Nevada ("Fernley"), servicing more than 15,000 customers per month. The option price for Stanford Way is \$12,700,000, payable in cash or common shares of the Company at \$3.50 per common share, at the election of the landlord. The option price for Greg Street is \$3,300,000, payable in cash. The option price for Fernley, extended on June 30, 2020, along with the lease term, to July 31, 2023, is \$2,228,000, payable in cash.

On November 19, 2020, the Company and the landlord agreed that the purchase options for the Greg Street and Fernley dispensaries would be extinguished. The leases on each of the 3 properties were extended to December 31, 2027, with a 5-year renewal option.

On February 28, 2023, the Company and the landlord agreed new lease agreements for the Greg Street and Fernley dispensaries. The leases have a 7-year term with options for up to three renewal terms of 7-years each.

Today there are 19 grow rooms at the Silver State cultivation and extraction facility producing approximately 8,100 pounds of flower and 3,300 pounds of trim. Most of this production is sold through the two Silver State dispensaries. Excess production is sold into the wholesale market.

Oregon

Megawood Enterprises Inc - Oregon, USA (Sold)

On January 23, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the common shares of Megawood Enterprises Inc ("**Pure Green**"), an Oregon corporation, which includes its retail location at 3738 Sandy Blvd. NE, Portland, OR. In consideration for 100% of the common shares of Pure Green, the Company paid total consideration of \$794,888.

On February 28, 2020, the Company restructured the final payment due to the vendors of Pure Green. The final payment consisted of a cash payment of \$130,000 and the issuance of 95,849 common shares of the Company at a deemed price of C\$0.6225/share.

The Pure Green operations were temporarily shut down in March 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The operations were reopened under new third-party management pursuant to a management agreement dated June 1, 2020, whereby the management company has assumed all leasehold liabilities and costs at the facility including the triple net real property lease.

On January 7, 2021, the Company entered into the Oregon Agreement (as defined herein), pursuant to which, among other things, involved the sale of the Pure Green assets, and the assumption by the buyer of the lease at the Pure Green facility. Subsequent to the sale of the Pure Green assets, Pure Green was dissolved and is no longer in operation. See "Sale of Non-Core Oregon Assets" below.

Phantom Venture Group, LLC and Phantom Brands, LLC - Oregon, USA (Non-operational/Sold)

On February 4, 2019, the Company completed its acquisition of 100% of the membership interests of Phantom (as defined below), which encompasses the following limited liability companies: Phantom Venture Group, LLC, Phantom Distribution, LLC, 63353 Bend, LLC, 20727 - 4 Bend, LLC, 4964 BFH, LLC, and Phantom Brands, LLC (collectively "Phantom"). Phantom operates two outdoor cannabis cultivation facilities totaling 80,000 square feet in Southern Oregon. Phantom also operates a 5,600 square foot facility which includes a wholesale distribution warehouse and an extraction laboratory and a 7,700 square foot state-of-the-art indoor grow facility in Central Oregon.

In consideration for 100% of the membership interests of Phantom, the Company paid total consideration of \$10,539,260 as follows:

- (i) cash deposits on closing of \$3,200,000
- (ii) a promissory note for \$290,000;
- (iii) issuance of 2,670,000 common shares of the Company valued at C\$1.23/common share;
- (iv) issuance of 1,700,000 share purchase warrants of C21, each warrant exercisable for one common share at a price of C\$1.50 per common share; and,
- (v) issuance of earnout shares of up to a maximum of 4,500,000 common shares of C21 (the "**Phantom Earn-Out Shares**"), to be issued over a period of seven years, contingent upon the achievement of certain stock price targets of C21 or change of control of C21 at certain stock price valuation targets (50% of the Phantom Earn-Out Shares issuable upon change of control of the Company at a valuation of C\$3.00 per C21 common share or more; 100% of the Phantom Earn-Out Shares issuable upon change of control of the Company at a valuation of at least C\$5.00 per C21 common share).

In an agreement signed contemporaneously, the Company committed to purchase SDP Development Group, LLC ("SDP") on October 15, 2020, which owned six real estate properties used in connection with Phantom Farms' cannabis cultivation, processing and wholesale distribution operations. The aggregate purchase price was \$8,010,000 payable in cash, or, at the election of the vendors, in whole or in part by the issue of 2,670,000 common shares at a deemed price of \$3.00 per common share. Subsequently, the Company and SDP agreed to modify the terms of the SDP agreement as well as modify the leases subject to Phantom Farms' operations. On February 12, 2020, the parties agreed to the following modified terms: the Company purchased two Southern Oregon farms, constituting over 60 acres of real property housing the two outdoor cannabis cultivation facilities totaling 80,000 square feet of canopy, rent reduction on the three Phantom properties in Central Oregon to 7% of the assessed value (a reduction of the Company's total forward lease obligations in Phantom Farms locations by \$370,000 per year), and a release from the obligation to purchase the sixth property in Southern Oregon. In exchange, the SDP vendors received 7,132,041 common shares of the Company at a deemed issue price of C\$0.804 per share.

On November 18, 2021, C21 entered into an agreement (the "Earn-Out Share Agreement") in connection with the Phantom Earn-Out Share entitlements of the Phantom vendors. Pursuant to the Earn-Out Share Agreement, individuals who were entitled to receive 4,500,000 Earn-Out Shares agreed to collectively receive 1,300,000 million common shares of C21 in exchange for their entitlement to receive the Phantom Earn-Out Shares (the "Settlement Transaction"). The Settlement Transaction closed on January 24, 2022.

On January 19, 2022, the Company entered in the Southern Oregon Agreement (as defined herein), pursuant to which, among other things, involved the sale of the two Phantom outdoor cannabis cultivation facilities in Southern Oregon. On March 9, 2023, the Company executed a settlement agreement to terminate the Southern Oregon Agreement. The lessee failed to make the minimum payments under the agreement and the Company exercised its right to terminate the Agreement. The lessee paid \$500,000 as consideration for the two cannabis licenses in Southern Oregon. The land and equipment in Southern Oregon will be listed for sale.

On April 28, 2022, the Company entered into the Central Oregon Agreement (as defined herein), pursuant to which, among other things, the Company sold three (3) Bend, Oregon cannabis licenses. The Company had remaining lease payment obligations in connection with the Phantom Tier I indoor cultivation facility, the processing facility and the wholesale distribution facility in Central Oregon until January 2024, but on March 27, 2023, the Company executed a lease surrender agreement with the subject landlord and paid out the remaining term of the three Phantom leases which had term to January 2024, in exchange for the equivalent of one month's abated rent on each of the three leases.

Phantom is no longer in operation; however, the Company has retained the Phantom Farms and Hood Oil brands, and will be listing the Southern Oregon real and personal property assets for sale. See "Sale of Non-Core Oregon Assets" below.

Swell Companies Limited - Oregon, USA (Sold)

On May 24, 2019, the Company completed its acquisition of 100% of the common shares of Swell Companies Limited ("Swell"), an Oregon corporation. Swell is a processor and wholesaler of THC and CBD products. Swell is recognized as a leader in the extraction and manufacturing of THC and CBD derived products. Swell's commitment to quality, innovation, and execution has established Swell as an early and dominant player in the competitive Oregon market. Raw oil, encapsulates and vape pens are distributed under its in-house brands: Dab Society Extracts and Hood Oil. The capacity of Swell's processing facility is 350,000 grams of high-quality raw oil per month.

In consideration for 100% of the common shares of Swell, the Company paid or agreed to pay total consideration of \$18,812,683 as follows:

- (i) cash deposits on closing of \$5,050,000;
- (ii) liabilities assumed of \$1,070,907;
- (iii) \$1,000,000 in the form of a 2-year convertible note at 10% interest, upon close;
- (iv) 1,266,667 common shares of C21 on closing;
- (v) 1,200,000 warrants to purchase common shares of C21 with an exercise price of C\$1.50 per common share;
- (vi) 456,862 common shares issuable on November 24, 2020;
- (vii) 2,450,000 common shares issuable on May 24, 2021. Upon the vendors' election, up to \$5 million in cash to be received 24 months from the closing date if the average closing price of the Company's shares over the 15 trading days immediately preceding the payment date is less than C\$3.75 per share. If the vendors elect to take cash, common shares issuable would be reduced to 783,333; and,
- (viii) issuance of up to a maximum of 6,000,000 earn out common shares (the "**Swell Earn-Out Shares**"), to be issued over a period of seven years, contingent upon the achievement of certain stock price targets of C21, and 50% of the Swell Earn-Out Shares issuable upon change of control of C21 and 100% of the Swell Earn-Out Shares issuable upon change of control of C21 at a C21 valuation of at least C\$5.00 per C21 common share.

The Company subsequently finalized an agreement with the former owners of Swell Companies Limited (the "Swell Vendors") to amend the terms of the Company's forward-cash obligations to the Swell Vendors. Pursuant to the terms of the amended agreement: (a) the cash sum due to the Swell Vendors through September 2019 under the original agreement, in the amount of \$850,000, would be paid by the Company on or before November 15, 2019; and (b) the sum of \$7,350,000 due to the Swell Vendors on May 24, 2021 under the original agreement (vii above), including the Swell Vendors' option to receive \$5,000,000 of such sum in cash, was satisfied in full by the issuance of 7,015,238 common shares of C21 at a deemed issue price of \$1.047 per share. The shares were issued into escrow December 27, 2019, and were released as follows: (a) twenty-five percent (25%) four-months-and-a-day from the date of issue; and (b) the remainder of the shares in three equal instalments of one-third every four months thereafter. Effective November 15, 2019, the parties executed an amendment with respect to the cash payment of \$850,000, by which the maturity date was extended from November 15, 2019, to on or before July 1, 2020, with interest accruing from November 15, 2019, at 9.5%. Effective June 30, 2020, the parties executed a further amendment with respect to the cash payment of \$850,000, by which the maturity date was extended from July 1, 2020, to on or before January 1, 2021, with all other terms to remain unchanged.

In April 2020 some equipment and inventory were moved to other locations, manufacturing of some products was taken over by our Bend location as part of the Oregon restructuring and day to day operations were stopped. A third party commenced operating the Swell facility under a management agreement effective June 15, 2020, whereby the management company has assumed all leasehold liabilities and costs at the facility including the triple net real property lease.

On January 7, 2021, the Company entered into the Oregon Agreement, which included, among other things, the sale of the Swell assets, the Dab Society brand, and the assumption by the buyer of the lease at the Swell facility. Subsequent to the sale of the Swell assets, Swell was dissolved and is no longer in operation. See "Sale of Non-Core Oregon Assets" below.

On February 13, 2023, the Company announced the cancellation of most of the Swell Earn-Out Shares. The Company entered into agreements with certain Swell vendors to extinguish the Company's obligation to issue 4,792,800 common shares in exchange for a cash payment of \$575,136.

As of the date of this report the outstanding balance of Swell Earn-Out Shares is 1,207,200 common shares.

Eco Firma Farms LLC - Oregon, USA (Non-Operational)

On June 13, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the membership interests of Eco Firma Farms LLC ("EFF"), an Oregon limited liability company (former subsidiary of Proudest Monkey Holdings LLC), which owned and operated a 22,000 square-foot cannabis production facility, and related assets, in Oregon. On June 28, 2018, and July 6, 2018, the Company announced certain post-closing adjustments with respect to the acquisition of EFF. In consideration for 100% of the membership interests of EFF, the Company paid total consideration of \$7,849,684.

The vendors of Eco Firma Farms LLC can also earn up to 3,948,750 (was 6,500,000, see below December 28, 2018 restructuring) common shares of C21, at a deemed issue price of \$1.00 per common share, over a maximum seven-year period, if the EBITDA earned by the Company in relation to EFF satisfies certain agreed upon amounts (the "EFF Earn Out"). Management has determined that the EFF Earn-Out has no value.

On December 28, 2018, the Company restructured certain real estate rights connected with its EFF operations. Under the restructured arrangement, for a \$3,800,000 purchase price, the Company formally acquired the real estate assets housing EFF's cultivation operations under a vendor finance arrangement that converted rental payments into mortgage interest payments. As part of the restructuring, two of the vendors of EFF agreed, among other things, to assign the rights to their 39.25% share of the EFF Earn-Out to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

On May 10, 2019, the Company issued 3,983,886 common shares (the common shares were issued subject to escrow release in four consecutive monthly installments of 25% each commencing on September 14, 2019), at a deemed price of \$0.825 per common share, to settle the \$3,800,000 purchase price for the real property used in EFF's operations, in addition to assuming the \$513,294 balance under the first mortgage for the property.

Cultivation activities at the EFF facility were temporarily shuttered in October 2019. The EFF facility was under third-party management pursuant to a management agreement dated June 15, 2020, whereby the management company has assumed all costs at the facility including real property taxes and costs. On March 8, 2022 the Company terminated the management agreement. The EFF facility is listed for sale and EFF is no longer in operation.

Debenture Backstop

The Company secured an equity commitment from three investment managers and Sonny Newman, to guarantee the repayment of all 10% of the Company's convertible debentures which remain outstanding at maturity on December 31, 2020, and January 30, 2021, respectively. In consideration for the equity guarantee, three investment managers, Wasatch Global Investors, JW Asset Management and CB1 Capital Management, and Sonny Newman, would receive 6.2 million warrants to purchase common shares in the Company at C\$1.00 per common share for a period of three years.

Sale of Non-Core Oregon Assets

On January 7, 2021, the Company announced entering into a definitive agreement (the "Oregon Agreement") for the sale of select non-core assets in Oregon, currently under third-party management agreements for \$1.3 million. These assets included the Company's Portland licenses and BHO processing equipment and the Dab Society brand, including an assumption by the buyer of the respective leases at the Swell and the Pure Green facilities. The parties received Oregon

Liquor Control Commission ("OLCC") approval to the transfer of the licenses and effective April 23, 2021, the funds were received, and the sale was closed.

On January 19, 2022, the Company announced entering into a definitive agreement (the "**Southern Oregon Agreement**") for the sale of select assets, including its real property located in Southern Oregon and associated outdoor production licenses and equipment, for \$2.0 million. The Company has received a \$100,000 cash down payment with an additional \$400,000 to be paid upon the buyer's receipt of the OLCC approval of the license transfer and closing. The Company will receive interest-only monthly installments starting in July 2022 at an annual interest rate of 8%, including annual principal payments of \$100,000, on a \$1.5 million secured promissory note maturing on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the agreement.

On April 28, 2022, the Company entering into a definitive agreement (the "Central Oregon Agreement") for the sale of select assets, including its indoor production license, wholesale license and processing license located in Bend, Oregon, and certain nominal equipment, for \$87,500. The Company has received full payment under the Central Oregon Agreement and the licenses are in the process of being transferred.

On March 9, 2023, the Company executed a settlement agreement to terminate the Southern Oregon Agreement. The lessee failed to make the minimum payments under the agreement and the Company exercised its right to terminate the Agreement. The lessee paid \$500,000 as consideration for the two production licenses in Southern Oregon. The land and equipment in Southern Oregon will be listed for sale.

Strategic Initiatives

The Company's strategic initiatives over the next 12 months include extending our Nevada retail footprint where we have a proven track record of success, continuing our disciplined approach to growth and financing, and internally producing product to expand our Nevada retail footprint. The Nevada cultivation expansion was completed at a total cost of \$3.0 million dollars. The total completed expansion more than doubled the Company's annual production capacity to 8,200 pounds of high-quality flower.

B. Business Overview

The Company is a vertically integrated cannabis company that cultivates, processes, distributes and sells quality cannabis and hemp-derived consumer products in Nevada, U.S.A. The Company is focused on value creation through the disciplined acquisition and integration of core retail, manufacturing, and distribution assets in strategic markets, leveraging industry-leading retail revenues together with high-growth potential and multi-market branded consumer packaged goods ("CPG").

The Company focuses on scalable opportunities in key markets that take advantage of its core competencies, including: (i) retail operational excellence and expanding its retail footprint through value-add acquisitions in existing markets, and (ii) branded CPG expansion through both captive retail and wholesale channels. The Company focuses on acquiring businesses that provide immediate contribution to overall profitability, or have a path to profitability within twelve months, where it can leverage existing assets, brands, and domain expertise.

The Company currently holds licenses in Nevada, spanning the entire cannabis supply chain.

The Company is operated by a management team that has significant professional experience, including deep experience both within the cannabis industry and other fast-paced growth industries like technology, healthcare, and venture capital. The Company's management team also includes experts from more traditional industries like forestry, manufacturing, real estate, and capital markets.

Cultivation and Processing

Through Silver State Cultivation in Nevada, the Company operates indoor cultivation and processing out of a 104,000 square foot facility with 37,000 square feet utilized for cultivation and 1,200 square feet dedicated to volatile extraction. Silver State produces approximately 8,100 pounds of flower and 3,300 pounds of trim annually which is mainly sold within the Company's Silver State Relief dispensaries. The Company has expanded Silver State's extraction capacity to support branded CPG expansion in both captive retail and wholesale channels. Hood Oil cartridges were released to the Nevada market in June 2019. Phantom Farms pre-rolls, new Phantom flower strains and Phantom Farms CBD products were released at Silver State Relief dispensaries in January 2021. Together with the Silver State branded products, these in-house brands make up over 60% of sales in the dispensaries.

Nevada wholesale sales amounted to \$2.2 million in sales during the year ended January 31, 2023 (\$0.6 million in 2022). Silver State had total sales of \$28.8 million during the year ended January 31, 2023, as compared to \$33.0 million in the prior year.

Retail

Through Silver State in Nevada, the Company operates two dispensaries, an 8,000-square foot retail dispensary, located in Sparks, and a 6,000-square foot dispensary located in Fernley, collectively servicing a total of 490,000 recreational and medical cannabis customers during the year ending January 31, 2023, with over 700 SKUs in each store and averaging more than \$60.00 per transaction.

Branding and Marketing

The Company utilizes consistent branding and messaging across its retail and wholesale channels under Phantom Farms, Hood Oil, and Silver State Relief. The Company currently sells over 700 distinct SKUs, including the following product categories: CO2 vaporizer pens, live resin vaporizer pens, distillate vaporizer pens, live resin extract, cured resin extract, bulk flower, packaged flower, pre-rolls, CBD cured resin vaporizer pens, CBD CO2 vaporizer pens, and CBD cured resin extracts.

Banking and Processing

In Nevada, the Company deposits funds from its operations into its credit union accounts held at Greater Nevada Credit Union (Nevada) and at Partner Colorado Credit Union through Safe Harbor Private Banking services (Colorado). The Company is fully transparent with its credit union partners regarding the nature of its business.

Product Selection and Offerings

Product selection decisions are currently made by the Company's buyers, who negotiate with potential vendors across all product categories including packaged and wholesale flower, vaporizer pens, cured extracts, edibles and pre-rolls. The Company bases its product selection decisions on product quality, margin potential, and scalability.

The Company's branded CPG and flower-based products are sold primarily through captive retail and wholesale channels in Nevada. The Company's retail locations in Nevada also offer third party branded CPG and flower-based products including a wide variety of THC and CBD based products, including vaporizer pens, cured resin extracts, bulk flower, packaged flower, pre-rolls, edibles, tinctures, and topicals.

Product Pricing

The Company's wholesale and retail pricing strategies are regularly adjusted in accordance with individual market dynamics. Generally speaking, when pricing adjustments are made within a given market, such adjustments are applied, and held consistently, across all business lines and channel partners.

The state of Nevada does not regulate pricing and licensed dispensing organizations within the state may also set their own prices for cannabis and cannabis products. However, products sold at dispensaries in Nevada are subject to a 10% cannabis excise and sales tax.

In-Store Pickup, Curbside Delivery and Delivery

The Company's Nevada retail locations offer in-store pickup, curbside delivery and delivery utilizing the leading third-party service providers, a leading cannabis sales and fulfillment web-based application. The Company actively monitors the continued growth of a number of cannabis web-based sales and fulfillment platforms and is well poised to utilize strategic third-party service providers during the ongoing pandemic.

Inventory Management

The Company has comprehensive inventory management procedures, which are compliant with all applicable state and local laws, regulations, ordinances, and other requirements. These procedures ensure strict controls over the Company's cannabis flower and CPG inventory from its production, processing and distribution licensees through to ultimate sale to end

consumers (or rare cases disposal as cannabis waste). Such inventory management procedures also include strong quality control and quality assurance measures to prevent in-process contamination and maintain the safety and quality of the products. The Company is committed to supplying safe, consistent, and high-quality cannabis flower and CPG products at a value-oriented price.

Research and Development

Through its research and development activities, the Company expects to create proprietary genetics, processes, technologies, and products from its existing Nevada operations, as well as from future expansion in new markets. The Company may license these genetics, processes, technologies, and products as part of its future business. The Company may also seek appropriate federal patent, trademark, copyright, and other customary intellectual property protections when the same become available and/or are appropriate.

Competition

Across a modified and strategic cannabis value chain, the Company expects to continue to vigorously compete with other licensees in Nevada. Nevada is a "limited" license state, therefore competition to date has been less challenging and the broader market dynamics are more favorable. While many of the Company's direct competitors continue to be small-scale local operators, market rationalization through consolidation is increasingly a trend. Of note is the increased participation of multi-state operators with national growth aspirations in the Nevada marketplaces. As more U.S. jurisdictions pass state legislation allowing the recreational use and sale of cannabis, the Company is assured an increased level of competition in U.S. markets. These increasingly competitive U.S. markets may adversely affect the financial condition and operations of the Company.

Employees

The Company's employees are highly talented individuals who have educational achievements ranging from Ph.D., Masters, and undergraduate degrees in a wide range of disciplines, as well as staff who have been trained on the job to uphold the highest standards as set by the Company. The Company hires and promotes individuals who are best qualified for each position, priding itself on using a process that identifies people who are trainable, cooperative and share the Company's core values.

The Company takes all reasonable steps to ensure staff are appropriately informed and trained to ensure a culture of health, safety, and continuous improvement, especially since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Wherever possible, the Company will continue to adopt generally accepted health and safety best practices from non-cannabis-related industries and follows all health and safety guidelines issued by the United States Centers for Disease Control ("CDC") and all orders from relevant provincial, state and local jurisdictions and authorities.

Intellectual Property

The Company has developed numerous proprietary genetics, processes, technologies and products. These assets include genetics, ERP and other software applications, cultivation and extraction technologies, as well as consumer brands. Whenever available and appropriate, the Company undertakes reasonable intellectual property protections to secure these assets.

To date, absent the availability of customary federal patent, trademark, and copyright protections for cannabis applications, the Company has relied on non-disclosure/confidentiality arrangements, common law trade secrets, and state-based trademark protections. The Company actively monitors and responds to all potentially material intellectual property infringements and maintains strict standards and controls regarding the use and dissemination of its intellectual property.

Government Regulations

Please see Item 5.D. "United States Regulatory Environment", for a discussion of the material effects of government regulations on the Company's business.

In addition, the Company owns four (4) website domains including: www.cxxi.ca, www.phantom-farms.com, www.silverstaterelief.com and c21supply.co, along with numerous social media accounts across all major platforms.

C. Organizational Structure

The Company conducts its business as the parent company to the following ten (10) significant subsidiaries in the United States:

Name of subsidiary	Principal activity
320204 US Holdings Corp.	Holding Company
320204 Oregon Holdings Corp.	Holding Company
320204 Nevada Holdings Corp.	Holding Company
320204 Re Holdings, LLC	Holding Company
Eco Firma Farms LLC (1)	Cannabis producer
Silver State Cultivation LLC	Cannabis producer
Silver State Relief LLC	Cannabis retailer
Phantom Venture Group, LLC (1)	Holding Company
Phantom Brands, LLC (1)	Holding Company
Workforce Concepts 21, Inc.	Payroll and benefits services

⁽¹⁾ Operations discontinued and results included in discontinued operations.

D. Property, Plants and Equipment

Our executive offices are located at 19th Floor, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3H4.

Our Canby, Oregon production facility is located at 24700 S Mulino Road, Canby, OR 97013. This facility is a total of 22,000 square feet, but there is no current production activity. The Canby property is owned by the Company and the Company has listed the real estate and production license for sale.

The Company no longer leases properties in Central Oregon. In March 2023, the Company paid out the remaining 11 months of the three Bend real property leases and vacated the premises.

Our Southern Oregon outdoor cannabis production facilities are located at 4962 and 4964 Butte Falls Highway, Eagle Point, Oregon, 97524. The associated real property is approximately 60 acres, and the facilities include a total of 80,000 square feet of production capacity. In 2023, the transfer of the licenses was approved and were transferred pursuant to the Southern Oregon Agreement. Payment for the Southern Oregon production facilities and real property was not made, and the Company has terminated the agreement. The Company will be listing this real and personal property for sale.

Our Sparks, Nevada production and processing facility is located at 250 S Stanford Way, Sparks, NV 89431. This facility is a total of 104,000 square feet, with 37,000 square feet utilized for cultivation of cannabis flower, and 1,200 square feet utilized for extraction and processing of cannabis products.

Our Sparks, Nevada dispensary is located at 175 E Greg Street, Sparks, NV 89431. This retail building is 8,000 square feet and services more than 30,000 customers per month, primarily selling the Company's cannabis flower and products and third-party cannabis products.

Our Fernley, Nevada dispensary is located at 1301 Financial Way, Fernley, NV 89408. This retail building is 6,000 square feet, primarily selling the Company's cannabis flower and products and third-party cannabis products.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

A. Operating Results

The Company previously presented its financial statements in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IFRS"). Beginning for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2022, the Company changed the accounting principles governing the presentation of its consolidated financial statements to the U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP").

Financial statements included in this Annual Report for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, January 31, 2022 and January 31, 2021 were prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

Financial Information for three years to FY 2023 in accordance with U.S. GAAP

The following table presents selected financial information for the years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

C21 Investments Inc., PROFIT AND LOSS	Year ended		
	31-Jan-23	31-Jan-22	31-Jan-21
		Restated	
Revenue	28,888,410	32,982,976	33,466,063
Inventory expensed to cost of sales	15,487,264	14,172,991	15,418,717
Gross profit	13,401,146	18,809,985	18,047,346
Gross Margin%	46.4%	57.0%	53.9%
Expenses			
General and administration	7,196,402	6,733,113	6,303,701
Sales, marketing, and promotion	83,672	83,770	138,546
Operating lease cost	591,375	591,376	549,031
Depreciation and amortization	1,365,018	1,280,446	1,321,686
Share based compensation	209,441	366,469	494,435
Total expenses	9,445,908	9,055,174	8,807,399
Income from operations	3,955,238	9,754,811	9,239,947
Other items			
Interest expense	(456,691)	(1,077,068)	(3,931,570)
Accretion expense	-	(230,462)	(1,220,896)
Other Income (loss)	(49,722)	108,470	35,275
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities	742,483	8,576,290	(5,756,195)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	4,191,308	17,132,041	(1,633,439)
Income tax expense	(2,809,768)	(5,225,740)	(2,968,133)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations after income taxes	1,381,540	11,906,301	(4,601,572)
Net loss from discontinued operations	(1,088,329)	(2,242,644)	(3,228,056)
Net income (loss)	293,211	9,663,657	(7,829,628)
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted	0.01	0.10	(0.04)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share	0.00	0.08	(0.07)
Distributions or cash dividends	n/a	n/a	n/a
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic	120,047,814	118,308,584	104,841,540
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - diluted	122,880,807	121,141,677	104,841,540

All the current and comparative figures are in GAAP. The year ended January 31, 2022 has been restated for additional tax provision of \$1.2 million which has increased both income tax expense and lowered Net income by this amount.

"Revenue" includes retail revenues from our two stores and wholesale revenue from our cultivation operations. Financial Year ("FY") 2023 revenues decreased versus FY 2022 by 12% to \$28.9 million. These declines are consistent with industry

trends since the easing of pandemic restrictions. According to the State of Nevada Tax Authority (https://tax.nv.gov/Publications/Cannabis_Statistics_and_Reports/, Nevada cannabis sales have dropped by 15% over the same 12 months ending January 31, 2023.

- "Cost of Sales" includes the costs directly attributable to cultivating and processing cannabis plus the cost of product purchases from third parties, for sale in our stores. With the expansion of our cultivation facility our cost of production has come down due to economies of scale. We use an average costing model which captures and averages costs over several quarters.
- "Gross profit" fell in FY 2023 versus FY 2022 from 57% to 46%, due to various factors including gradual weakening of product demand since the easing of pandemic restrictions. See discussion in Fourth Quarter section below.
- "Income from operations" for FY 2023 fell to \$4.0 million, down 59% versus FY 2022 of \$9.8 million. This result is mainly due to a fall in Gross Profit as discussed in Fourth Quarter section below.

Expenses

- "General and administration" includes all overhead costs that have not otherwise been allocated to cost of sales. These include salaries and wages, professional fees including legal and accounting, insurance and some local taxes. FY 2023 costs increased by \$390,733 as compared to FY 2022 due to \$345,790 of one-time professional fees which were incurred and written off.
- "Operating lease cost" is the cost of our leases not included in cost of sales and was \$591,375 in FY 2023 versus \$591,376 in FY 2022.
- "Depreciation and amortization" include provisions for fixed assets and intangibles not included in cost of sales. The total depreciation and amortization in FY2023 was \$1.37 million versus \$1.28 million in FY 2022.
- "Share based compensation" is a non-cash item and reflects the issuance of stock options to employees, officers, and directors.

Other Items

- "Interest expense" in FY 2023 was \$456,691 versus \$1.1 million in FY 2022 due to repayment of interest-bearing debt.
- "Change in fair value of derivative liabilities" is a periodic revaluation of the earn out shares outstanding to vendors of businesses purchased by the Company. These earn-out shares are revalued using a Monte Carlo simulation. The fair value of this liability will increase with an increase in the stock price of the Company and vice versa. The change in fair value must be recorded through the Company's profit or loss statement. As a result, a share price increase period-over-period will result in a reduction in net income and vice versa. In February and March 2023, the Company entered into cancelation agreements with the majority of the Swell Vendors who had rights to Swell Earn-Out shares, canceling those rights for a one-time cash payment. Of the 6.0 million original Swell Earn-Out shares 1.2 million remain outstanding. Of the original 10.5 million of earn out shares to both Phantom and Swell, 1.2 million remain.
- **"Provision for income taxes"** for FY 2023 of \$2.8 million is down due to decreased taxable income. The year ended January 31, 2022, has been restated for additional tax provision of \$1.2 million (to \$5.2 m in total) which has increased both income tax expense and lowered Net income by this amount.
- "Other comprehensive income (loss)," specifically the cumulative translation adjustment, comes about in GAAP when translating the balances between the parent company (investments made in C\$) and the US subsidiaries (US\$). These foreign exchange gains or losses at each reporting date result from the translation of C\$ amounts to US\$ (which is our reporting currency).
- "Net income (loss) from discontinued operations" the Company has classified all of its Oregon operations to 'discontinued operations'. The revenues and expenses pertaining to the Oregon operations are shown in this line item. We have had no active business in Oregon since early 2022. The effect of this treatment is to lower our revenues (FY2023 \$357,540, FY2022-\$1,128,403) and increase our gross profit (FY2023-nil, FY2022-\$473,854) and increase our income from operations (FY2023-\$1,088,329, FY2022-\$2,242,644) and net income. There is no effect of discontinuing the Oregon operations on our Nevada operations as the cannabis business in each state is unique and separate, which is due to the regulation of the cannabis industry. Effective March 27, 2023, the Company reached a settlement with its central Oregon landlord with respect to its three remaining leases in Oregon, including an early termination of such leases, in exchange for

an abatement of one month of the Company's rent applied to each respective lease. This is recorded in the FY2023 accounts. The Company maintains fee simple ownership of real property in central and southern Oregon, which are listed for sale.

Fourth Quarter

LAST EIGHT QUARTERS RESULTS	(000's unless	noted)						
For the 3 months ended	31-Jan-23	31-Oct-22	31-Jul-22	30-Apr-22	31-Jan-22	31-Oct-21	31-Jul-21	30-Apr-21
Revenues	7,033	7,207	7,175	7,472	7,655	7,938	8,593	8,797
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes & FV gain/loss	(718)	1,264	1,368	1,535	1,515	1,876	2,474	2,690
Adjusted EBITDA	937	1,906	2,211	2,392	2,318	2,915	3,492	3,718
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(1,405)	237	1,512	1,037	(303)	3,097	4,210	4,902
*per common share, basic & diluted	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.04	0.04
Profit (loss) attributable to owners	(2,119)	249	1,857	307	(2,284)	2,838	4,062	5,048
*per common share basic & diluted	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.04

As this fiscal year progressed, we saw weakening demand and increased supply in the wholesale market, followed by falling prices as certain competitors liquidated inventory while ceasing operations. This caused our flower inventories to spike as we produce more product than our stores sell. We started a strategic shutdown of cultivation rooms on a rotating basis late in Q3 and performed maintenance on rooms as needed. Due to various inefficiencies caused by the shutdown we also experienced lower flower yields. In Q4, one large cultivator ceased operations, which has spurred a recovery in both price and volume in our wholesale business throughout Q4 and into Q1-2024. As inventory levels corrected, harvest operations and yields returned to normal.

In Q4, substantial retail price discounting took place, and in response to these market pressures we also began awarding loyalty points to our recreational customers, eroding margins. Continuing the trend over the past couple of years, revenues fell in Q4-2023 to \$7.0 million from \$7.7 million in Q4-2022, and sequentially from \$7.2 million in Q3-2023.

Income taxes are very high in the cannabis industry due to the restrictions of Section 280E of the tax code and the fair value gain or loss on derivative liability is a large non-cash item on the income statement. Therefore, the measure of income from continuing operations before these two items, in the quarterly table above, is a useful measure.

Adjusted EBITDA for the past eight quarters has fallen as discussed in this section above and is described below in more detail.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA has fallen in the year ended January 31, 2023, from \$12.4 million to \$7.4 million for the same reasons as discussed in the Fourth Quarter section above. The adjustments to EBITDA in the table below include removing the effects of the losses from discontinued operations, one-time spending on special projects, which is mainly professional fees, and non-cash items such as share based compensation and gain or loss on the fair value changes in the derivative liability. The adjustment for production curtailment and inventory adjustments occurred in Q4 or FY2023 and reflects the costs of the strategic shutdown discussed in the Fourth Quarter section above.

"Adjusted EBITDA" is supplemental, non-GAAP financial measures. The Company defines EBITDA as earnings before depreciation and amortization, depreciation and interest in cost of sales, income taxes, and interest. Additionally, the Company's Adjusted EBITDA presented above excludes accretion, loss from discontinued operations, one-time transaction costs and all other non-cash items. The Company has presented "Adjusted EBITDA" because its management believes it is a useful measure for investors when assessing and considering the Company's continuing operations and prospects for the future. Furthermore, "Adjusted EBITDA" is a commonly used measurement in the financial community when evaluating the market value of similar companies. "Adjusted EBITDA" is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP, and these metrics should not be considered in isolation of, or as a substitute for, the measurement of the Company's performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. "Adjusted EBITDA," as calculated and reconciled in the table above, may not be comparable to similarly titled measurements used by other issuers and is not necessarily a measure of the Company's ability to fund its cash needs. Figures have been restated to match current presentation.

Adjusted EBITDA						
	Year ended January 31					
		2023		2022		2021
Net Income (loss)	\$	293,211	\$	9,663,656	\$	(7,829,628)
Interest expenses, net		456,691		1,307,530		5,152,466
Provision for income taxes		2,809,768		5,225,740		2,968,133
Depreciation and amortization		1,365,018		1,280,446		1,321,686
Depreciation and interest in cost of sales		812,367		812,368		732,060
EBITDA		5,737,055		18,289,740		2,344,717
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities		(742,483)		(8,576,290)		5,756,195
Share based compensation		209,441		366,469		494,435
Loss from discontinued operations		1,088,329		2,242,644		3,228,056
One-time special project costs		345,790		229,069		-
Production curtailment, inventory adjustments		759,000		-		-
Other gain/loss		49,722		(108,470)		(35,275)
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	7,446,854	\$	12,443,162	\$	11,788,128

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

The following table summarizes selected information for the most recent three fiscal year ends.

Selected Balance Sheet (000's)			
	31-Jan-23	31-Jan-22	31-Jan-21
Assets			
Cash and other	4,569	6,230	8,624
Inventory	4,174	4,054	2,693
current	8,742	10,284	11,317
Property and equipment	4,685	4,870	2,748
Goodwill, Intangibles, Right of use	44,884	46,690	52,754
Total assets	58,311	61,844	66,819
Liabilities			
Accounts payable	2,921	2,509	2,681
Promissory and CD Notes	3,183	7,361	8,283
Income taxes payable	7,737	4,870	3,378
Deferred tax , other	1,133	1,234	889
current	14,974	15,974	15,231
Lease liabilities	8,555	8,953	9,278
Prom notes payable	-	2,027	8,107
Derivative liability	240	1,006	9,759
other	228	155	1,188
Non-current financial liabilities	9,022	12,142	28,332
Equity	34,315	33,729	23,256
Total liabilities and equity	58,311	61,844	66,819

[&]quot;Total Assets" decreased in the past two years due to decreases in cash, amortization of long-term assets, and increased due to capital spending in our cultivation facility of \$3.0 million.

"Non-current financial liabilities" have fallen in the past two years mainly due to paying down the Newman note, from \$14.2 million at January 31, 2021 to \$2.0 million at Jan 31, 2023. The Newman Note monthly repayment is \$0.5 million and was fully repaid on June 1, 2023. The repayment of the Newman Note gives the Company flexibility to pursue its strategic growth plans. As cash flow has fallen in the past two years with the slowdown in the Nevada markets, we slowed our 280E driven tax payments, with current taxes owing increasing to \$7.7 million as at January 31, 2023, vs \$3.4 million on January 31, 2021.

"Derivative lability" as at January 31, 2021, of \$9.8 million has fallen to \$0.24 million at January 31, 2023. This derivative liability arose from issuance of earn out shares to two vendors. This value is determined by a 3rd party professional valuer. This derivative value has fallen in the past two years mainly due to the fall in the share price of the Company, the passage of time (as the agreements get closer to expiring) and due to various settlement and cancelation agreements the Company has made with most of the holders of these earn out shares. At Jan 31, 2021, there were 10.5 million earn out shares and at Jan 31, 2023 there were 6.0 million earn out shares. At May 31, 2023, the number of earn out shares outstanding is 1.2 million.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipating any investment and financing activities. Management and the Board are actively involved in the review, planning and approval of significant expenditures and commitments.

The Company's consolidated financial statements for year ended January 31, 2023, have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will be able to continue its operations and realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.

There remains uncertainty about the U.S. federal government's position on cannabis with respect to cannabis-legal states. A change in its enforcement policies could impact the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern and have a material adverse impact on the business.

The following table is a summary of C21's balance sheet exposure to U.S. cannabis-related activities as of January 31, 2023:

		Subsidiaries		Investments		Total
Current Assets	\$	8,305,214	\$	-	\$	8,305,214
Non-current Assets		49,569,032		-		49,569,032
Total Assets	\$	57,874,246	\$	-	\$	57,874,246
Current Liabilities	\$	14,202,559	\$	-	\$	14,202,559
Non-Current liabilities		9,022,061		-		9,022,061
Total Liabilities	\$	23,224,620	\$	-	\$	23,224,620

The following represents the portion of certain assets on C21's consolidated balance sheet that pertain to U.S. Cannabis activity as of January 31, 2023:

■ Inventory: 100%

Property plant & equipment: 100%Intangible assets and goodwill: 100%

Notes receivable and deposits: 96%

The Company's objectives when managing its capital are to ensure there are enough capital resources to continue operating as a going concern and maintain the Company's ability to ensure sufficient levels of funding to support its ongoing operations and development. The purpose of these objectives is to provide continued returns and benefits to the Company's shareholders. The Company's capital structure includes items classified in debt and shareholders' equity.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions and financial needs. The Company, upon approval from its Board, will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the specific circumstances.

The Board does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future development of the business considering changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the Company's underlying assets.

The Company works with its capital advisors, Needham & Company, LLC. based in New York, and CB1 Capital Advisors, LLC ("CB1"), organized in Delaware and based in New York, to identify the best strategic options to execute our corporate growth plans, as well as increasing financial flexibility in managing our debt.

The continued development of the Company may require additional financing. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to achieve its business objectives. The Company intends to fund its business objectives by way of additional offerings of equity and/or debt financing. The failure to raise or procure such additional funds could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of current business objectives. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, will be on terms acceptable to the Company, especially in the current higher interest rate environment. If additional funds are raised by offering equity securities or convertible debt, existing shareholders could suffer significant dilution. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve the granting of security against assets of the Company and also contain restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the Company to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions.

For further information, see Management's Discussion and Analysis, attached hereto as <u>Exhibit 15.1</u>, and incorporated by reference herein.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc.

Through its research and development activities, the Company expects to create proprietary genetics, processes, technologies, and products from its existing Nevada operations, as well as from future expansion in new markets. The Company may license these genetics, processes, technologies, and products as part of its future business. The Company may also seek appropriate federal patent, trademark, copyright, and other customary intellectual property protections when the same become available and/or are appropriate.

D. Trend Information

United States Industry Background and Trends

The emergence of the legal cannabis sector in the United States, both for medical and adult use, has been rapid as more states adopt regulations for its production and sale. Today 60% of Americans live in a state where cannabis is legal in some form and almost a quarter of the population lives in states where it is fully legalized for adult use.

The use of cannabis and cannabis derivatives to treat or alleviate the symptoms of a wide variety of chronic conditions has been generally accepted by a majority of citizens with a growing acceptance by the medical community as well. A review of the research, published in 2015 in the Journal of the American Medical Association, found evidence that cannabis can treat pain and muscle spasms. The pain component is particularly important, because other studies have suggested that cannabis can replace patients' use of highly addictive, potentially deadly opiates — meaning cannabis legalization literally improves lives.

Polls throughout the United States consistently show overwhelming support for the legalization of medical cannabis, together with strong majority support for the full legalization of recreational adult-use cannabis. According to an April 2021 Pew Research Center survey, around nine-in-ten Americans favor some form of cannabis legalization, with only 8% saying cannabis should not be legal in any form. In that survey, 91% of U.S. adults support legalizing cannabis either for medical and recreational use (60%) or medical use only (31%). These are large increases in public support over the past 40 years in favor of legalized cannabis use.

Notwithstanding that 40 states and the District of Columbia have now legalized adult-use and/or medical cannabis, cannabis remains illegal under U.S. federal law with cannabis listed as a Schedule I drug under the CSA.

Currently the Company only operates in the state of Nevada. The Company may expand into other states within the United States that have legalized cannabis use either medicinally or recreationally.

United States Regulatory Environment

U.S Federal Regulatory Environment

Under U.S. federal law, marijuana is currently a Schedule I drug. The CSA has five different tiers or schedules. A Schedule I drug means the DEA considers it to have a high potential for abuse, no accepted medical treatment, and lack of accepted safety for the use of it even under medical supervision. Other Schedule I drugs are heroin, LSD and ecstasy. The Company believes the CSA categorization as a Schedule I drug is not reflective of the medicinal properties of marijuana or the public perception thereof, and numerous studies show cannabis is not able to be abused in the same way as other Schedule I drugs, has medicinal properties, and can be safely administered. Additionally, while some studies show cannabis is less harmful than alcohol, alcohol is not classified under the CSA.

Forty (40) states and the District of Columbia, have now legalized adult-use and/or medical marijuana. The federal government sought to provide guidance to enforcement agencies and banking institutions with the introduction of the U.S. Department of Justice Memorandum drafted by former Deputy Attorney General James Michael Cole in 2013 (the "Cole Memo") and FinCEN guidance in 2014.

The Cole Memo offered guidance to federal enforcement agencies as to how to prioritize civil enforcement, criminal investigations and prosecutions regarding marijuana in all states. The memo put forth eight prosecution priorities:

- preventing the distribution of marijuana to minors;
- preventing revenue from the sale of marijuana from going to criminal enterprises, gangs and cartels;
- preventing the diversion of marijuana from states where it is legal under state law in some form to other states;
- preventing the state-authorized marijuana activity from being used as a cover or pretext for the trafficking of other illegal drugs or other illegal activity;
- preventing the violence and the use of firearms in the cultivation and distribution of marijuana;
- preventing the drugged driving and the exacerbation of other adverse public health consequences associated with marijuana use;
- preventing the growing of marijuana on public lands and the attendant public safety and environmental dangers posed by marijuana production on public lands; and,
- preventing marijuana possession or use on federal property.

In January 2018, the then United States Attorney General, Jeff Sessions, by way of issuance of a new U.S. Department of Justice Memorandum (the "Sessions Memo"), rescinded the Cole Memo and thereby created a vacuum of guidance for U.S. enforcement agencies and the DOJ. Rather than establish national enforcement priorities particular to marijuana-related crimes in jurisdictions where certain marijuana activity was legal under State law, the Sessions Memo instructs that "[i]n deciding which marijuana activities to prosecute... with the [DOJ's] finite resources, prosecutors should follow the well-established principles that govern all federal prosecutions." Namely, these include the seriousness of the offense, history of criminal activity, deterrent effect of prosecution, the interests of victims, and other principles.

Former United States Attorney General Sessions resigned on November 7, 2018, and was replaced by William Barr on February 14, 2019. On December 14, 2020, former President Trump announced that Mr. Barr would be resigning from his post as Attorney General, effective December 23, 2020. Merrick Garland, President Biden's nominee to succeed Mr. Barr, was sworn in as the current United States Attorney General on March 11, 2021. During his campaign, President Biden stated a policy goal to decriminalize possession of cannabis at the federal level, but he has not publicly supported the full legalization of cannabis. In response to questions posed by Senator Cory Booker, Merrick Garland stated during February 2021 congressional testimony that he would reinstitute a version of the Cole Memo. He reiterated the statement that the Justice Department under his leadership would not pursue cases against Americans "complying with the laws in states that have legalized and are effectively regulating marijuana", in written responses to the Senate Judiciary Committee provided around March 1. It is not yet known whether the Department of Justice under President Biden and Attorney General Garland, will re-adopt the Cole Memo or announce a substantive marijuana enforcement policy. Justice Garland indicated at a

confirmation hearing before the United States Senate that it did not seem to him to be a useful use of limited resources to pursue prosecutions in states that have legalized and that are regulating the use of marijuana, either medically or otherwise. It is unclear what specific impact the new Biden administration will have on U.S. federal government enforcement policy. There is no guarantee that state laws legalizing and regulating the sale and use of cannabis will not be repealed or overturned, or that local governmental authorities will not limit the applicability of state laws within their respective jurisdictions. Unless and until the United States Congress amends the CSA with respect to cannabis (and as to the timing or scope of any such potential amendments there can be no assurance), there is a risk that federal authorities may enforce current U.S. federal law.

Due to the CSA categorization of marijuana as a Schedule I drug, U.S. federal law makes it illegal for financial institutions that depend on the Federal Reserve's money transfer system to take any proceeds from marijuana sales as deposits. Banks and other financial institutions could be prosecuted and possibly convicted of money laundering for providing services to cannabis businesses under the Bank Secrecy Act. Under U.S. federal law, banks or other financial institutions that provide a cannabis business with a checking account, debit or credit card, small business loan, or any other service could be found guilty of money laundering or conspiracy.

While there has been no change in U.S. federal banking laws to account for the trend towards legalizing medical and recreational marijuana by U.S. states, FinCEN has issued guidance advising prosecutors of money laundering and other financial crimes not to focus their enforcement efforts on banks and other financial institutions that serve marijuana-related businesses, so long as that business is legal in their state and none of the federal enforcement priorities are being violated (such as keeping marijuana away from children and out of the hands of organized crime). The "FinCEN Guidance" also clarifies how financial institutions can provide services to marijuana-related businesses consistent with the Bank Secrecy Act obligations, including thorough customer due diligence, but makes it clear that they are doing so at their own risk.

The customer due diligence steps include:

- verifying with the appropriate state authorities whether the business is duly licensed and registered;
- reviewing the license application (and related documentation) submitted by the business for obtaining a state license to operate its marijuana-related business;
- requesting from state licensing and enforcement authorities available information about the business and related parties;
- developing an understanding of the normal and expected activity for the business, including the types of products to be sold and the type of customers to be served (e.g., medical versus recreational customers);
- ongoing monitoring of publicly available sources for adverse information about the business and related parties;
- ongoing monitoring for suspicious activity, including for any of the red flags described in this guidance; and
- refreshing information obtained as part of customer due diligence on a periodic basis and commensurate with the risk. With respect to information regarding state licensure obtained in connection with such customer due diligence, a financial institution may reasonably rely on the accuracy of information provided by state licensing authorities, where states make such information available.

Due to the fear by financial institutions of being implicated in or prosecuted for money laundering, cannabis businesses are often forced into becoming "cash-only" businesses. As banks and other financial institutions in the U.S. are generally unwilling to risk a potential violation of federal law without guaranteed immunity from prosecution, most refuse to provide any kind of services to cannabis businesses. Despite the attempt by FinCEN to legitimize cannabis banking, in practice its guidance has not made banks much more willing to provide services to cannabis businesses. This is because, as described above, the current law does not guarantee banks immunity from prosecution, and it also requires banks and other financial institutions to undertake time-consuming and costly due diligence on each cannabis business they take on as a customer. Over the last 18 months, some banks that have been servicing cannabis businesses have been closing accounts operated by cannabis businesses and are now refusing to open accounts for new cannabis businesses for the reasons enumerated above.

The few credit unions who have agreed to work with cannabis businesses are limiting those accounts to no more than 5% of their total deposits to avoid creating a liquidity risk. Since the federal government could change the banking laws as it

relates to cannabis businesses at any time and without notice, these credit unions must keep sufficient cash on hand to be able to return the full value of all deposits from cannabis businesses in a single day, while also servicing the need of their other customers. Those state-chartered banks and credit unions that do have customers in the cannabis industry charge marijuana businesses high fees to pass on the added cost of ensuring compliance with the FinCEN Guidance. Unlike the Cole Memo, however, the FinCEN Guidance from 2014 has not been rescinded.

The U.S. Treasury Department has publicly stated they were not informed of the then Attorney General Jeff Sessions' desire to rescind the Cole Memo and do not have a desire to rescind the FinCEN Guidance for financial institutions. The former Secretary of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, Stephen Mnuchin, publicly stated that he did not have a desire to rescind the FinCEN Guidance. The newly appointed Secretary of the Treasury, Janet Yellen, has not yet articulated an official Treasury Department position with regard to the FinCEN Guidance and thus as an industry best practice and consistent with its standard operating procedures, the Company adheres to all customer due diligence steps in the FinCEN Guidance.

Because the DOJ memorandums serve as discretionary agency guidance and do not constitute a force of law, cannabis related businesses have worked to continually renew the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer Amendment (originally the Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment) that has been included in federal annual spending bills since 2014. This amendment restricts the DOJ from using federals funds to prevent states with medical cannabis regulations from implementing laws that authorize the use, distribution, possession or cultivation of medical cannabis. In 2017, Senator Patrick Leahy (D-Vermont) introduced a parity amendment to H.R.1625 – a vehicle for the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2018, preventing federal prosecutors from using federal funds to impede the implementation of medical cannabis laws enacted at the state level, subject to Congress restoring such funding.

An additional challenge to cannabis-related businesses is that the provisions of Section 280E of the Code are being applied by the IRS to businesses operating in the medical and adult use cannabis industry. Section 280E of the Code prohibits cannabis businesses from deducting their ordinary and necessary business expenses, forcing them to pay higher effective federal tax rates than similar companies in other industries. The effective tax rate on a cannabis business depends on how large its ratio of non-deductible expenses is to its total revenues. Therefore, businesses in the legal cannabis industry may be less profitable than they would otherwise be.

Another aspect of federal law is that it provides that cannabis and cannabis products may not be transported across state lines in the United States. As a result, all cannabis consumed in a state must be grown and produced in that same state. This dynamic could make it more difficult for the Company, in the short term, to maintain a balance between supply and demand. If excess cultivation and production capacity is created in any given state and this is not matched by increased demand in that state, then this could exert downward pressure on the retail price for the products the Company sells. If too many retail licenses are offered by state authorities in any given state, then this could result in increased competition and exert downward pressure on the retail price for the products the Company sells. On the other hand, if cultivation and production in a state fails to match growing demand then, in the short term, there could be insufficient supply of product in a state to meet demand and while the Company may be able to raise its prices there could be inadequate product availability in the short term, causing the Company's revenue in that state to fall.

Progressive federal legislation has been both introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives ("U.S. House") and received positive votes in recent years. On September 26, 2019, the U.S. House passed the Secure and Fair Enforcement Banking Act of 2019 (commonly known as the "SAFE Banking Act"), which aims to provide safe harbor and guidance to financial institutions that work with legal U.S. cannabis businesses. On May 11, 2020, the U.S. House introduced the Health and Economic Recovery Omnibus Emergency Solutions Act (the "HEROES Act"), an economic stimulus package which included the language of the SAFE Banking Act. On September 28, 2020, the House introduced a revised version of the HEROES Act, including the text of the SAFE Act for a second time. The revised bill was passed by the U.S. House on October 1, 2020, before going to the Senate. On December 21, 2020, Congress reached a deal for a different \$900 billion stimulus package. On April 19, 2021, the U.S. House again passed the SAFE Banking Act. On July 14, 2022, the U.S. House voted to include the SAFE Act in the fiscal year 2023 defense budget bill (the 2023 National Defense Authorization Act – "NDAA"), but again, the U.S. Senate required the SAFE Act's removal from the NDAA. On April 23, 2023, Sen. Jeff Merkley (D-OR) and Sen. Steve Daines (R-MT), along with Rep. Dave Joyce (R-OH) and Rep. Earl Blumenauer (D-OR), reintroduced the SAFE Banking Act of 2023. While Congress may introduce and consider this and other legislation in the future that may address issues that are important to the Company, there can be no assurance of the content of any proposed legislation or that any pending legislation will ever be passed.

Further, the Marijuana Opportunity Reinvestment and Expungement Act, also known as the "MORE Act", is a proposal to legalize cannabis and expunge prior cannabis related convictions. On November 20th, 2019, the MORE Act was passed by the House Judiciary Committee, and although the U.S. House voted to pass the MORE Act on December 4, 2020, it failed

to pass in the Senate prior to the end of the 2020 legislative session. There can be no assurance that it will be passed in its current form or at all.

The Joseph R. Biden Administration and balance of power in U.S. Congress may impact the likelihood of any legal developments regarding cannabis at the national level, including the passage of the SAFE Banking Act and the MORE Act, as well as potential executive action to clarify federal policy toward the industry, although it is uncertain whether and in what manner any such federal changes will occur. On a federal level, President Biden campaigned on a platform that included cannabis decriminalization. Democrats, who are generally more supportive of federal cannabis reform than Republicans, maintained their majority in the U.S. House, although at a smaller margin than initially expected, and have gained sufficient seats in the Senate to control a majority by a single vote. As of this writing, both the SAFE Banking and MORE Acts have yet to receive action in the U.S. Senate, however, in late 2020, incoming Senate Majority Leader Charles Schumer made comments on multipole occasions suggesting that passage of these bills and potential additional favorable federal legislation are on his agenda. The Company continues to monitor U.S. federal law and the law in all jurisdictions where it is active, with respect to (a) compliance with applicable state regulatory frameworks, and (b) potential exposure and implications arising from U.S. federal law.

On July 21, 2022, U.S. Senate Majority Leader Chuck Schumer (D-NY), Senate Finance Committee Chairman Ron Wyden (D-OR) and Sen. Cory Booker (D-NJ) formally filed the Cannabis Administration and Opportunity Act ("CAOA"), a muchanticipated bill to federally legalize marijuana and promote social equity. On July 22, 2022, Assistant Democratic Leader Patty Murray (D-WA) and Sen. Gary Peters (D-MI) signed onto the CAOA. The CAOA would have legalized cannabis nationwide, ending federal prohibition and expunging records of some cannabis offenders, and it also lays out a framework to establish a federal cannabis tax and FDA regulations for cannabis products. The bill did not pass the U.S. Senate during the 2022 legislative session (i.e., the 117th Congress).

On January 17, 2023, U.S. Representative Gregory Steube (R-FL) introduced H.R. 610, the Marijuana 1-to-3 Act of 2023 ("1-to-3 Act"), which would direct the DEA to transfer marijuana from Schedule I to Schedule III. A Schedule III controlled substance is a drug, substance, or chemical that has less potential for abuse than a Schedule I or II substance; that has a currently accepted medical use; and that has low or moderate risk of dependence if abused. The 1-to-3 Act bill was referred to the Committee on Energy and Commerce, and the Committee on the Judiciary, for further consideration.

The following sections describe the legal and regulatory landscape in Nevada, the only state in which the Company currently operates. The Company believes that its operations are in full compliance with all applicable state laws, regulations and licensing requirements. Nonetheless, for the reasons described above and the risks further described under the heading "Risk Factors" herein, there are significant risks associated with the business of the Company. Readers are strongly encouraged to carefully read all of the risk factors contained under the heading "Risk Factors" herein.

Nevada Regulatory Environment

Nevada Summary

Nevada has a medical marijuana program and passed an adult-use (21 and older) legalization through the ballot box in November 2016. In 2000, Nevada voters passed a medical marijuana initiative allowing physicians to recommend cannabis for an inclusive set of qualifying conditions, including severe pain and created a limited non-commercial medical marijuana patient/caregiver system. Senate Bill 374, which passed the legislature and was signed by the Governor in 2013, expanded this program and established a for-profit regulated medical marijuana industry.

The Nevada Division of Public and Behavioral Health licensed medical marijuana establishments up until July 1, 2017, when the state's medical marijuana program merged with adult-use marijuana enforcement under the Nevada Department of Taxation ("NDOT"). In 2014, Nevada accepted medical marijuana business applications and a few months later the Division approved 182 cultivation licenses, 118 licenses for the production of edibles and infused products, 17 independent testing laboratories, and 55 medical marijuana dispensary licenses. The number of dispensary licenses was then increased to 66 by legislative action in 2015. The application process is merit-based, competitive, and is currently closed. Nevada residency is not required to own or invest in a Nevada medical cannabis business. In addition, vertical integration is neither required nor prohibited. Nevada's medical law includes patient reciprocity, which permits medical patients from certain other states to purchase medical marijuana from Nevada dispensaries. Nevada also allows dispensaries to deliver medical marijuana to patients.

Under Nevada's adult-use marijuana law, the NDOT licensed marijuana cultivation facilities, product manufacturing facilities, distributors, retail stores and testing facilities. After merging medical and adult-use marijuana regulation and

enforcement, the single regulatory agency is now known as the Marijuana Enforcement Division of the NDOT. Until November 2018, applications to the NDOT for adult-use establishment licenses were being accepted from existing medical marijuana establishments and existing liquor distributors for the adult-use distribution license.

In February 2017, the NDOT announced plans to issue "early start" adult use marijuana establishment licenses in the summer of 2017. These licenses, beginning on July 1, 2017, allowed marijuana establishments holding both a retail marijuana store and dispensary license to sell their existing medical marijuana inventory as either medical or adult-use marijuana, and expired 90 days after January 1, 2018 (per Sec. 24 of LCB File No. T002-17). Starting July 1, 2017, medical and adult-use marijuana have incurred a 15% excise tax on the first wholesale sale (calculated on the fair market value) and adult-use cannabis have incurred an additional 10% special retail marijuana sales tax in addition to any general state and local sales and use taxes.

On January 16, 2018, the Marijuana Enforcement Division of the NDOT issued final rules governing its adult-use marijuana program, pursuant to which up to sixty-six (66) permanent adult-use marijuana dispensary licenses will be issued. Existing adult-use marijuana licensees under the "early start" regulations must re-apply for licensure under the permanent rules in order to continue adult-use sales.

In May of 2019, Governor Steve Sisolak signed into law Senate Bill 32, that increased transparency in the licensing process by releasing certain information about license applicants, as well as methods used to issue licenses. In June 2019, Governor Sisolak approved Assembly Bill 132 making Nevada the first state to ban employers from refusing to hire job applicants who test positive for marijuana during the hiring process.

As of August 23, 2019, as a result of discrepancies discovered in the application process by the State of Nevada, a court issued a partial preliminary injunction against the State of Nevada from moving forward with the numerous holders of provisional licenses awarded under the December 5, 2018, provisional license awards. In addition to the preliminary injunction, the State of Nevada and various intervenors remain subject to ongoing litigation.

In early 2019, Nevada legislature passed Nevada Assembly Bill 533 ("AB 533"), which authorized the formation of the Cannabis Compliance Board (the "CCB") to be vested with the authority to license and regulate persons and establishments engaged in cannabis activities within Nevada. The CCB consists of an executive director and five board members appointed by the Governor Steve Sisolak. Board members must have expertise in a range of fields, including financial and accounting, law enforcement, medicine, regulatory and legal compliance, and cannabis. AB 533 also established the Cannabis Advisory Commission (the "CAC") which serves to study cannabis-related issues and make recommendations to the CCB. The CAC consists of 12-members appointed by the governor representing relevant state agencies and members of the cannabis industry and the public. Pursuant to AB 533, the CCB is mandated with studying the feasibility and safe implementation of licensing for lounges, in addition to their general authority and oversight of cannabis operations in Nevada. The CCB held its first meeting in July 2021, and regularly meets regarding public health and safety, license suspensions, and has been holding public workshops regarding cannabis consumption lounges.

Nevada Regulatory Framework

Nevada Revised Statues 678C and 678D regulate the Medical and Adult Use of cannabis in Nevada. Nevada Administrative Code 453D provides a regulatory framework that outlines the function of the CCB Marijuana program. Subsections of this chapter outline licensing and enforcement guidelines which guide the CCB.

Nevada Licensing Requirements

Licenses issued by CCB can be renewed annually so long as the licensee continues to demonstrate compliance with local and state law and pays the renewal fee. Dispensary/Retail store licenses have a set statutory "cap" (per NRS 453D.210 & NRS 453A.324), other license types do not. Moreover, statutory license caps can only be changed by the Nevada legislature, which meets bi-annually. Marijuana businesses in Nevada may also be governed by local ordinances, which can include caps on the number of marijuana businesses, zoning limitations, and additional screening of business owners and investors. Applicants must demonstrate (and license holders must maintain) that: (i) they are registered with the Nevada Secretary of State to do business in Nevada, (ii) they have contributed to the advancement of the State of Nevada via regular tax payments, (iii) they do not have interests in the Casino or Alcohol industries, (iv) they have the operational expertise required by the individual license type, demonstrated by submission of an operation plan, (v) they have the ability to secure the premises, resources, and personnel necessary to operate the license, (vii) they have the ability to maintain accountability of all cannabis and cannabinoid products and by-products via the state mandated "seed-to-sale" CTS to prevent diversion or unlawful access to these materials, (vii) they have the financial ability to maintain operations for the duration of the license, (viii) all owners

have passed background screening, inclusive of fingerprinting, and (ix) all local land use, zoning, and planning notices have been followed in the development of the licensed site.

Nevada Security Requirements

A licensee must maintain a fully operational alarm and video monitoring system at all times. The alarm system must secure all points of ingress and egress and be equipped with motion detectors. The 24-hour video surveillance system must record at a high-resolution format approved by the CCB and have camera coverage which covers all areas of the facility without any blind spots. Video footage must be backed-up for a minimum of 30 days in hard-form. Cultivation and product manufacturing sites are not open to the public.

Nevada Transportation and Storage Requirements

Cannabis and cannabis goods must be stored in a lockable safe or vault at any time that employees are not on location. Any storage container that is large enough to allow an employee to walk into it must have cameras placed inside. Goods to be transported to another licensee must be fully manifested via the state mandated "seed-to-sale" CTS prior to being transported.

Nevada Department of Taxation Inspections

The CCB conducts announced and unannounced inspections of all licensed facilities to determine compliance with laws and rules. The CCB will inspect a licensee in the event of a complaint indicating that the licensee has or is actively violating existing statute. The CCB will also inspect at the time of any modification, as well as at the time of annual renewal.

Nevada Product Testing and Packaging Requirements

Both medical and adult-use marijuana and marijuana products are subject to stringent testing and packaging requirements. Before usable marijuana, concentrated marijuana, or marijuana products may be packaged for further processing or for transfer to a dispensary or retail store, an independent testing laboratory licensed by the CCB must collect samples from each homogenized lot or production run for testing. These samples are tested by the independent testing laboratory for compliance with specified limits on contaminants such as yeast and mold, heavy metals and pesticides, and microbes. Testing is also done to determine the potency of the sample. Cultivation and product manufacturing facilities are also subject to random quality assurance compliance testing at the discretion of the CCB. Generally, if a sample fails any of the tests conducted by the testing laboratory, the entire lot or production run must be destroyed.

All marijuana or marijuana products intended to be sold to consumers must be individually packaged, sealed, and labeled. Edible products must be packaged in opaque, child-resistant containers. Depending on the type of marijuana product, the CCB places limit on the amount of THC that a single package of marijuana may contain or the number of ounces of product a package may contain. All packages of marijuana or marijuana product sold to consumers must have detailed labels that include, inter alia, various warnings about the effects and risks of marijuana use; the name, license number, and contact information of the dispensary or retail store conducting the sale; the name and license number of the cultivation or product manufacturing facility that harvested or produced the marijuana or marijuana product; the potency levels of the marijuana or marijuana product; and the date the marijuana or marijuana product was harvested or produced.

Public Opinion

The increase in state legalization of cannabis use is largely a result of changing public opinion in the United States. According to an October 2017 poll conducted by Gallup, 64% of Americans think that the use of cannabis should be made legal, the highest level in the 48 years that Gallup has conducted the poll. Further, in the 2016 Gallup poll, support among adults aged 18 to 34 increased from 35% to 77% between 2005 and 2016 and support among adults aged 35 to 54 increased from 35% to 61% over the same period. According to an April 2017 Quinnipiac University Poll, 94% of U.S. voters support the medical use of cannabis if recommended by a physician. An April 2021 Pew Research Center poll found that 91% of U.S. voters support legal marijuana for either medical or recreational use; only 8% of U.S. voters say marijuana should not be legal for use by adults. As of July 21, 2022, by a margin of more than 2 to 1, Americans favor a federal mandate legalizing the adult use of marijuana nationwide, according to polling data compiled by The Economist and YouGov.com. Based on a Pew Research Center survey conducted October 10-16, 2022, 88% of U.S. adults say either that marijuana should be legal

for medical and recreational use by adults (59%) or that it should be legal for medical use only (30%), and only 10% say marijuana use should not be legal.

Industry Outlook

Due to increases in state legalization and shifting public opinion, state-legal cannabis industry sales have grown substantially in recent years. According to a recent study by Marijuana Business Daily ("MJBiz"), a division of Emerald X, LLC, and leading business-to-business industry resource, legal sales of marijuana are expected to reach \$33 billion by the end of 2022, a 32% increase over 2021's total of \$25 billion. By 2026, MJBiz estimates annual sales will exceed \$52 billion.

E. Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates and judgments.

Areas requiring a significant degree of estimation and judgment relate to the determination of business combinations, impairment of long-lived assets and inventory, fair value measurements, useful lives, depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and intangible assets, the recoverability and measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities and share-based compensation.

i. Business combinations

Judgment is used in determining whether the Company's acquisition is considered a business combination or an asset acquisition. Additionally, judgment is required to assess whether any amounts paid on the achievement of agreed upon milestones represents contingent consideration or compensation for post-acquisition services. Judgment is also required to assess whether contingent consideration arising from an acquisition should be classified as a liability or equity. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement by the Company is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as a liability is remeasured at reporting period ends in accordance with the Company's accounting policies for financial liabilities.

ii. Assets and liabilities held for resale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use. Such assets, or disposal groups, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Judgment is required in the estimation of fair value less costs to sell of assets and liabilities held for sale. The comparative consolidated balance sheet is re-presented to classify assets as held for sale in the period that the respective assets are classified as held for sale.

iii. Income taxes and deferred tax assets/liabilities

The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on enacted tax rates and laws for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management applies judgment in determining the likelihood that deferred tax assets may or may not be realized. As the Company operates in the cannabis industry, it is subject to the limits of IRC Section 280E under which the Company is only allowed to deduct expenses directly related to the cost of producing the products or cost of production.

The Company recognizes uncertain income tax positions at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Recognition or measurement is reflected in the period in which the likelihood changes. Any interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax liabilities are presented within income tax expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Management applies judgment in the determination of whether an uncertain tax position has a 50% likelihood of being sustained.

iv. Impairment of long-lived assets

When there are indications that an asset may be impaired, the Company is required to estimate the asset's recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of carrying value and fair value less costs of disposal. Determining the recoverable amount requires the Company to estimate expected future cash flows associated with the assets and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Irrespective of indicators of impairment, management conducts an annual impairment test of goodwill by comparing its recoverable amount to its carrying amount. For the years ended January 31, 2022, and 2021, the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to the Nevada reporting unit exceeded its carrying amount and as such, no impairment was noted.

v. Inventories

Inventory consists of raw materials, consumables and packaging supplies used to prepare inventory for sale, work in process consisting of pre-harvested cannabis plants, by products to be extracted, oils and terpenes, and finished goods. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost determined using the weighted average cost method. The net realizable value of inventory represents the estimated selling price for inventory in the ordinary course of business, less all estimated costs of completion and selling costs. The determination of net realizable value requires significant judgment, including consideration of factors such as shrinkage, demand for inventory, and expected selling price, reserves, if any, for excess and obsolete inventory are based upon quantities on hand, projected volumes from demand forecasts and net realizable value. The estimates are judgmental in nature and are made at a point in time, using available information, expected business plans and expected market conditions.

vi. Fair value measurements

Certain assets and liabilities held by the Company are measured at fair value. In measuring fair value, management estimates the price at which assets or liabilities could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an orderly transaction. The Company uses market-observable data to the extent that such data is available. The Company follows the fair value hierarchy, utilizing Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 inputs depending on their availability. In situations where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Company makes an estimate or engages qualified, third-party valuators to perform the valuation.

vii. Estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and intangible assets

The Company's depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and intangible assets are dependent on the estimation of the assets' useful lives, which requires management to exercise judgment. The Company's assessment of any impairment of assets is dependent on its estimation of recoverable amounts that consider various factors, including market and economic conditions and the assets' useful lives.

viii. Share-based compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to measure share-based compensation. The Company's estimate of share-based compensation is dependent on measurement inputs including the share price on measurement date, exercise price of the option, volatility, risk-free rate, expected dividends, and the expected life.

ix. Convertible notes

The identification of convertible note components is based on interpretations of the substance of the contractual arrangement and therefore requires judgement from management.

x. Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial liability or equity instrument of another party. Financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Subsequent measurement depends on how the financial instrument has been classified and may be at fair value or amortized cost. For financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value, the Company calculates the estimated fair value of financial instruments using quoted market prices whenever available. When quoted market prices are not available, the Company uses standard pricing models including the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

There have been no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels during the years ended January 31, 2022, and 2021.

The Company's measures the derivative liability at fair value using Level 3 inputs.

The Company's cash, receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and income taxes payable are recorded at cost. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.

Financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost include promissory note payable, and reclamation obligation.

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees

A. Directors and Senior Management

The size of the Company's Board is currently set at four. The Company's directors are elected annually by the shareholders and hold office until the net annual general meeting or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, unless their office is earlier vacated in accordance with the BCBCA and the Company's articles of incorporation. The Company's current directors and officers, and their respective current positions, are as follows:

Name	Position
Sonny Newman	President and Chief Executive Officer.
Michael Kidd	Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and Director.
	Director, Audit Committee Member and Corporate Governance and
Todd Harrison	Compensation Committee Member
D. Bruce Macdonald	Chairman of the Board, Director, Audit Committee Member, Corporate
	Governance and Compensation Committee Member and Financial Expert.
Leonard (Will) Werden	Director, Audit Committee Member, and Corporate Governance and
	Compensation Committee Member.

The following is biographical information on our directors and officers who are acting in the capacity of director or officer as of the date hereof:

Sonny Newman, Chief Executive Officer, and President. Sonny Newman is the founder of Silver State Relief and Silver State Cultivation in Nevada, and has several other companies in electronics, manufacturing, electronics distribution, real estate development and an investment company. Mr. Newman was the sole owner of the Silver State companies when they were purchased by the Company in 2019 and today controls the largest shareholder of the Company. Mr. Newman's proven operational and financial discipline in the cannabis and other sectors shows his ability to build solid teams and make strategic investments into opportunistic markets.

Michael Kidd, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and Director. A native of Vancouver with international experience, Mr. Kidd brings an extensive background in finance with privately held firms in a variety of industries ranging from forestry to online retailing. Before joining the Company, Mr. Kidd was Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer at a privately held leading distributor with operations in Canada and Dubai. Mr. Kidd graduated from the University of British Columbia with a Bachelor of Commerce and is a Certified Public Accountant (Chartered Accountant).

Todd Harrison, Director. Mr. Harrison brings a wealth of knowledge and insight to the Company's Board, both through his near 30 years on Wall Street as VP at Morgan Stanley to President of Cramer Berkowitz, as well as through his current role as Chief Investment Officer of CB1 Capital Management. He is also an author and Emmy award-winning executive producer for his work at financial media company, Minyanville. Mr. Harrison founded CB1 Capital Management in 2017 – an investment advisory firm that invests in stocks focused on cannabinoid-based wellness solutions and other cannabis-based bio-pharmaceutical applications, therapies, and other use-cases. Mr. Harrison has lectured at numerous academic institutions, has appeared on CNBC, CNN, FOX, Bloomberg TV, and has been featured across numerous publications and platforms. Mr. Harrison has a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from Syracuse University.

D. Bruce Macdonald, Chairman of the Board and Director. Mr. Macdonald is a seasoned senior executive with more than 35 years of experience in financial services including extensive expertise in the capital markets sector. He has an impressive track record of leading innovative new business ventures in support of global growth strategies. Mr. Macdonald has exceptional expertise in building risk management and corporate governance control environments. Further, he serves on the boards of several Canadian corporations and associations and holds an ICD.D designation from the Institute of Corporate Directors.

Leonard (Will) Werden, Director. Mr. Werden has over 30 years of experience in global horticulture cultivation. He specializes in outdoor and indoor grow practices, facilities construction and design, lighting systems and practices, temperature and humidity control, and genetic strain selection. Having overseen large-scale grow operations with state-of-the-art technology, Mr. Werden brings a wealth of valuable knowledge to the Company. Mr. Werden was formerly a certified Millwright for over 30 years, and has been involved in numerous projects, including the Cyclotron Project for TRIUMF (Canada's national laboratory for particle and nuclear physics) at the University of British Columbia. Mr. Werden was also former CEO of Seashore Organic Marijuana Corp. (which transitioned to Veritas Pharma Inc.) until February 2016.

B. Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Process for Determining Executive Compensation

To determine compensation payable, the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee will generally review compensation paid for directors, CEOs and CFOs (or persons acting in a similar capacity to a CEO or a CFO) of companies of similar size and stage of development in the cannabis industry and determines an appropriate compensation reflecting the need to provide incentive and compensation for the time and effort expended by the directors and senior management while taking into account the financial and other resources of the Company. In setting the compensation, the independent director will annually review the performance of the CEO and the CFO in light of the Company's objectives and consider other factors that may have impacted the success of the Company in achieving its objectives.

Compensation Policies and Risk Management

The Board has not proceeded to an evaluation of the implications of the risks associated with the Company's compensation policies and practices.

The Company has not retained a compensation consultant during or subsequent to the most recently completed financial year.

The Company does not use a specific "benchmark group" to determine executive compensation levels.

Total compensation for executive officers includes consulting fees, long-term incentive stock options and performance milestone payments.

Hedging of Economic Risks in the Company's Securities

The Company has not adopted a policy forbidding directors or officers from purchasing financial instruments that are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of the Company's securities granted as compensation or held, directly or indirectly, by directors or officers. The Company is not, however, aware of any directors or officers having entered into this type of transaction.

Pension Plan Benefits

The Company does not have a pension plan that provides for payments or benefits to its executive officers at, following, or in connection with retirement.

Compensation for Year Ending January 31, 2023

The following table sets forth all annual and long-term compensation for services in all capacities to the Company for the most recently completed financial year of the Company ending on January 31, 2023, in respect of each of the individuals comprised of the Company's directors and members of it administrative, supervisory and management bodies for services provided by such persons to the Company and its subsidiaries. During the year ended January 31, 2023, the Company paid aggregate remuneration to its directors and officers as a group who served in the capacity of director or executive officer during such year of US\$481,008.

	Salary,			Non-equity incentive plan compensation				
Name and principal position	Consulting Fees, Retainer or Commission	Share-based awards	Option-based awards	Annual incentive plans	Long-term incentive plans	Pension value	All other compensation	Total compensation
Sonny Newman President and Chief Executive Officer	\$ 200,000	Nil	Nil	Nil	N/A	N/A	-	\$ 200,000
Michael Kidd Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and Director	\$ 156,008 ⁽¹⁾	Nil	Nil	Nil	N/A	N/A	-	\$ 156,008
Todd Harrison Director	\$ 125,000	Nil	Nil	Nil	N/A	N/A	-	\$ 125,000
D. Bruce Macdonald Chairman of the Board and Director	Nil	Nil	Nil	Nil	N/A	N/A	-	Nil
Leonard (Will) Werden Director	Nil	Nil	Nil	Nil	N/A	N/A	-	Nil

⁽¹⁾ Michael Kidd was not paid any compensation for his role as director of the Company.

C. Board Practices

The Board currently consists of four directors. Two of the four current members of the Board are considered independent directors using the definition set forth in Section 803A of the NYSE American Company Guide. The independent directors are D. Bruce Macdonald and Leonard Werden. Todd Harrison is not an independent director as he controls CB1, a company which is engaged as a consultant to the Company. Michael Kidd is not an independent director as he is an executive officer of the Company. The size of the Company is such that all the Company's operations are conducted by a small management team. The Board considers that management is effectively supervised by the independent director on an informal basis as

the independent director is involved in reviewing and supervising the operations of the Company and has full access to management.

The directors of the Company are elected annually by the shareholders and hold office until the next annual general meeting or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, unless their office is earlier vacated in accordance with the BCBCA and the Company's articles of incorporation.

The mandate of the Board, as prescribed by the BCBCA, is to manage or supervise the management of the business and affairs of the Company and to act with a view to the best interests of the Company. In doing so, the Board oversees the management of the Company's affairs directly and through its various committees. In fulfilling its mandate, the Board, among other matters, is responsible for reviewing and approving the Company's overall business strategies, reviewing and approving significant acquisitions and capital investments; reviewing major strategic initiatives to ensure that the Company's proposed actions accord with shareholder objectives; reviewing succession planning; assessing management's performance against industry standards; reviewing and approving the reports and other disclosure issued to shareholders; ensuring the effective operation of the Board; and safeguarding shareholders' equity interests through the optimum utilization of the Company's capital resources.

The Board is responsible for identifying individuals qualified to become new members of the Board and recommending to the Board, new director nominees for the next annual meeting of shareholders. New nominees must have a track record in general business management, special expertise in an area of strategic interest to the Company, the ability to devote the required time, show support for the Company's mission and strategic objectives, and a willingness to serve.

The Board also takes responsibility for identifying the principal risks of the Company's business and for ensuring these risks are effectively monitored and mitigated to the extent reasonably practicable. At this stage of the Company's development, the Board does not believe it is necessary to adopt a written mandate, as sufficient guidance is found in the applicable corporate legislation and regulatory policies. However, as the Company grows, the Board may determine it is appropriate to develop a formal written mandate.

In keeping with its overall responsibility for the stewardship of the Company, the Board is responsible for the integrity of the Company's internal control and management information systems and for the Company's policies respecting corporate disclosure and communications.

Each member of the Board understands that he is entitled, at the cost of the Company, to seek the advice of an independent expert if he reasonably considers it warranted under the circumstances. No director found it necessary to do so during the financial year ended January 31, 2023.

The Board does not, and does not consider it necessary to, have any formal structures or procedures in place to ensure that it can function independently of management. The Board of the Company briefs all new directors with respect to the policies of the Board and other relevant corporate and business information. The Board does not provide any continuing education.

The Board regularly monitors the adequacy of information given to directors, communications between the Board and management and the strategic direction and processes of the Board and its committees.

Directorships

The current directors of the Company are not presently directors of other reporting issuers in Canada or elsewhere. Other than by virtue of being an officer, there are no termination benefits for directors who serve on the Board.

Orientation and Continuing Education

The Company does not have formal orientation and training programs and does not consider these programs necessary at this stage of the Company's development. Board members are encouraged to communicate with management, auditors and technical consultants in order to keep themselves current with industry trends and developments and changes in legislation with management's assistance. Board members are also encouraged to attend related industry seminars and visit the Company's operations. Board members have full access to the Company's records.

Ethical Business Conduct

The Board views good corporate governance as an integral component to the success of the Company and to meet responsibilities to shareholders. The Company's reputation for integrity is an important asset. The Company has always set high standards of personal and business integrity for its employees and intends to continue to conduct its business in accordance with those high standards. It is expected that the Company's business conduct and the personal actions of its employees reflect the spirit and intent of the laws under which the Company operates, and its employees live. Common sense and judgment supported by a deeply ingrained tradition of integrity provide the Company's foundation.

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company's governing corporate legislation and the common law, and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual director's participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company.

Under corporate legislation, a director is required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company and exercise the level of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. In addition, as some of the directors of the Company also serve as directors and officers of other companies engaged in similar business activities, directors must comply with the conflict-of-interest provisions of the BCBCA as well as the relevant securities regulatory instruments, in order to ensure that directors exercise independent judgment in considering transactions and agreements in respect of which a director or officer has a material interest. Any interested director would be required to declare the nature and extent of his interest and would not be entitled to vote at meetings of directors which evoke such a conflict.

Nomination of Directors

The Board as a whole has responsibility for identifying potential Board candidates. The Board has not formed a nominating committee or similar committee to assist the Board with the nomination of directors for the Company. Each of the directors has contacts he can draw upon to identify new members of the Board as needed from time to time.

The Board will continually assess its size, structure and composition, taking into consideration its current strengths, skills and experience, proposed retirements and the requirements and strategic direction of the Company. As required, directors will recommend suitable candidates for consideration as members of the Board.

Board Committees – Audit Committee; Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee

The current Company committees include the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee. The Board has no other standing committees.

The Company's Audit Committee has a charter. The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing (1) the financial reports and other financial information provided by the Company to regulatory authorities and shareholders, (2) the Company's systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting, and (3) the Company's auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Audit Committee encourages continuous improvement of, and fosters adherence to, the Company's policies, procedures and practices at all levels. As at the date of this Annual Report, the following Board members sit on the Audit Committee, all of which are financially literate: Leonard (Will) Werden, D. Bruce Macdonald and Todd Harrison. D. Bruce Macdonald is the Chair of the Audit Committee.

The Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee exercises the powers and carries out the obligations provided for in its mandate and in accordance with applicable regulatory standards and requirements and has the responsibility for determining director and senior management compensation. As at the date of this Annual Report, the following Board

members sit on the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee: Leonard (Will) Werden, D. Bruce Macdonald and Todd Harrison. D. Bruce Macdonald is the Chair of the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee.

To determine compensation, the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee reviews compensation paid for directors and CEOs (or persons acting in a similar capacity to CEO, such as Presidents) of companies of similar size and stage of development in the cannabis industry and determines an appropriate compensation reflecting the need to provide incentive and compensation for the time and effort expended by the directors and senior management, while taking into account the financial and other resources of the Company. In setting the compensation, the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee annually reviews the performance of the CEO (or President) in light of the Company's objectives and considers other factors that may have impacted the success of the Company in achieving its objectives. Further information regarding director compensation appears above under "Compensation — Compensation Discussion and Analysis".

Assessments

The Board does not consider that formal assessments would be useful at this stage of the Company's development. The Board conducts informal annual assessments of the Board's effectiveness, the individual directors and its Audit Committee. To assist in its review, the Board conducts informal surveys of its directors.

D. Employees

The following outlines the number of employees of the Company for the last three fiscal years, categorized by activity (operations or corporate) and geographic location (Vancouver, B.C., Oregon or Nevada):

Financial Year Ended	Vancouver Employees	Oregon Employees	Nevada Employees	Operations Employees	Corporate Employees	Total
January 31, 2023	1	nil	109	106	4	110
January 31, 2022	1	15	119	130	5	135
January 31, 2021	1	22	119	136	6	142

E. Share Ownership

Share Capital

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. As of January 31, 2023, there were 120,047,814 common shares issued and outstanding. As of the date of this Annual Report, there were 120,047,814 common shares issued and outstanding. The holders of the common shares are entitled to one vote per share at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company. The holders of common shares are also entitled to dividends, if and when declared by the Board and the distribution of the residual assets of the Company in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.

The following table sets forth the share ownership of the persons set forth in the Compensation table at Item 6.B above, as of the date of this Annual Report:

Names and Principal Position	No. of Shares Held	Percentage Ownership (capital and voting)	Percentage of holding on a fully diluted bases (capital and voting)
Sonny Newman, President and Chief Executive Officer	12,500,000	10.4%	10.3%
Michael Kidd, Chief Financial Officer and Director	38,055	0.0%	0.0%
Todd Harrison, Director	250,000	0.2%	0.2%
D. Bruce Macdonald, Chairman of the Board and Director	1,440,000	1.2%	1.2%
Leonard (Will) Werden, Director	265,000	0.2%	0.2%

Stock Option Plan

On February 23, 2018, the Board adopted a 10% rolling stock option plan, as amended on July 9, 2021 (the "**Option Plan**"). The Option Plan provides that, subject to the requirements of the CSE, the aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to options granted under the Option Plan will not exceed 10% of the number of common shares that are issued and outstanding from time to time, less the aggregate number of common shares then reserved for issuance

pursuant to any other equity compensation arrangement. The Option Plan is administered by the Board, which has full and final authority with respect to the granting of all options thereunder subject to the express provisions of the Option Plan. Options may be granted under the Option Plan to such directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries as the Board may from time to time designate. The Option Plan is used to provide share purchase options to be granted in consideration of the level of responsibility of the executive as well as his or her impact or contribution to the longer-term operating performance of the Company. In determining the number of options to be granted to the executive officers, the Board takes into account the number of options, if any, previously granted to each executive officer, and the exercise price of any outstanding options to ensure that such grants are in accordance with the policies of CSE, and closely align the interests of the executive officers with the interests of shareholders of the Company. The directors of the Company are also eligible to receive stock option grants under the Option Plan, and the Company applies the same process for determining such awards to directors as with executive officers. The exercise prices for options is determined by the Board, but shall not, in any event, be less than the greater of the closing market price of the listed security on the CSE on the trading day prior to the date of grant, and the closing market price on the date of grant, of the options. The Option Plan provides for a cashless exercise feature which allows an option holder to exercise its vested options without paying the exercise price in cash, and in return, the Company will deliver the number of common shares to such option holder equal to the value of the options that are "in-the-money" (i.e. the market price of the common shares on the date of exercise less the exercise price of the respective options). Options may be granted for a maximum term of 10 years. The Option Plan provides that the number of common shares which may be reserved for issuance on a yearly basis to any one person under the Option Plan and any other equity compensation arrangement shall not exceed 5% of the outstanding common shares at the time of the grant. Moreover, the number of common shares which may be reserved for issuance on a yearly basis to any one consultant under the Option Plan and any other equity compensation arrangement shall not exceed 2% of the outstanding common shares at the time of the grant, and, unless the Company has received disinterred shareholder approval to do so pursuant to the policies of the CSE, the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance to insiders under the Option Plan and any other equity based compensation arrangement shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding common shares at the time of the

As of January 31, 2023, there were 4,810,000 options outstanding to purchase common shares of which 4,409,998 had vested.

The following table sets forth the options, exercisable into common shares, owned by the persons set forth in the Compensation table at Item 6.B above, as of the date of this Annual Report:

Names and Principal Position	No. of Options Held	No. of Shares Underlying the Options	Option Strike Price (C\$)	Option Expiration Date
Sonny Newman, President and Chief Executive Officer	1,000,000	1,000,000	0.70	Aug 17, 2023
Michael Kidd, Chief Financial Officer and Director	200,000	200,000	0.70	Feb 10, 2025
Todd Harrison, Director	500,000	500,000	1.00	Oct 24, 2024
	150,000	150,000	1.50	Jan 18, 2024
	200,000	200,000	0.70	Feb 10, 2025
D. Bruce Macdonald, Chairman of the Board and	250,000	250,000	0.70	Aug 17, 2023
Director	200,000	200,000	0.70	Feb 10, 2025
Leonard (Will) Werden, Director	Nil	Nil	N/A	N/A

A copy of the Option Plan is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report as Exhibit 4.1.

Restricted Share Unit Plan

On July 17, 2018, the Board adopted a restricted share unit plan (the "RSU Plan"). The RSU Plan provides for the grant of the right to acquire fully paid and non-assessable common shares ("Restricted Share Units" or "RSUs"), as applicable, in accordance with the terms of the RSU Plan to participants ("Participants"), being part-time or full-time employees or consultants of the Company or certain related entities. The maximum aggregate number of Common Shares issuable under the RSU Plan is 750,000 common shares.

The aggregate number of common shares issuable to insiders pursuant to Restricted Share Units and all other security-based compensation arrangements, at any time, shall not exceed 10% of the total number of common shares then outstanding. The aggregate number of common shares issued to insiders pursuant to Restricted Share Units and all other security-based compensation arrangements, within a one-year period, shall not exceed 10% of the total number of common shares then outstanding. The aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise of Restricted Share Units to

any one person or entity within any one-year period under all security based compensation arrangements shall not exceed 5% of the total number of common shares then outstanding.

The Board will determine the period of time during which a Restricted Share Unit is not vested and the Participant holding such Restricted Share Unit remains ineligible to receive common shares (the "Restricted Period") applicable to such Restricted Share Units. In addition, at the sole discretion of the Board, at the time of grant, the Restricted Share Units may be subject to performance conditions to be achieved by the Company, a class of Participants or by a particular Participant on an individual basis, within a Restricted Period, for such Restricted Share Units to entitle the holder thereof to receive the underlying common shares. Upon the expiry of the applicable Restricted Period (or on the deferred payment date (as described below), as applicable), a Restricted Share Unit shall be automatically settled and the underlying Common Share shall be issued to the holder of such Restricted Share Unit, which Restricted Share Unit shall then be cancelled. Any Restricted Share Unit which has been granted under the RSU Plan and which has been settled and cancelled in accordance with the terms of the RSU Plan will again be available under the RSU Plan.

Participants who are (i) employees; (ii) residents of Canada for the purposes of the *Income Tax Act* (Canada); and (iii) not subject to the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code may elect to defer to receive all or any part of their common shares until one or more deferred payment dates, which is the date after the Restricted Period, which is the earlier of (i) the date which the Participant has elected to defer receipt of common shares; and (ii) the date the Participant retires from employment with the Company or related entity. No other Participants may elect a deferred payment date.

As of January 31, 2023, there were no RSUs outstanding to purchase common shares.

A copy of the RSU Plan is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report as Exhibit 4.2.

Warrants

As of January 31, 2023, there were 3,240,000 warrants outstanding to purchase common shares.

The following table sets forth the warrants, exercisable into common shares, owned by the persons set forth in the Compensation table at Item 6.B above, as of the date of this Annual Report:

Names and Principal Position	Allotment Date	Expiration Date	Exercise Price (C\$)	Total
Sonny Newman, President and Chief Executive Officer	Dec 31, 2020 Jan 30, 2021	Dec 31, 2023 Jan 30, 2024	1.00 1.00	210,800 469,200
Michael Kidd, Chief Financial Officer and Director	N/A	N/A	N/A	Nil
Todd Harrison, Director	N/A	N/A	N/A	Nil
D. Bruce Macdonald, Chairman of the Board and Director	N/A	N/A	N/A	Nil
Leonard (Will) Werden, Director	N/A	N/A	N/A	Nil

For further information, see Management's Discussion and Analysis, attached hereto as Exhibit 15.1, and incorporated by reference herein.

F. Disclosure of a Registrant's Action to Recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation

Not applicable.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions

A. Major Shareholders

The Company's securities are recorded on the books of its transfer agent, Computershare, in registered form. The majority of such shares are, however, registered in the name of intermediaries such as brokerage houses and clearing houses on behalf of their respective clients. The Company does not have knowledge of the beneficial owners thereof.

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there are no persons or companies who beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, securities carrying more than 5% of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Company, other than the Company's President and Chief Executive Officer, Sonny Newman, through his control of The Newman Family 1999 Trust (the "**Trust**") and the AdvisorShares MSOS EFT which trades on the NYSE Arca (the "**MSOS**").

The Trust obtained 12,500,000 common shares as a result of the Company's acquisition of 100% of the membership interests of both Silver State Relief LLC and Silver State Cultivation LLC, which are Nevada limited liability companies, on January 15, 2019.

The MSOS purchases shares in the open market and as of May 16, 2023, hold 8,027,268 common shares, according to their website at www.advisorshares.com/etfs/msos

The securities held by the Trust and the MSOS do not have different voting rights from those of the other securityholders of the same class of securities.

The following table shows the record and, where known to us, the beneficial ownership of our shares by each shareholder holding at least 5% of the common shares of the Company as at May 31, 2023. As used herein, the term beneficial ownership with respect to a security is defined by Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.

Name of Shareholder	No. of Shares Held	Percentage of Issued Shares
The Newman Family 1999 Trust	12,500,000	10.4%
AdvisorShares MSOS ETF	8,027,268	6.7%

The Company is not owned directly or indirectly by another corporation, foreign government or any other natural person. There are no arrangements known to the Company, the operation of which may result in a change of control of the Company.

B. Related Party Transactions

Promissory Note to Sonny Newman

During the year ended January 31, 2023, the Company made payments totaling \$6.1 million to Sonny Newman, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in connection with the Newman Note. As at January 31, 2023, the outstanding balance of the Newman Note was \$2,026,666, and is \$506,667 as of the date of this Annual Report. See Item 4.A. "Completed Acquisitions and Dispositions - Silver State Cultivation LLC and Silver State Relief LLC – Nevada, USA – Promissory Note to Sonny Newman."

Swell Earn-Out Share Cancellations

Pursuant to the Swell Purchase Agreement, individual vendors were entitled to receive 6,000,000 Earn-Out Shares.

On February 13, 2023, and various subsequent dates in February and March 2023, C21 entered into the Cancellation Agreements in connection with the Swell Earn-Out share entitlements with a majority of the Swell Vendors. C21 agreed to collectively pay cash in the amount of \$575,136 in exchange for their entitlement to redeem 4,792,800 Swell Earn-Out Shares.

Consulting Agreement with CB1

On September 1, 2019, the Company entered into a Consulting Services Agreement (the "Consulting Agreement") dated September 1, 2019, between the Company and CB1, a Delaware limited liability company. The Company engaged CB1 for a 1-year term, which may be extended for successive 1-year terms by mutual agreement of the parties, to provide strategic and business development advice in exchange for: (a) a \$20,000 monthly consulting fee paid by the Company to CB1; (b) an option award of 500,000 shares of common stock of the Company at an exercise price equal to C\$1.00 per share, exercisable for five years, but in no event greater than 12 months after the end of the termination of the Consulting Agreement; and (c) an origination fee related to loans or investments that arise from opportunities originated by CB1 equal to one percent of the total amount of any such loan or investment. Effective February 1, 2022, the monthly consulting fee was changed to \$10,000 and the agreement terminates on March 31, 2023. Mr. Harrison is a principal of CB1. On January

28, 2021, Mr. Harrison was named to the Company's Board of Directors. The Consulting Services Agreement remains in effect as of the date of this Annual Report.

For further information, see Management's Discussion and Analysis, attached hereto as Exhibit 15.1, and incorporated by reference herein.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not Applicable.

Item 8. Financial Information

A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information

Financial Statements

See Item 18 "Financial Statements" for our Annual Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, related notes and other financial information filed with this Annual Report.

Legal Proceedings

Oregon Action

A complaint was filed in the Oregon State Circuit Court for Clackamas County, on April 29, 2019, by two current owners of Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC (the former sole member of EFF) (the "Plaintiffs"), alleging contract, employment, and statutory claims, alleging \$612,500 in damages (as amended), against the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries 320204 US Holdings Corp, EFF, Swell Companies Limited, and Phantom Brands LLC, in addition to three directors, two officers, and one former employee (the "Oregon Action"). The Company and the other defendants wholly denied the allegations and claims made in the lawsuit and are defending the lawsuit. On June 21, 2019, the Company filed Oregon Rule of Civil Procedure ("ORCP") 21 motions to dismiss all of the Plaintiffs' claims against it, its wholly owned subsidiaries, and other defendants. On December 30, 2019, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint dismissing the Company (and some of its directors and subsidiaries) from the case and reducing the amount in controversy in the Oregon Action. On May 6, 2020, the court granted the Company's ORCP 21 motions in its entirety to dismiss all of Plaintiffs' claims against the remaining defendants. The judgment of dismissal was entered by the Clackamas County court on or about October 14, 2020.

On October 22, 2020, the Company submitted a petition to recover the costs and attorney fees incurred by the Company as the prevailing party in the Oregon Action. On January 20, 2021, the Court ruled in the Company's favor, awarding the Company and its subsidiaries \$68,195.00 in attorney's fees, \$1,252 in costs, and a statutory prevailing party fee of \$640, through a supplemental judgment, entered on February 2, 2021. The judgment in favor of the Company remains unpaid and continues to collect interest at the statutory rate of 9% per annum.

On November 12, 2020, the plaintiffs appealed the order dismissing the claims alleged in their amended complaint. On March 2, 2021, the plaintiffs amended their appeal to also appeal the award of attorney fees and costs.

On October 26, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued its decision, reversing the general and supplemental judgments in favor of the Company and remanding the case to the trial court for further proceedings. The Company filed a petition for reconsideration of the Court of Appeals decision on December 7, 2022, which was denied.

On April 19, 2023, the Company filed a petition for review in the Oregon Supreme Court. The petition for review is pending. The Company cannot predict if the Oregon Supreme Court will grant certiorari to hear the appeal, and if so, the likely resolution of the appeal.

British Columbia Action

On or about September 13, 2019, the Company delivered a notice to the above-mentioned Plaintiffs of alleged breach and default under the EFF purchase and sale agreement, due to alleged unlawful, intentional acts and material misrepresentations by the Plaintiffs before and after the completion of the purchase. As a result of such breach, the Company denied the Plaintiffs' tender of their share payment notes in connection with the agreement. On or about October 14, 2019, Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC and one of its current owners, sued the Company in the Supreme Court of British Columbia to compel the issuance and delivery of the subject shares, including interests and costs (the "British Columbia Action").

On November 8, 2019, the Company responded and counterclaimed for general, special and punitive damages, including interest and costs, related to breach of contract, repudiation of contract, breach of indemnity and fraudulent and negligent misrepresentation by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs filed a response to the Company's counterclaims on or about June 5, 2020, and the parties stipulated to a form of amended pleading which included the joinder of additional parties, an owner of Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC and EFF, and additional contract and equitable claims and damages, partially duplicative to those alleged by the Plaintiffs in the Oregon Action (breach of contract, indemnity, unjust enrichment and wrongful termination claims). Plaintiffs allege \$2,774,176.05 in damages (as amended), plus unquantified additional damages, interest and costs, of which amounts are partially duplicative of the Oregon Action. This action remains in the discovery stage, and the trial date is scheduled for February 2024. It is too early to predict the resolution of the claims and counterclaims.

Settled and Dismissed Action

On or about May 30, 2019, Wallace Hill Partners Ltd. ("Wallace Hill") filed a civil claim in the Supreme Court of British Columbia alleging breach of contract and entitlement to 1,800,000 common shares of the Company, fully vested by March 1, 2019, and damages due to the lost opportunity to sell those shares after such date for a profit. On June 23, 2019, the Company circulated a letter to Wallace Hill terminating the agreement and accepting Wallace Hill's repudiation of the agreement based on Wallace Hill's previously published defamatory comments and termination of the agreement. Also, on June 23, 2019, the Company filed its response to the civil claim denying all claims and filed counterclaims alleging breach of contract, a declaratory judgment of termination of the agreement, defamation and an injunction from further defamatory comments.

On March 23, 2022, the Company and Wallace Hill entered into a mutual release agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, all parties agreed to dismiss their respective claims and to release one another from any further causes of action in connection with the subject matter of the original claims. On April 23, 2022, the parties filed a Notice of Discontinuance in the Supreme Court of British Columbia formally dismissing the civil action.

Dividends

The Company has not paid any dividends on its common shares in its last three financial years and does not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. It is contemplated by the Company that it will reinvest all future earnings in order to finance the development and growth of its business. Any future determination to pay distributions will be at the discretion of the Board and will be made in accordance with the BCBCA and will depend on the financial condition, business environment, operating results, capital requirements, any contractual restrictions on the payment of distributions and any other factors that the Board deems relevant. The Company is not restricted from declaring dividends or other distributions on its common shares.

B. Significant Changes

The Company has not experienced any significant changes since the date of the financial statements included with this Annual Report, except as disclosed in this Annual Report.

Item 9. The Offer and Listing

A. Offer and Listing

The Company's common shares are listed for trading on the CSE under the symbol "CXXI" and are quoted on the OTCQX marketplace in the United States under the symbol "CXXIF".

B. Plan of Distribution

Not Applicable.

C. Markets

The Company's common shares are listed for trading on the CSE under the symbol "CXXI" and are quoted on the OTCQX marketplace in the United States under the symbol "CXXIF".

D. Selling Shareholders

Not Applicable.

E. Dilution

Not Applicable.

F. Expenses of the Issue

Not Applicable.

Item 10. Additional Information

A. Share Capital

Not Applicable.

B. Articles

The Company is a British Columbia corporation existing under the BCBCA under incorporation number BC0320204. A copy of the Company's Articles is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report as <u>Exhibit 1.1</u>.

The Company was incorporated in the Province of British Columbia under the Company Act (British Columbia) on January 15, 1987, as Empire Creek Mines Inc. On May 11, 1987, the Company changed its name to Curlew Lake Resources Inc. Effective November 24, 2017, the Company changed its name to C21 Investments Inc. with a focus on acquiring United States assets in the state-legal cannabis industry.

The Company's Articles do not limit the Company's objects and purposes and there are no restrictions on the business the Company may carry out in the Articles.

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value. Each common share is entitled to one vote. All common shares of the Company rank equally as to dividends, voting power and participation in assets. No common shares have been issued subject to call or assessment. There are no pre-emptive or conversion rights and no provision for exchange, exercise, redemption and retraction, purchase for cancellation, surrender or sinking or purchase funds. Provisions as to modification, amendments or variation of such rights or such provisions are contained in the BCBCA and the Company's Articles.

A director or senior officer who has, directly or indirectly, a material interest in an existing or proposed material contract or transaction of the Company may not vote in respect of any such proposed material contract or transaction.

The directors may from time to time in their discretion authorize and cause the Company to:

- (a) borrow money in such amount, in such manner, on such security, from such sources and upon such terms and conditions as they think fit;
- (b) guarantee the repayment of money borrowed by any person or the performance of any obligation of any person;
- (c) issue bonds, debentures, notes and other debt obligations either outright or as continuing security for any indebtedness or liability, direct or indirect, or obligation of the Company or of any other person; and
- (d) mortgage, charge (whether by way of a specific or floating charge), grant a security interest in or give other security on the undertaking or on the whole or any part of the property and assets of the Company, both present and future.

There are no age considerations pertaining to the retirement or non-retirement of directors.

A director is not required to hold a share in the capital of the Company as a qualification for his office but shall be qualified as required by the BCBCA, to become or act as a director.

A director may hold any office or appointment with the Company (except as auditor of the Company) in conjunction with his office of director for such period and on such terms (as to remuneration or otherwise) as the Board may determine. The Company must reimburse each director for the reasonable expenses that he may incur in and about the business of the Company. If a director performs any professional or other services for the Company that in the opinion of the directors are outside the ordinary duties of a director or shall otherwise be specially occupied in or about the Company's business, he may be paid remuneration to be fixed by the Board, or, at the option of such director, by ordinary resolution, and such remuneration may be either in addition to or in substitution for any other remuneration that he may be entitled to receive.

Subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, the Company may indemnify any person. The Company must, subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, indemnify a director, officer or alternate director or a former director, officer or alternate director of the Company or a person who, at the request of the Company, is or was a director, alternate director or officer of another corporation, at a time when the corporation is or was an affiliate of the Company or a person who, at the request of the Company, is or was, or holds or held a position equivalent to that of, a director, alternate director or officer of a partnership, trust, joint venture or other unincorporated entity (in each case, an "eligible party"), and the heirs and personal representatives of any such eligible party, against all judgments, penalties or fines awarded or imposed in, or an amount paid in settlement of, a legal proceeding or investigative action (whether current, threatened, pending or completed) in which such eligible party or any of the heirs and personal representatives of such eligible party, by reason of such eligible party being or having been a director, alternate director or officer or holding or having held a position equivalent to that of a director, alternate director or officer, is or may be joined as a party or is or may be liable for or in respect of a judgment, penalty or fine in, or expenses related to the proceeding.

All of the authorized common shares of the Company are of the same class and, once issued, rank equally as to dividends, voting powers, and participation in assets. Holders of common shares are entitled to one vote for each common share held of record on all matters to be acted upon by the shareholders. Holders of common shares are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared from time to time by the Board, in its discretion, out of funds legally available therefore.

Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of common shares are entitled to receive pro rata the assets of the Company, if any, remaining after payment of all debts and liabilities. No common shares have been issued subject to call or assessment. There are no pre-emptive or conversion rights and no provisions for redemption or purchase for cancellation, surrender, sinking or purchase funds.

Provisions as to the modification, amendment or variation of such shareholder rights or provisions are contained in the BCBCA and the Articles. Unless the BCBCA or the Company's Articles otherwise provide, any action to be taken by a resolution of the shareholders may be taken by an ordinary resolution or by a vote of a majority or more of the shares represented at the shareholders' meeting.

The BCBCA contains provisions which require a "special resolution" for effecting certain corporate actions. Such a "special resolution" requires a two-thirds vote of shareholders rather than a simple majority for passage. The principle corporate actions that require a "special resolution" include:

- (a) transferring the Company's jurisdiction from British Columbia to another jurisdiction;
- (b) giving financial assistance under certain circumstances;
- (c) certain conflicts of interest by directors;
- (d) disposing of all or substantially all of the Company's undertakings;
- (e) certain alterations of share capital;
- (f) altering any restrictions on the Company's business; and
- (g) certain reorganizations of the Company.

There are no restrictions on the repurchase or redemption of common shares of the Company while there is any arrearage in the payment of dividends or sinking fund installments.

There is no liability to further capital calls by the Company.

There are no provisions discriminating against any existing or prospective holder of securities as a result of such shareholder owning a substantial number of common shares.

No right or special right attached to issued shares may be prejudiced or interfered with unless the shareholders holding shares of the class or series of shares to which the right or special right is attached consent by a separate special resolution of those shareholders.

There are no limitations on the rights to own securities.

There is no provision of the Company's Articles that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company and that would operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or corporate restructuring involving the Company (or any of its subsidiaries).

Shareholder ownership must be disclosed to Canadian securities administrators and the CSE by any shareholder who owns more than 10% of the Company's outstanding common shares.

As a Canadian public company, the convocation of our annual general meetings and special meetings are governed by Canadian corporate and securities laws, including the BCBCA, National Instrument 51-102 — Continuous Disclosure Obligations, National Instrument 52-110 — Audit Committees and National Instrument 54-101 — Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.

C. Material Contracts

Except for contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business and other than those described in Item 4. "Information on the Company" or elsewhere in this Annual Report, the only contracts entered into by the Company during the two years immediately preceding the date of this Annual Report which are material are the following:

- (i) Earn Out Share Settlement Agreement dated November 4, 2021, between the Company and certain Phantom vendors. See Item 7.B. "Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions Related Party Transactions". The Earn-Out Share Settlement Agreement is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit 4.4</u> and is incorporated by reference herein.
- (ii) Earn Out Share Settlement Agreement dated February 13, 2023, between the Company and Alleh Lindquist among others. The Earn-Out Share Settlement Agreement is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit 4.5</u> and is incorporated by reference herein.

D. Exchange Controls

Canada has no system of exchange controls. There are no Canadian restrictions on the repatriation of capital or earnings of a Canadian public company to non-resident investors. There are no laws in Canada or exchange restrictions affecting the remittance of dividends, profits, interest, royalties and other payments to non-resident holders of the Company's securities, except as discussed below under Item 10.E "Additional Information – Taxation".

There are no limitations under the laws of Canada or in the organizing documents of the Company on the right of foreigners to hold or vote securities of the Company, except that the Investment Canada Act may require review and approval by the Minister of Industry (Canada) of certain acquisitions of "control" of the Company by a "non-Canadian". The threshold for acquisitions of control is generally defined as being one-third or more of the voting shares of the Company. "Non-Canadian" generally means an individual who is not a Canadian citizen, or a corporation, partnership, trust or joint venture that is ultimately controlled by non-Canadians.

E. Taxation

Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a general summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to a U.S. Holder (as defined below) arising from and relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of common shares. This summary is for general information purposes only and does not purport to be a complete analysis or listing of all potential U.S. federal income tax considerations that may apply to a U.S. Holder arising from and relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of common shares. In addition, this summary does not take into account the individual facts and circumstances of any particular U.S. Holder that may affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences to such U.S. Holder, including without limitation specific tax consequences to a U.S. Holder under an applicable income tax treaty. Accordingly, this summary is not intended to be, and should not be construed as, legal or U.S. federal income tax advice with respect to any U.S. Holder. This summary does not address the U.S. federal net investment income, U.S. federal alternative minimum, U.S. federal estate and gift, U.S. state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences to U.S. Holders of the acquisition,

ownership, and disposition of common shares. In addition, except as specifically set forth below, this summary does not discuss applicable tax reporting requirements. Each prospective U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal, U.S. federal net investment income, U.S. federal alternative minimum, U.S. federal estate and gift, U.S. state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of common shares. No legal opinion from U.S. legal counsel or ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") has been requested, or will be obtained, regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of common shares. This summary is not binding on the IRS, and the IRS is not precluded from taking a position that is different from, and contrary to, the positions taken in this summary. In addition, because the authorities on which this summary is based are subject to various interpretations, the IRS and the U.S. courts could disagree with one or more of the conclusions described in this summary.

Scope of this Summary

Authorities

This summary is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Treasury Regulations (whether final, temporary, or proposed), published rulings of the IRS, published administrative positions of the IRS, the Convention Between Canada and the United States of America with Respect to Taxes on Income and on Capital, signed September 26, 1980, as amended (the "Canada-U.S. Tax Convention"), and U.S. court decisions that are applicable and, in each case, as in effect and available, as of the date of this document. Any of the authorities on which this summary is based could be changed in a material and adverse manner at any time, and any such change could be applied on a retroactive or prospective basis which could affect the U.S. federal income tax considerations described in this summary. This summary does not discuss the potential effects, whether adverse or beneficial, of any proposed legislation that, if enacted, could be applied on a retroactive, current or prospective basis.

U.S. Holders

For purposes of this summary, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of common shares that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- an individual who is a citizen or resident of the U.S.;
- a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) organized under the laws of the U.S., any state thereof or the District of Columbia;
- an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or
- a trust that (1) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the U.S. and the control of one or more U.S. persons for all substantial decisions or (2) has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

U.S. Holders Subject to Special U.S. Federal Income Tax Rules Not Addressed

This summary does not address the U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to U.S. Holders that are subject to special provisions under the Code, including, but not limited to, U.S. Holders that: (a) are tax-exempt organizations, qualified retirement plans, individual retirement accounts, or other tax-deferred accounts; (b) are financial institutions, underwriters, insurance companies, real estate investment trusts, or regulated investment companies; (c) are broker-dealers, dealers, or traders in securities or currencies that elect to apply a mark-to-market accounting method; (d) have a "functional currency" other than the U.S. dollar; (e) own common shares as part of a straddle, hedging transaction, conversion transaction, constructive sale, or other integrated transaction; (f) acquired common shares in connection with the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation for services; (g) hold common shares other than as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment purposes); (h) are subject to special tax accounting rules; (i) are partnerships and other pass-through entities (and investors in such partnerships and entities); (j) are S corporations (and shareholders or investors in such S corporations); (k) own, have owned or will own (directly, indirectly, or by attribution) 10% or more of the total combined voting power or value of the outstanding common shares of the Company; (1) are U.S. expatriates or former long-term residents of the U.S.; (m) hold common shares in connection with a trade or business, permanent establishment, or fixed base outside the United States; or (n) are subject to the alternative minimum tax. U.S. Holders that are subject to special provisions under the Code, including, but not limited to, U.S. Holders described immediately above, should consult their own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal, U.S. federal net investment income, U.S. federal alternative minimum, U.S. federal estate and gift, U.S. state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences relating to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of common shares.

If an entity or arrangement that is classified as a partnership (or other "pass-through" entity) for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds common shares, the U.S. federal income tax consequences to such entity and the partners (or other owners) of such entity generally will depend on the activities of the entity and the status of such partners (or owners). This summary does not address the tax consequences to any such owner. Partners (or other owners) of entities or arrangements that are classified as partnerships or as "pass-through" entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes should consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences arising from and relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of common shares.

Ownership and Disposition of Common Shares

The following discussion is subject to the rules described below under the heading "Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules".

Taxation of Distributions

A U.S. Holder that receives a distribution, including a constructive distribution, with respect to a common share will be required to include the amount of such distribution in gross income as a dividend (without reduction for any foreign income tax withheld from such distribution) to the extent of the current or accumulated "earnings and profits" of the Company, as computed for U.S. federal income tax purposes. . A dividend generally will be taxed to a U.S. Holder at ordinary income tax rates if the Company is a PFIC for the tax year of such distribution or the preceding tax year. To the extent that a distribution exceeds the current and accumulated "earnings and profits" of the Company, such distribution will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to the extent of a U.S. Holder's tax basis in the common shares and thereafter as gain from the sale or exchange of such common shares (see "Sale or Other Taxable Disposition of Common Shares" below). However, the Company may not maintain the calculations of its earnings and profits in accordance with U.S. federal income tax principles, and each U.S. Holder may have to assume that any distribution by the Company with respect to the common shares will constitute ordinary dividend income. Dividends received on common shares by corporate U.S. Holders generally will not be eligible for the "dividends received deduction". Subject to applicable limitations and provided the Company is eligible for the benefits of the Canada-U.S. Tax Convention, or the common shares are readily tradable on a United States securities market, dividends paid by the Company to non-corporate U.S. Holders, including individuals, generally will be eligible for the preferential tax rates applicable to long-term capital gains for dividends, provided certain holding period and other conditions are satisfied, including that the Company not be classified as a PFIC (as defined below) in the tax year of distribution or in the preceding tax year. The dividend rules are complex, and each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the application of such rules.

Sale or Other Taxable Disposition of Common Shares

A U.S. Holder will generally recognize gain or loss on the sale or other taxable disposition of common shares in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between (a) the amount of cash plus the fair market value of any property received and (b) such U.S. Holder's tax basis in such common shares sold or otherwise disposed of. Any such gain or loss recognized on such sale or other disposition generally will be capital gain or loss, which will be long-term capital gain or loss if, at the time of the sale or other disposition, such common shares are held for more than one year.

Preferential tax rates apply to long-term capital gains of a U.S. Holder that is an individual, estate, or trust. There are currently no preferential tax rates for long-term capital gains of a U.S. Holder that is a corporation. Deductions for capital losses are subject to significant limitations under the Code.

Passive Foreign Investment Company ("PFIC") Rules

If the Company were to constitute a PFIC for any year during a U.S. Holder's holding period, then certain potentially adverse rules would affect the U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. Holder resulting from the acquisition, ownership and disposition of common shares. The Company believes that it was not a PFIC for its most recently completed tax year and based on current business plans and financial expectations, the Company does not anticipate that it will be a PFIC for its current tax year. No opinion of legal counsel or ruling from the IRS concerning the status of the Company as a PFIC has been obtained or is currently planned to be requested. However, PFIC classification is fundamentally factual in nature, generally cannot be determined until the close of the tax year in question, and is determined annually. Additionally, the analysis depends, in part, on the application of complex U.S. federal income tax rules, which are subject to differing interpretations. Consequently, there can be no assurance that the Company has never been and will not become a PFIC for any tax year during which U.S. Holders hold common shares.

In addition, in any year in which the Company is classified as a PFIC, a U.S. Holder will be required to file an annual report with the IRS containing such information as Treasury Regulations and/or other IRS guidance may require. A failure to satisfy such reporting requirements may result in an extension of the time period during which the IRS can assess a tax. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the requirements of filing such information returns under these rules, including the requirement to file an IRS Form 8621 annually.

The Company generally will be a PFIC under Section 1297 of the Code if, after the application of certain "look-through" rules with respect to subsidiaries in which the Company holds at least 25% of the value of such subsidiary, for a tax year, (a) 75% or more of the gross income of the Company for such tax year is passive income (the "income test") or (b) 50% or more of the value of the Company's assets either produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income (the "asset test"), based on the quarterly average of the fair market value of such assets. "Gross income" generally includes all sales revenues less the cost of goods sold, plus income from investments and incidental or outside operations or sources, and "passive income" generally includes, for example, dividends, interest, certain rents and royalties, certain gains from the sale of stock and securities, and certain gains from commodities transactions. Active business gains arising from the sale of commodities generally are excluded from passive income if substantially all of a foreign corporation's commodities are stock in trade or inventory, depreciable property used in a trade or business or supplies regularly used or consumed in the ordinary course of its trade or business, and certain other requirements are satisfied.

If the Company were a PFIC in any tax year during which a U.S. Holder held common shares, such holder generally would be subject to special rules with respect to "excess distributions" made by the Company on the common shares and with respect to gain from the disposition of common shares. An "excess distribution" generally is defined as the excess of distributions with respect to the common shares received by a U.S Holder in any tax year over 125% of the average annual distributions such U.S. Holder has received from the Company during the shorter of the three preceding tax years, or such U.S. Holder's holding period for the common shares. Generally, a U.S. Holder would be required to allocate any excess distribution or gain from the disposition of the common shares ratably over its holding period for the common shares. Such amounts allocated to the year of the disposition or excess distribution would be taxed as ordinary income, and amounts allocated to prior tax years would be taxed as ordinary income at the highest tax rate in effect for each such year and an interest charge at a rate applicable to underpayments of tax would apply.

While there are U.S. federal income tax elections that sometimes can be made to mitigate these adverse tax consequences (including the "QEF Election" under Section 1295 of the Code and the "Mark-to-Market Election" under Section 1296 of the Code), such elections are available in limited circumstances and must be made in a timely manner.

U.S. Holders should be aware that, for each tax year, if any, that the Company is a PFIC, the Company can provide no assurances that it will satisfy the record _keeping requirements of a PFIC, or that it will make available to U.S. Holders the information such U.S. Holders require to make a QEF Election with respect to the Company or any subsidiary that also is classified as a PFIC.

Certain additional adverse rules may apply with respect to a U.S. Holder if the Company is a PFIC, regardless of whether the U.S. Holder makes a QEF Election. These rules include special rules that apply to the amount of foreign tax credit that a U.S. Holder may claim on a distribution from a PFIC. Subject to these special rules, foreign taxes paid with respect to any distribution in respect of stock in a PFIC are generally eligible for the foreign tax credit. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential application of the PFIC rules to the ownership and disposition of common shares, and the availability of certain U.S. tax elections under the PFIC rules.

Additional Considerations

Receipt of Foreign Currency

The amount of any distribution paid to a U.S. Holder in foreign currency, or payment received on the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of common shares, generally will be equal to the U.S. dollar value of such foreign currency based on the exchange rate applicable on the date of receipt (regardless of whether such foreign currency is converted into U.S. dollars at that time). A U.S. Holder will have a basis in the foreign currency equal to its U.S. dollar value on the date of receipt. Any U.S. Holder who converts or otherwise disposes of the foreign currency after the date of receipt may have a foreign currency exchange gain or loss that would be treated as ordinary income or loss, and generally will be U.S. source income or loss for foreign tax credit purposes. Different rules apply to U.S. Holders who use the accrual method with respect to foreign currency received upon the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of the common shares. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own U.S. tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of receiving, owning, and disposing of foreign currency.

Foreign Tax Credit

Dividends paid on the common shares will be treated as foreign-source income, and generally will be treated as "passive category income" or "general category income" for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. The Code applies various complex limitations on the amount of foreign taxes that may be claimed as a credit by U.S. taxpayers. In addition, Treasury Regulations that apply to taxes paid or accrued (the "Foreign Tax Credit Regulations") impose additional requirements for Canadian withholding taxes to be eligible for a foreign tax credit, and there can be no assurance that those requirements will be satisfied.

Subject to the PFIC rules and the Foreign Tax Credit Regulations, each as discussed above, a U.S. Holder that pays (whether directly or through withholding) Canadian income tax with respect to dividends paid on the common shares generally will be entitled, at the election of such U.S. Holder, to receive either a deduction or a credit for such Canadian income tax. Generally, a credit will reduce a U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability on a dollar-for-dollar basis, whereas a deduction will reduce a U.S. Holder's income that is subject to U.S. federal income tax. This election is made on a year-by-year basis and applies to all foreign taxes paid (whether directly or through withholding) by a U.S. Holder during a year. The foreign tax credit rules are complex and involve the application of rules that depend on a U.S. Holder's particular circumstances. Accordingly, each U.S. Holder should consult its own U.S. tax advisor regarding the foreign tax credit rules.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Under U.S. federal income tax law and Treasury Regulations, certain categories of U.S. Holders must file information returns with respect to their investment in, or involvement in, a foreign corporation. For example, U.S. return disclosure obligations (and related penalties) are imposed on individuals who are U.S. Holders that hold certain specified foreign financial assets in excess of certain threshold amounts. The definition of specified foreign financial assets includes not only financial accounts maintained in foreign financial institutions, but also, unless held in accounts maintained by a financial institution, any stock or security issued by a non-U.S. person, any financial instrument or contract held for investment that has an issuer or counterparty other than a U.S. person and any interest in a foreign entity. U.S. Holders may be subject to these reporting requirements unless their common shares are held in an account at certain financial institutions. Penalties for failure to file certain of these information returns are substantial. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the requirements of filing information returns, including the requirement to file an IRS Form 8938.

Payments made within the U.S. or by a U.S. payor or U.S. middleman, of dividends on, and proceeds arising from the sale or other taxable disposition of, common shares will generally be subject to information reporting and backup withholding tax, currently at the rate of 24%, if a U.S. Holder (a) fails to furnish such U.S. Holder's correct U.S. taxpayer identification number (generally on IRS Form W-9), (b) furnishes an incorrect U.S. taxpayer identification number, (c) is notified by the IRS that such U.S. Holder has previously failed to properly report items subject to backup withholding tax, or (d) fails to certify, under penalty of perjury, that such U.S. Holder has furnished its correct U.S. taxpayer identification number and that the IRS has not notified such U.S. Holder that it is subject to backup withholding tax. However, certain exempt persons generally are excluded from these information reporting and backup withholding rules. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the U.S. backup withholding tax rules will be allowed as a credit against a U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, or will be refunded, if such U.S. Holder furnishes required information to the IRS in a timely manner.

The discussion of reporting requirements set forth above is not intended to constitute a complete description of all reporting requirements that may apply to a U.S. Holder. A failure to satisfy certain reporting requirements may result in an extension of the time period during which the IRS can assess a tax, and under certain circumstances, such an extension may apply to assessments of amounts unrelated to any unsatisfied reporting requirement. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the information reporting and backup withholding rules.

THE ABOVE SUMMARY IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE A COMPLETE ANALYSIS OF ALL TAX CONSIDERATIONS APPLICABLE TO U.S. HOLDERS WITH RESPECT TO THE ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP, AND DISPOSITION OF COMMON SHARES. U.S. HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE TAX CONSIDERATIONS APPLICABLE TO THEM IN LIGHT OF THEIR OWN PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents

Not Applicable.

G. Statement by Experts

Not Applicable.

H. Documents on Display

The Company is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and files reports and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov ("EDGAR")

The documents concerning the Company referred to in this Annual Report may be inspected at the Company's registered and records office, located at 19th Floor, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3H4.

The Company is subject to reporting requirements as a "reporting issuer" under applicable securities legislation in Canada and as a "foreign private issuer" under the Exchange Act. As a result, the Company must file periodic reports and other information with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and the SEC.

A copy of this Annual Report and certain other documents referred to in this Annual Report and other documents filed by the Company may be retrieved from the system for electronic document analysis and retrieval ("SEDAR") system maintained by the Canadian securities regulatory authorities at www.sedar.ca or from EDGAR.

I. Subsidiary Information

Not Applicable.

J. Annual Report to Security Holders

Not Applicable.

Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Company, through its financial assets and liabilities, is exposed to various risks. The Company has established policies and procedures to manage these risks, with the objective of minimizing any adverse effect that changes in these variables could have on these consolidated financial statements. The following analysis provides a measurement of risks as at the date of this Annual Report:

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company deposits the majority of its cash with high credit quality financial institutions in the United States. The Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipating any investment and financing activities. Management and the Board are actively involved in the review, planning and approval of significant expenditures and commitments.

The Company's consolidated financial statements for year ended January 31, 2023, have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will be able to continue its operations and realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.

The Company takes a disciplined approach to financing and intends to protect shareholder value by raising capital strategically. The Company is assessing various opportunities for additional financing through either debt or equity to be used for corporate working capital and possible future acquisitions.

Further, there remains uncertainty about the U.S. federal government's position on cannabis with respect to cannabis-legal states. A change in its enforcement policies could impact the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern and have a material adverse impact on the business.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates, especially given the interest rate environment since the beginning of 2022. The Company is not subject to any interest rate volatility as its long-term debt instruments and convertible notes are carried at a fixed interest rate throughout their term.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the degree of volatility in these rates due to the timing of their accounts payable balances. The risk is mitigated by timely payment of creditors and monitoring of foreign exchange fluctuations by management. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company did not use derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

Commodity Price Risk

The Company's operations do not involve the direct input or output of any commodities and therefore it is not subject to any significant commodity price risk. In addition, the Company does not have any equity investment in other listed public companies, and therefore it is not subject to any significant stock market price risk.

The Company is not a party to any foreign currency hedge contracts as at the date of this Annual Report.

Inflation Risk

Inflationary factors such as increases in the cost of our product and overhead costs may adversely affect our operating results. Although we do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our financial position or results of operations to date, a continued high rate of inflation in the future may have an adverse effect on our ability to maintain current levels of gross profit and selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales if the selling prices of our services do not increase with these increased costs.

Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities

A. - C.

Not Applicable.

D. American Depository Receipts

The Company does not have securities registered as American Depository Receipts.

PART II.

Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies

None.

Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds

No modifications or qualifications have been made to the instruments defining the rights of the holders of the Company's common shares and no material amount of assets securing the Company's securities has been withdrawn or substituted by the Company or anyone else, other than in the ordinary course of business.

Item 15. Controls and Procedures

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as at January 31, 2023 (the "Evaluation Date").

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of the Evaluation Date.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company's management is responsible for designing, establishing and maintaining a system of internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)) to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information prepared by the Company for external purposes is reliable and has been recorded, processed and reported in an accurate and timely manner in accordance with GAAP as issued by FASB. The Board is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities. The Audit Committee fulfills its role of ensuring the integrity of the reported information through its review of the interim and annual financial statements. Management reviewed the results of their assessment with the Company's Audit Committee.

Because of its inherent limitations, the Company's internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all possible misstatements or fraud. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

To evaluate the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, management has used the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013), which is a suitable, recognized control framework established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that certain of our internal controls over financial reporting were not effective as of the Evaluation Date, due to the existence of material weaknesses related to inadequate segregation of duties in certain financial reporting processes, lack of evidence and review of certain internal controls processes, and partly due to the Company's small size insufficient personnel with an appropriate level of technical accounting knowledge and experience relative to the Company's complexity and financial accounting and reporting requirements resulting in certain errors within the Company's consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP.

The Company is committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment. In order to address the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting noted above, management with oversight and direction from the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors is developing a remediation plan. To remediate the material weakness and significant deficiencies described above, management is currently considering the following actions:

- retain additional in-house accounting personnel and continue to enhance our internal finance and accounting organizational structure.
- strengthen the direct management oversight of complex transactions, along with the use of legal and accounting professionals; and
- expand the scope of services with the Company's independent outside accounting consulting firm to assist with additional oversight of its financial statements and regulatory filings.

As we continue to develop and implement our remediation plan, additional remediation steps will be identified and adopted.

We will consider the material weaknesses remediated after the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time, and management has concluded that the controls are operating effectively.

The Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Disclosure Controls or its Internal Controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

(c) Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company's registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Under the Jumpstart Our Business & Startups Act ("JOBS Act"), emerging growth companies are exempt from Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which generally requires public companies to provide an independent auditor attestation of management's assessment of the effectiveness of their internal control over financial reporting. The Company qualifies as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act and therefore has not included an independent auditor attestation of management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting.

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the year ended January 31, 2023, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Item 16. [Reserved]

Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board has determined that D. Bruce Macdonald qualifies as a financial expert and is independent (as determined under Exchange Act Rule 10A-3 and section 803A of the NYSE American Company Guide).

Item 16B. Code of Ethics

On February 4, 2019, the Company adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all employees of the Company, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. A copy of the Company's Code of Ethics will be provided to any person requesting the same without charge. To request a copy of our Code of Ethics, please make a written request to our Chief Financial Officer at the Company's corporate office, located at 19th Floor, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3H4.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company has not made any modification, material departure, waiver or implicit waiver of the Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Marcum, LLP, Certified Public Accountants, New York, NY (PCAOB ID #688) ("Marcum"), has been the external auditor of the Company since November 30, 2022. The predecessor external auditor of the Company prior to the appointment of Marcum was Baker Tilly US, LLP ("Baker Tilly"). The aggregate fees billed by the Company's external auditors, Marcum and Baker Tilly, in each of the last two financial years of the Company for services in each of the categories indicated are as follows:

Financial Year End	Audit Fees	Audit Related Fees ⁽¹⁾	Tax Fees ⁽²⁾	All Other Fees ⁽³⁾
January 31, 2023	C\$389,875	C\$47,572	C\$38,815	Nil
January 31, 2022	C\$460,938	C\$71,500	C\$77,100	37,400

- (1) Pertains to assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company's financial statements and that are not reported under "Audit Fees".
- (2) Pertains to professional services for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.
- (3) Pertains to products and services other than services reported under the other categories.

The Audit Committee has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services, however the Company's external auditor has been approved by majority vote of the Audit Committee and 100% of the services described above were approved by the Audit Committee. At no time since February 1, 2020, was a recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by the Company's Board of Directors.

Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees

Not Applicable.

Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Not applicable.

Item 16F. Changes in Registrant's Certifying Accountant

At the Company's request, the Company's former independent auditor, Baker Tilly, resigned effective November 30, 2022, and Marcum was engaged as the Company's new independent auditor effective November 30, 2022. The disclosure required pursuant to this Item 16F was included in the Company's Current Report on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on December 1, 2022, in Exhibits 99.1, which are hereby incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.

Item 16G. Corporate Governance

Not Applicable.

Item 16H. Mine Safety Disclosure.

Not Applicable.

Item 16I. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not Applicable.

Item 16J. Insider Trading Policies

Not Applicable.

PART III.

Item 17. Financial Statements

See Item 18 "Financial Statements".

Item 18. Financial Statements

The following financial statements pertaining to the Company are filed as part of this Annual Report:

Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 audited in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended January 31, 2021 audited in accordance with U.S. GAAP.



C21 INVESTMENTS INC.

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS	1
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	2
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	3
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS	4
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	5-29



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of C21 Investments Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of C21 Investments Inc. (the "Company") as of January 31, 2023, the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited the adjustments described in Note 2 that were applied to restate the 2022 consolidated financial statements to correct an error. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2022 consolidated financial statements of the Company other than with respect to the adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2022 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Marcun LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2022.

San Jose, California June 13, 2023

PCAOB #ID 688



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors C21 Investments Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited, before the effects of the adjustments described in Note 2, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of C21 Investments Inc. (the "Company") as of January 31, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity, and cashflows for the year then ended, and related notes. (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements, before the effects of the adjustments described in Note 2, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the adjustments for the change described in Note 2 and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance about whether such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. Those adjustments were audited by other auditors.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We served as the Company's auditor from 2020 to 2022.

Baker Tilly US, LLP

Irvine, CA

August 15, 2022

C21 INVESTMENTS INC. Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Expressed in U.S. dollars)

		January 31,
	January 31,	2022 (As restated -
	2023 \$	Note 2) \$
ASSETS	Ψ	Ψ
Current assets		
Cash	1,891,772	3,067,983
Receivables	412,310	210,423
Inventory Prepaid expenses and deposits	4,173,573 881,628	4,054,473 773,450
Assets classified as held for sale	1,383,089	2,178,145
Acoustic distance as held for said	8,742,372	10,284,474
Non-current assets	0,1 12,012	. 0,20 .,
Property and equipment	4,685,118	4,869,593
Right-of-use assets	8,385,533	8,875,884
Intangible assets	7,886,825	9,224,165
Goodwill	28,541,323	28,541,323
Security deposit	46,871	49,011
Deferred tax asset Total assets	23,362 58,311,404	61,844,450
Total assets	56,511,404	01,044,430
LIABILITIES		
Current liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	2,921,426	2,508,869
Promissory note payable - current portion	2,026,667	6,080,000
Convertible promissory notes	1,156,259	1,281,442
Income taxes payable	7,736,858	4,870,170
Deferred revenue	94,068	205 000
Lease liabilities - current portion Liabilities classified as held for sale	398,723 640,266	325,698 874,379
Deferred income tax liability	040,200	33,558
	14,974,267	15,974,116
Non-current liabilities		
Lease liabilities	8,554,702	8,953,425
Deposit liability	175,000	100,000
Promissory note payable	-	2,026,667
Derivative liability	239,700	1,006,368
Reclamation obligation Total liabilities	52,659 23,996,328	55,272 28.115.848
Total habilities	23,990,320	20,113,040
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 17 and 20)		
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Common stock, no par value; unlimited shares authorized; 120,047,814 and 120,047,814	405 445 700	405 000 054
shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively Commitment to issue shares	105,445,792	105,236,351
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	628,141 (2,287,145)	628,141 (2,370,967)
Deficit	(69,471,712)	(69,764,923)
Total shareholders' equity	34,315,076	33,728,602
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	58,311,404	61,844,450
On behalf of the Board:		
"Bruce Macdonald" Director "Micha	el Kidd"	Director

C21 INVESTMENTS INC.

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except number of shares)

Revenue		Years en	ded January 31
Revenue 28,888,410 32,982,976 Cost of sales 15,487,264 14,172,991 Gross profit 13,401,146 18,809,985 Selling, general and administrative expenses 9,445,908 9,055,174 Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Interest expenses (20,726) - Interest expenses income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes 1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.00			2022
Revenue 28,888,410 32,982,976 Cost of sales 15,487,264 14,172,991 Gross profit 13,401,146 18,809,985 Selling, general and administrative expenses 9,445,908 9,055,174 Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense - (20,746) - Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) - - Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,068) - Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 - Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,303 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income 337,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations		2022	`
Revenue 28,888,410 32,982,976 Cost of sales 15,487,264 14,172,991 Gross profit 13,401,146 18,809,985 Selling, general and administrative expenses 9,445,908 9,055,174 Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense (230,462) 8,76,290 Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Inpairment loss (20,726) - Interest expenses (456,691) (1,077,068) Other (expensess) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,303 17,132,40 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 377,033 9,188,089 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841)			
Cost of sales 15,487,264 14,172,991 Gross profit 13,401,146 18,809,985 Selling, general and administrative expenses 9,445,908 9,055,174 Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) - Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,068) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 377,033 9,188,089 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089		\$	\$
Cost of sales 15,487,264 14,172,991 Gross profit 13,401,146 18,809,985 Selling, general and administrative expenses 9,445,908 9,055,174 Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) - Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,068) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 377,033 9,188,089 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089	Revenue	28,888,410	32,982,976
Gross profit 13,401,146 18,809,985 Selling, general and administrative expenses 9,445,908 9,055,174 Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) - Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,088) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations (0.01) <	Cost of sales		
Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) - Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,088) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) (2,000,000) Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations 0.01 0.10 Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	Gross profit		
Income from operations 3,955,238 9,754,811 Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) - Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,088) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) (2,000,000) Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations 0.01 0.10 Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584			
Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) (20,726) Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,068) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 377,033 9,188,089 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.01 Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 <td>Selling, general and administrative expenses</td> <td>9,445,908</td> <td>9,055,174</td>	Selling, general and administrative expenses	9,445,908	9,055,174
Accretion expense - (230,462) Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) (20,726) Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,068) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 377,033 9,188,089 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.01 Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 <td>Income from operations</td> <td>3 055 238</td> <td>0 75/ 811</td>	Income from operations	3 055 238	0 75/ 811
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 742,483 8,576,290 Impairment loss (20,726) - Interest expense (456,691) (1,077,068) Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 200,000 200,000 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047	income non operations	3,933,230	9,754,011
Impairment loss (20,726)	Accretion expense	-	(230,462)
Interest expense Other (expenses) income (455,691) (1,077,068) (28,996) (1,077,068) (28,996) (108,470) (108,470) Net income from continuing operations before income taxes Income tax expense 4,191,308 (2,809,768) 17,132,041 (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 377,033 9,188,089 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities	742,483	8,576,290
Other (expenses) income (28,996) 108,470 Net income from continuing operations before income taxes 4,191,308 17,132,041 Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 2 Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	Impairment loss	(20,726)	-
Net income from continuing operations before income taxes4,191,308 (2,809,768)17,132,041 (4,934,467)Net income from continuing operations after income taxes1,381,54012,197,574Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes(1,088,329)(2,242,644)Net income293,2119,954,930Other comprehensive income (loss) Cumulative translation adjustment83,822(766,841)Comprehensive income377,0339,188,089Basic income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Diluted income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations(0.01)(0.02)Basic income per share0.000.08Diluted income per share0.000.08Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic120,047,814118,308,584	Interest expense	(456,691)	(1,077,068)
Income tax expense (2,809,768) (4,934,467) Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 377,033 9,188,089 Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	Other (expenses) income	(28,996)	108,470
Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 38,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	Net income from continuing operations before income taxes	4,191,308	17,132,041
Net income from continuing operations after income taxes 1,381,540 12,197,574 Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes (1,088,329) (2,242,644) Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) 38,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	Income tax expense	(2,809,768)	(4,934,467)
Net income 293,211 9,954,930 Other comprehensive income (loss) State of the comprehensive income (loss) Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	Net income from continuing operations after income taxes	1,381,540	12,197,574
Other comprehensive income (loss)Cumulative translation adjustment83,822(766,841)Comprehensive income377,0339,188,089Basic income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Diluted income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations(0.01)(0.02)Basic income per share0.000.08Diluted income per share0.000.08Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic120,047,814118,308,584	Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes	(1,088,329)	(2,242,644)
Other comprehensive income (loss)Cumulative translation adjustment83,822(766,841)Comprehensive income377,0339,188,089Basic income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Diluted income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations(0.01)(0.02)Basic income per share0.000.08Diluted income per share0.000.08Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic120,047,814118,308,584	Net income	293 211	9 954 930
Cumulative translation adjustment 83,822 (766,841) Comprehensive income 377,033 9,188,089 Basic income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Diluted income per share from continuing operations 0.01 0.10 Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations (0.01) (0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584	NOT INCOME.	200,211	3,304,300
Comprehensive income377,0339,188,089Basic income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Diluted income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations(0.01)(0.02)Basic income per share0.000.08Diluted income per share0.000.08Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic120,047,814118,308,584	Other comprehensive income (loss)		
Basic income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Diluted income per share from continuing operations0.010.10Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations(0.01)(0.02)Basic income per share0.000.08Diluted income per share0.000.08Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic120,047,814118,308,584	,		
Diluted income per share from continuing operations Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations Basic income per share 0.00 0.02) Basic income per share 0.00 0.08 Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814	Comprehensive income	377,033	9,188,089
Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations(0.01)(0.02)Basic income per share0.000.08Diluted income per share0.000.08Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic120,047,814118,308,584		0.01	0.10
Basic income per share0.000.08Diluted income per share0.000.08Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic120,047,814118,308,584		0.01	
Diluted income per share 0.00 0.08 Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584		(0.01)	(0.02)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 120,047,814 118,308,584			
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 122 880 907 121 1/1 677			
vergified average number of common shares outstanding - diluted	Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted	122,880,907	121,141,677

C21 INVESTMENTS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except number of shares)

				Accumulated		
			Commitment	other		Total
	Number of	Common	to issue co	to issue comprehensive	S	shareholders'
	shares	stock	shares	loss	Deficit	equity
	#	↔	\$	\$	↔	S
Balance, January 31, 2021 (As restated - Note 2)	117,057,860	103,636,830	649,928	(1,604,126)	(79,719,853)	22,962,779
Commitment to issue shares on purchase of EFF	19,774	21,787	(21,787)			•
Shares issued on exercise of Phantom Farms warrants	456,100	533,326		•	•	533,326
Shares issued on exercise of guaranteed warrants	1,214,080	•	•	•	•	•
Shares issued - settlement of earn out shares	1,300,000	622,639	•	1	•	627,939
Share-based compensation	1	366,469	•	•	•	366,469
Net income and other comprehensive loss for the year	•	-	-	(766,841)	9,954,930	9,188,089
Balance, January 31, 2022 (As restated - Note 2)	120,047,814	105,236,351	628,141	(2,370,967)	(69,764,923)	33,728,602
Share-based compensation	ı	209,441	•	•	•	209,441
Net income and other comprehensive income for the year	-	-	-	83,822	293,211	377,033
Balance, January 31, 2023	120,047,814	105,445,792	628,141	(2,287,145)	(69,471,712)	34,315,076

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

	Years end	ed January 31, 2022
		(As restated -
	2023	Note 2
ODEDATING ACTIVITIES	\$	\$
OPERATING ACTIVITIES Not income after tayon from continuing energtions	1 201 540	12 107 57/
Net income after taxes from continuing operations Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	1,381,540	12,197,574
Adjustments to reconcile her income to her cash provided by operating activities. Accretion expense	_	230,462
Amortization of right-of-use assets	490,351	461,364
Deferred income tax (recovery) expense	(56,920)	590,072
Depreciation and amortization	1,843,366	1,818,32
Foreign exchange (gain) loss		500,462
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities	(21,670) (742,483)	(8,576,290
Impairment loss		(0,370,290
	20,726	92.050
Interest expense	456,360	83,058
Provision to record inventory at net realizable value	174,453	200 400
Share-based compensation	209,441	366,469
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	(004 007)	(0.4.400)
Receivables	(201,887)	(94,406
Inventory	(293,553)	(1,361,826
Prepaid expenses and deposits	(108,178)	4,587
Assets classified as held for sale	-	790,828
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	184,662	1,568,932
Income taxes payable	2,866,688	1,198,502
Deferred revenue	94,068	
Lease liabilities	(325,697)	(534,098
Liabilities classified as held for sale	-	(805,406
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations	5,971,267	8,438,609
Cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations	(71,292)	(1,602,478)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Purchases of property and equipment	(442,285)	(2,562,304
Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations	(442,285)	(2,562,304)
Cash provided by investing activities of discontinued operations	51,357	1,168,349
EINANOINO ACTIVITIES		
FINANCING ACTIVITIES	(0.000.000)	(0.000.000
Principal repayments on promissory note payable	(6,080,000)	(6,080,000
Repayments of convertible promissory notes	(40,000)	(1,210,000
Cash proceeds from warrants	-	533,326
Interest paid in cash	(505,747)	(1,082,500
Lease payments received		100,000
Cash used in financing activities of continuing operations	(6,625,865)	(7,739,174
Cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations	(58,032)	(105,360
Effect of foreign exchange on cash	(1,361)	(766,841)
Decrease in cash during the year	(1,176,211)	(3,169,199
Cash beginning of year	3,067,983	6,237,182
Cash end of year		
Cash end of year	1,891,772	3,067,983
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information		
Interest paid in cash	505,747	2,322,855
Income taxes paid in cash	-	3,145,893
		•
Non-cash financing activities		<u> </u>
Fair value of common shares issued in settlement of Phantom Farms earn out shares	-	677,939
Fair value of common shares issued as partial settlement of commitment to issue shares	-	21,787

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

C21 Investments Inc. (the "Company" or "C21") was incorporated January 15, 1987, under the Company Act of British Columbia. The Company is a publicly traded company with its registered office is 170-601 West Cordova Street, Vancouver, BC, V6B 1G1.

Pursuant to a change of business announced on January 29, 2018 to the Cannabis industry, the Company commenced acquiring and operating revenue-producing cannabis operations in the USA.

On June 15, 2018, the Company's common shares were delisted from the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSX-V") at the Company's request and on June 18, 2018 the Company commenced trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange ("CSE"), completed its change of business to the cannabis industry and commenced trading under the symbol CXXI. The Company registered its common shares in the United States and on May 6, 2019, its shares were cleared by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority for trading on the OTC Markets platform under the U.S. trading symbol CXXIF. On September 28, 2020, the Company began trading on the OTCQB® Venture Market.

For the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company operated in two segments: recreational cannabis in Oregon, USA and recreational and medical cannabis in Nevada, USA (Note 16). During the year ended January 31, 2022, the Company made the strategic decision to exit operations in Oregon. The comparative results of operations have been re-stated to present the operating results of the Oregon segment as discontinued operations. The Nevada segment remains engaged in the cultivation of and manufacturing of cannabis flower products, vape products and extract products for wholesale and retail sales.

At January 31, 2023, the Company had a working capital deficit of \$6,231,895 (2022 - \$5,689,642) and an accumulated deficit of \$69,471,712 (2022 - \$69,764,923). However, for the year ended January 31, 2023, the Company generated net income and positive cash flows from continuing operations.

At the federal level, however, cannabis currently remains a Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal Controlled Substances Act of 1970. Under U.S. federal law, a Schedule I drug or substance has a high potential for abuse, no accepted medical use in the United States, and a lack of accepted safety for the use of the drug under medical supervision. As such, even in those states in which marijuana is legalized under state law, the manufacture, importation, possession, use or distribution of cannabis remains illegal under U.S. federal law. This has created a dichotomy between state and federal law, whereby many states have elected to regulate and remove state-level penalties regarding a substance which is still illegal at the federal level. There remains uncertainty about the US federal government's position on cannabis with respect to cannabis-legal status. A change in its enforcement policies could impact the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 ("consolidated financial statements") are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss.

b) Functional and reporting currency

The functional currency of C21 Investments Inc. is Canadian dollars ("C\$"), and the functional currency of the Company's subsidiaries is U.S. dollars. C21 has determined that the U.S. dollar ("USD") is the most relevant and appropriate reporting currency as the Company's operations are conducted in U.S. dollars and its financial results are prepared and reviewed internally by management in U.S. dollars. The consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and all the entities in which the Company has a controlling voting interest and is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. All consolidated entities were under common control during the entirety of the periods for which their respective results of operations were included in the consolidated statements from the date of acquisition. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated upon consolidation.

A summary of the Company's subsidiaries included in these financial statements as at January 31, 2023 is as follows:

Name of subsidiary (1)	Principal activity		
320204 US Holdings Corp.	Holding Company		
320204 Oregon Holdings Corp.	Holding Company		
320204 Nevada Holdings Corp.	Holding Company		
320204 Re Holdings, LLC	Holding Company		
Eco Firma Farms LLC (2)	Cannabis producer		
Silver State Cultivation LLC	Cannabis producer		
Silver State Relief LLC	Cannabis retailer		
Swell Companies LTD (2)	Cannabis processor, distributor		
Megawood Enterprises Inc. (2)	Cannabis retailer		
Phantom Venture Group, LLC (2)	Holding Company		
Phantom Brands, LLC (2)	Holding Company		
Phantom Distribution, LLC (2)	Cannabis distributor		
63353 Bend, LLC ⁽²⁾	Cannabis producer		
20727-4 Bend, LLC ⁽²⁾	Cannabis processor		
4964 BFH, LLC ⁽²⁾	Cannabis producer		
Workforce Concepts 21, Inc.	Payroll and benefits services		

- (1) All subsidiaries of the Company were incorporated in the USA, are wholly owned and have USD as their functional currency.
- (2) Operations discontinued and results included in discontinued operations.

d) Restatement of the January 31, 2022 consolidated financial statements

The January 31, 2022 balances have been restated for an error in the Company's measurement of income taxes payable. The Company identified amounts of depreciation, amortization and lease payments included in its calculation of income taxes payable for the years ended January 31, 2022 and 2021 that are ineligible for deduction. The Company also identified amounts of inventory impairments that were not included as deductible expenses.

The effects of the restatement in the consolidated balance sheet as at January 31, 2022 are as follows:

	Previously		
	reported	Change	Restated
	\$	\$	\$
Income taxes payable	3,658,162	1,212,008	4,870,170
Deferred tax asset	9,024	(9,024)	-
Deferred tax liability	-	33,558	33,558
Deficit	(68,510,333)	(1,254,590)	(69,764,923)

The effects of the restatement in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended January 31, 2022 are as follows:

	Previously reported	Change	Restated
	\$	\$	\$
Income tax expense	(3,973,246)	(961,221)	(4,934,467)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

For the year ended January 31, 2022, the consolidated statement of cash flows contains an adjustment of \$961,221 within net income after taxes from continuing operations and changes in income taxes payable. Opening deficit as at January 31, 2022 contains an adjustment of \$293,370 in respect of income tax expense pertaining to ineligible deductions in the year ended January 31, 2021.

For the year ended January 31, 2022, basic and diluted income per share from continuing operations and basic and diluted income per share decreased from \$0.11 and \$0.09, respectively, to \$0.10 and \$0.08, respectively.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates and judgments.

Areas requiring a significant degree of estimation and judgment relate to the determination of recoverability of goodwill, recoverability of intangible assets, fair value less costs to sell of assets classified as held for sale, estimates used in valuation and costing of inventory, impairment of long-lived assets and inventory, fair value measurements, useful lives, depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and intangible assets, the recoverability and measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities, share-based compensation, and fair value of derivative liabilities.

b) Cash

Cash held in financial institutions and cash held at retail locations, have carrying values that approximate fair value.

The recent closures of Silicon Valley Bank, Signature Bank and First Republic Bank and their placement into receivership with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") have identified bank-specific liquidity risks and concerns. Although the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointly released a statement that depositors at Silicon Valley Band and Signature Bank would have access to their funds, even deposit amounts that exceed FDIC deposit insurance limits, future adverse developments with respect to specific financial institutions or the broader financial services industry may lead to market-wide liquidity shortages.

The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we have available for our operations or delay our ability to access such funds. Any such failure may increase the possibility of a sustained deterioration of financial market liquidity, or illiquidity at clearing, cash management and/or custodial financial institutions. We do not currently have a commercial relationship with a bank that has failed or is, to our knowledge, otherwise is experiencing operational distress, nor have we experienced delays or other issues in meeting our financial obligations. If other banks and financial institutions enter receivership or become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and financial markets, our ability to access our cash may be threatened and could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial condition.

As at January 31, 2023, the Company had FDIC coverage over \$697,945 (January 31, 2022 - \$850,704) of its cash balance.

c) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect on the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rate at the reporting date. All differences are recorded in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates and any revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.

d) Inventory

Inventory consists of raw materials, consumables and packaging supplies used in the process to prepare inventory for sale; work in process consisting of pre-harvested cannabis plants, by-products to be extracted, oils and terpenes; and finished goods.

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost determined using the weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is calculated as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any estimated costs to complete and sell the goods. Costs are capitalized to inventory, until substantially ready for sale. Costs include direct and indirect labor, raw materials, consumables, packaging supplies, utilities, facility costs, quality and testing costs, production related depreciation and other overhead costs. The Company records inventory reserves for obsolete and slow-moving inventory.

Inventory reserves are based on inventory obsolescence trends, and the historical and professional experience of management. The Company classifies cannabis inventory as a current asset, although, due to the duration of the cultivation, drying, and conversion process, certain inventory items may not be realized in cost of sales within one year.

e) Property and equipment

Property and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and losses on impairment.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 45 years
Furniture & fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Machinery & equipment 2-7 years

Leasehold improvements shorter of the life of the improvement or the remaining life of the lease

f) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortization of intangible assets begins when the asset becomes available for use. Brands, licenses, and customer relationships are amortized over 10 years, which reflect the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.

g) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair value of the net intangible and tangible assets acquired. Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting unit in which the business that created the goodwill resides. A reporting unit is an operating segment, or a business unit one level below that operating segment, for which discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment management. The Company's goodwill is part of the Nevada reporting unit.

Goodwill is tested annually for any impairment, or more frequently in the case that events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a reporting unit may not be recoverable. The Company may elect to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If factors indicate this is the case, then a quantitative test is performed and an impairment is recorded for any excess carrying value above the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the amount of goodwill.

For the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to the Nevada reporting unit exceeded the carrying amount and as such, no impairment was noted.

h) Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives.

At the end of each fiscal year, the Company reviews the intangible assets' estimated useful lives and amortization methods, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for indicators of impairment at each statement of balance sheet date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that a potential impairment has occurred. The Company groups assets at the lowest level for which cash flows are separately identifiable, referred to as an asset group. When indicators of potential impairment are present the Company prepares a projected undiscounted cash flow analysis to determine the recoverable amount for the respective asset or asset group. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount and is recorded as in profit or loss equal to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value.

i) Assets and liabilities held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use. Such assets, or disposal groups, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The comparative consolidated balance sheet is re-presented to classify assets as held for sale in the period that the respective assets are classified as held for sale.

k) Convertible instruments

The Company accounts for convertible debt as a single unit of account, unless the conversion feature requires bifurcation and recognition as a derivative. Additionally, the Company uses the if-converted method for all convertible instruments in the diluted earnings per share calculation and includes the effect of potential share settlement for instruments that may be settled in cash or shares.

I) Leases

Upon commencement of a contract containing a lease, the Company classifies leases other than short-term leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease according to the criteria prescribed by ASU 2016-02, Leases ("ASC 842"). The lease classification is reassessed only when: (a) the contract is modified and the modification is not accounted for as a separate contract, and (b) there is a change in the lease term or the assessment of whether the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset. The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for short-term leases that have a term of 12 months or less.

For both finance leases and operating leases, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are initially measured as the present value of future lease payments and initial direct costs discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate is not readily determinable, the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Subsequent measurement of lease liabilities classified as finance leases is at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets classified as finance leases is at carrying amount less accumulated amortization, where amortization is recorded straight-line over the lease term. Subsequent measurement of lease liabilities classified as operating leases is at the present value of the unpaid lease payments discounted at the discount rate for the lease established at the commencement date. Subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets classified as operating leases is carrying amount less accumulated amortization where amortization is calculated as the difference between straight-line lease cost for the period, including amortization of initial direct costs, and the periodic accretion of the lease liability.

m) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial liability or equity instrument of another party. Financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Subsequent measurement depends on how the financial instrument has been classified and may be at fair value or amortized cost. For financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value, the Company calculates the estimated fair value of financial instruments using quoted market prices whenever available. When quoted market prices are not available, the Company uses standard pricing models including the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

There have been no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels during the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022.

The Company's measures the derivative liability at fair value using Level 3 inputs.

The Company's cash, receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and income taxes payable are recorded at cost. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.

Financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost include promissory note payable, convertible promissory notes, and reclamation obligation.

n) Share-based compensation

The Company measures equity settled share-based payments based on their fair value at their grant date and recognizes share-based compensation expense over the vesting period based on the Company's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. Consideration paid to the Company on the exercise of stock options is recorded as common stock.

o) Income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on enacted tax rates and laws for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

As the Company operates in the cannabis industry, it is subject to the limits of IRC Section 280E under which the Company is only allowed to deduct expenses directly related to the cost of producing the products or cost of production.

The Company recognizes uncertain income tax positions at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Recognition or measurement is reflected in the period in which the likelihood changes. Any interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax liabilities are presented within income tax expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

p) Earnings (loss) per share

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares. Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the respective years. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average shares outstanding adjusted for additional shares from the assumed exercise of stock options, restricted share units, or warrants, if dilutive.

The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming the outstanding dilutive convertible instruments, options, and warrants are exercised and that the assumed proceeds are used to acquire common shares at the average market price during the year. Diluted loss per share figures for the years presented are equal to those of basic loss per share for the years since the effects of convertible instruments, stock options and warrants are anti-dilutive.

q) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized by the Company in accordance with ASC 606 - Revenue From Contracts With Customers. Through application of the standard, the Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

In order to recognize revenue under ASC 606, the Company applies the following five steps:

- 1. Identify a customer along with a corresponding contract
- 2. Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract to transfer goods or provide distinct services to a customer
- Determine the transaction price that the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer
- 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract
- 5. Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies the performance obligation(s) in the contract

The Company's contracts with customers for the sale of dried cannabis and other products derived from cannabis consist of one performance obligation, being the transfer of control of the goods to the customer at the point of sale. The Company transfers control and satisfies its performance obligation when collection has taken place, compliant documentation has been signed, and the product was accepted by the buyer. The Company does not have performance obligations subsequent to delivery on the sale of goods to customers and revenues from sale of goods are recognized at a "point in time", which is upon passing of control to the customer.

Provisions for expected credit losses on accounts receivable are based on the Company's assessment of the collectability of specific customer balances, which is based upon a review of the customer's creditworthiness and past collection history. For trade receivables deemed to be uncollectible, and arose from the sale of goods, the Company will write off the specific balance against the allowance for doubtful accounts when it is known that a provided amount will not be collected.

The Company disaggregates its revenues based on sales to its retail customers where cash is received immediately versus wholesale customers to whom the Company extends credit terms. For the year ended January 31, 2023, revenue from retail sales from continuing operations totaled \$26,713,239 (2022 - \$32,351,024) and revenue from wholesale from continuing operations totaled \$2,175,171 (2022 - \$631,952).

r) Loyalty program

The Company offers a loyalty reward program to its dispensary customers that allows customers to earn reward credits that can be applied to future purchases. Loyalty reward credits issued as part of a sales transaction result in revenue being deferred until the loyalty reward is redeemed by the customer. The loyalty rewards are shown as reductions to the 'Revenue' line within the accompanying consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income and included as deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheets. A portion of the revenue generated in a sale must be allocated to the loyalty points earned. The amount allocated to the points earned is deferred until the loyalty points are redeemed or expire. The loyalty program expiration policy is six months. As of January 31, 2023 and 2022, the loyalty liability totaled \$94,068 and \$nil, respectively, and is included in deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheets.

s) Reclamation obligation

The Company recognizes the fair value of a legal or constructive liability for a reclamation obligation in the year in which it is incurred and when a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The carrying amount of the related long-lived asset is increased by the same amount as the liability. Changes in the liability for a reclamation obligation due to the passage of time will be recognized within accretion expense. The amount will be recognized as an increase in the liability and an accretion expense in the consolidated statements comprehensive income. Changes resulting from revisions to the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash flows are recognized as an increase or a decrease to the carrying amount of the liability and the related long-lived asset.

t) Recently issued accounting pronouncements

Recent accounting pronouncements, other than those below, issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission did not or are not believed by management to have a material effect on the Company's present or future financial statements.

4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In January 2022, the Company entered into to a lease-to-own arrangement with a lessee for certain licenses, land and equipment in Oregon, USA, representing its outdoor growing operation. The lease-to-own arrangement concludes in January 2027 with total undiscounted payments over the term amounting to \$2,514,805. The Company determined that the arrangement should be accounted for as a sales-type lease and concluded that it is not probable that all required payments will be made such that title will transfer at the end of the term. As such, in accordance with ASC 842, the land and equipment have not been derecognized and payments received will be recorded as a deposit liability until such time that collectability becomes probable. As at January 31, 2023, \$175,000 has been received under the arrangement and has been recorded as a deposit liability.

As a result of non-profitable operations in the Oregon reporting unit, the Company began to wind down operations in Oregon beginning in the year ended January 31, 2021. At January 31, 2021, the Company classified the assets and liabilities in Swell and Megawood as held for sale and completed the sale of these assets in April 2021. By January 31, 2022, the Company made the decision to cease all growing, manufacturing, and processing activities in Bend, Oregon. As the Oregon reporting unit comprises the assets of multiple components in distinct geographic locations, management anticipates completing the sale on a piecemeal basis. Management is engaged in an active program to seek buyers for the major classes of assets and liabilities in Oregon in order to complete a sale in the next twelve months.

On July 20, 2022, the Company sold the remaining Oregon inventory with a book value of \$357,540 for proceeds of \$357,540.

During the year ended January 31, 2023, net loss from discontinued operations included impairment loss attributable to inventory in Oregon in the amount of \$5,851 (2022 - \$1,093,308) in order to record inventory at its net realizable value.

During the year ended January 31, 2023, net loss from discontinued operations included impairment of right-of-use assets in Oregon in the amount of \$183,745 (2022 - \$nil) that the Company concluded had a recoverable amount of \$nil.

Prepaid expenses classified as held for sale primarily relates to the renewal of licenses that may be transferred in the event of a sale. Otherwise, prepaid expenses will be expensed within loss from discontinued operations over the next twelve months.

For the year ended January 31, 2023, the Company recorded a provision for expected credit losses on previously recorded management fees receivable of \$218,425 (2022 - \$111,616).

Long-term debt consists of vehicle loans and a building mortgage. The mortgage began on February 1, 2015 and matures on January 1, 2035 (20 years). The mortgage bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.5% with payments made monthly. The equipment and vehicle loans consist of three loans with maturity dates ranging from June 1, 2021 through May 15, 2023 and interest rates ranging from 5.59% to 19.9% with payments made monthly.

The following table summarizes the major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued Oregon operation that have been classified as held-for-sale in the consolidated balance sheets:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Carrying amounts of the major classes of assets included in discontinued operations:		
Receivables	15,522	64,456
Inventory	-	363,391
Prepaid expenses and deposits	84,972	111,617
Deferred tax asset	143,078	152,177
Property and equipment	1,139,517	1,139,517
Right-of-use assets	-	346,987
Total assets classified as held for sale	1,383,089	2,178,145
Carrying amounts of the major classes of liabilities included in discontinued operations:		
Lease liabilities	216,298	412,093
Long-term debt	423,968	462,286
Total liabilities classified as held for sale	640,266	874.379

4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

A summary of the Company's major classes of line items constituting net loss from discontinued operations for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Revenue	357,540	1,128,403
Cost of sales	357,540	1,602,257
Gross loss	-	(473,854)
Expenses (income)		
Selling, general and administrative expenses	608,112	638,521
Impairment loss	245,682	1,093,308
Provision for expected credit losses	218,425	111,616
Other income	6,861	(32,231)
Net loss from discontinued operations before income taxes	(1,079,080)	(2,285,068)
Income tax (recovery) expense	(9,249)	42,424
Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes	(1,088,329)	(2,242,644)

A summary of the Company's cash flows from discontinued operations for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations	(71,292)	(1,602,478)
Net cash provided by investing activities of discontinued operations	51,357	1,168,349
Net cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations	(58,032)	(105,360)

5. SECURITY DEPOSIT

Non-current assets include a security deposit with the Alberta Energy Regulator ("AER") under the AER's Liability Management programs to cover potential liabilities relating to its wells. The required security deposit with the AER is determined based on a monthly licensee management rating assessment. At January 31, 2023, the security deposit had a balance of \$46,871 (January 31, 2022 - \$49,011).

6. RECEIVABLES

A summary of the Company's receivables is as follows:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Taxes receivable	10,834	11,945
Trade receivables	401,476	198,478
	412,310	210,423

There was no provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables at January 31, 2023 or January 31, 2022.

7. INVENTORY

A summary of the Company's inventory is as follows:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Finished goods	1,556,353	1,848,392
Work in process	2,494,455	2,029,133
Raw materials	122,765	176,948
	4,173,573	4,054,473

During the year ended January 31, 2022, cost of sales includes a provision to record inventory at net realizable value of \$174,453 (January 31, 2022 - \$nil). Finished goods inventory is presented net of the provision to record inventory at net realizable value.

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

a) Property and equipment

A summary of the Company's property and equipment is as follows:

	January 31, 2023	January 31, 2022
	\$	\$
Land	1,330,000	1,330,000
Leasehold improvements	1,775,896	1,758,229
Furniture & fixtures	468,696	460,890
Computer equipment	6,659	46,484
Machinery & equipment	2,450,919	2,305,217
	6,032,170	5,900,820
Less: accumulated depreciation	(1,347,052)	(1,031,227)
	4,685,118	4,869,593

Total depreciation expense for the year ended January 31, 2023 was \$533,702 (2022 - \$472,998). Of the total depreciation expense, \$472,096 was allocated to inventory (2022 - \$260,006). During the year, the Company disposed of property and equipment with a cost of \$309,907 and accumulated depreciation of \$217,877.

At January 31, 2022, the Company reclassified buildings with a cost of \$1,370,212 and accumulated depreciation of \$230,695 to assets classified as held for sale.

b) Right-of-use assets

The Company's right-of-use assets result from its operating leases (Note 11) and consist of land and buildings used in the cultivation, processing, and warehousing of its products.

At January 31, 2023, assets classified as held for sale contains right-of-use assets with a carrying value of \$nil (January 31, 2022 - \$346,987). Management estimated the fair value less costs to sell of right-of-use assets classified as held for sale at January 31, 2023 was \$nil (January 31, 2022 - \$346,987).

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

a) Intangible assets

A summary of the Company's intangible assets subject to amortization is as follows:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Licenses	12,167,021	12,141,476
Brands	644,800	868,982
Customer relationships	1,540,447	1,758,553
	14,352,268	14,769,011
Less: accumulated amortization	(6,465,443)	(5,544,846)
	7,886,825	9,224,165

During the year ended January 31, 2023, the Company recognized amortization expense on intangible assets of \$1,337,336 (2022 - \$1,370,286).

During the year ended January 31, 2022, the Company recognized impairment charges of \$363,510 on customer relationships allocated to the Oregon reporting unit (Note 4).

The estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years is as follows:

	\$
January 31, 2024	1,337,336
January 31, 2025	1,337,336
January 31, 2026	1,337,336
January 31, 2027	1,337,336
January 31, 2028	1,325,336
Thereafter	1,212,145
	7,886,825

b) Goodwill

As at January 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had goodwill of \$28,541,323 and \$28,541,323, respectively, which was allocated to the Nevada reporting unit. There was no impairment on goodwill identified in either year.

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

A summary of the Company's accounts payable and accrued liabilities is as follows:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Accounts payable	1,842,089	1,402,546
Accrued liabilities	450,485	428,414
EFF settlement accrual (Note 20)	612,500	612,500
Interest payable	16,352	65,409
	2,921,426	2,508,869

11. LEASES

The Company's leases consist of land and buildings used in the cultivation, processing, and warehousing of its products. All leases were classified as operating leases in accordance with ASC 842.

A summary of the Company's active leases and total lease term under contract as at January 31, 2023 is as follows:

Entity Name/Lessee	Asset	Lease term	Туре
Silver State Cultivation LLC	Land/ Building	12	Operating lease
Silver State Relief LLC (Sparks)	Land/ Building	12	Operating lease
Silver State Relief LLC (Fernley)	Land/ Building	12	Operating lease
Phantom Distribution, LLC	Land/ Building	5	Operating lease
63353 Bend, LLC	Land/ Building	5	Operating lease
20727-4 Bend, LLC	Land/ Building	5	Operating lease

For the year ended January 31, 2023, the Company incurred operating lease costs in continuing operations of \$1,403,743, (2022 - \$1,403,743). Of this amount, \$812,368 (2022 - \$812,368) was allocated to inventory.

A summary of the Company's weighted average discount rate used in calculating lease liabilities and weighted average remaining lease term is as follows:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
Weighted average discount rate	10%	10%
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)	9.63	10.46

A summary of the maturity of contractual undiscounted liabilities associated with the Company's operating leases as of January 31, 2023 is as follows:

Year ending January,	\$
2024	1,276,262
2025	1,314,551
2026	1,353,987
2027	1,394,607
2028	1,436,445
Thereafter	7,712,494
Total undiscounted lease liabilities	14,488,346
Interest on lease liabilities	(5,534,921)
Total present value of minimum lease payments	8,953,425
Current portion of lease liability	398,723
Lease liability	8,554,702

As at January 31, 2023, liabilities classified as held for sale include lease liabilities of \$216,298 (2022 - \$412,093) and pertain to the operating leases in Phantom Distribution, LLC, 63353 Bend, LLC and 20727-4 Bend, LLC.

As at January 31, 2023, the Company has total undiscounted lease liabilities of \$14,488,346 pertaining to lease liabilities in continuing operations and total undiscounted lease liabilities of \$228,192 which are classified as held for sale and pertain to the operating leases in Phantom Distribution, LLC, 63353 Bend, LLC and 20727-4 Bend, LLC.

12. PROMISSORY NOTES

Transaction costs related to the issuance of convertible promissory notes are apportioned to their respective financial liability and equity components (if applicable) in proportion to the allocation of proceeds as a reduction to the carrying amount of each component.

When valuing the financial liability component of the promissory notes, the Company used specific interest rates assuming no conversion features existed. The resulting liability component is accreted to its face value over the convertible note's term until its maturity date.

12. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)

a) Convertible promissory notes

A summary of the Company's convertible promissory notes denominated in U.S. dollars is as follows:

	June 13, 2018 issuance	May 24, 2019 issuance	Total
	\$	\$	\$
Balance, January 31, 2021	1,072,590	1,130,056	2,202,646
Payment	-	(1,210,000)	(1,210,000)
Interest expense	17,649	40,685	58,334
Accretion expense	191,203	39,259	230,462
Balance, January 31, 2022	1,281,442	-	1,281,442
Payment	(41,600)	-	(41,600)
Interest expense	1,600	-	1,600
Loss on foreign exchange translation	(85,183)	-	(85, 183)
Balance, January 31, 2023	1,156,259	-	1,156,259

On August 19, 2022, the Company repaid \$41,600 comprised of \$40,000 of principal and \$1,600 of interest related to the June 13, 2018 issuance of convertible promissory notes.

On June 13, 2018, the Company issued convertible promissory notes to the vendors that sold Eco Firma Farms, LLC ("EFF") to the Company in the aggregate principal amount of \$2,000,000. The convertible promissory notes were convertible at \$1.00 per share. The convertible promissory notes accrue interest at a rate of 4% per annum, compounded annually, and were fully due and payable on June 13, 2021. The Company is in an ongoing dispute with the vendors over repayment (Note 20). On issuance, the Company determined the conversion feature was a derivative liability as the convertible promissory notes were exercisable in USD while the functional currency of the Company is Canadian dollars. The conversion feature expired on June 13, 2021 and as such the fair value of the conversion feature as at January 31, 2023 was \$nil (January 31, 2022 - \$nil).

On May 24, 2019, the Company issued a two-year unsecured convertible promissory note to a debtor of Swell Companies in the principal amount of \$1,000,000. The convertible note accrues interest at 10% per annum compounded annually and payable at maturity. The note is convertible into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of \$1.56 per share and may be converted at the maturity date. On issuance, the Company determined the conversion feature was a derivative liability as the convertible promissory notes are exercisable in USD while the functional currency of the Company is Canadian dollars. On May 24, 2021 the note was fully repaid.

b) Promissory note payable

A summary of the Company's promissory note payable denominated in USD is as follows:

	¢
Balance, January 31, 2021	14,186,667
	· · ·
Repayments	(6,080,000)
Balance, January 31, 2022	8,106,667
Repayments	(6,080,000)
Balance, January 31, 2023	2,026,667
Current portion	2,026,667
Non-current portion	<u>-</u>

On January 1, 2019, the Company issued a promissory note to Mr. Newman, who sold Silver State to the Company in the principal amount of \$30,000,000. The promissory note is payable in the following principal instalments: \$3,000,000 on April 1, 2019, \$6,000,000 on each of July 1, 2019, October 1, 2019, January 1, 2020, and April 1, 2020, and \$3,000,000 on July 1, 2020. The promissory note accrues interest at a rate of 10% per annum. The promissory note is secured by all of the outstanding membership interests, and a security interest in all of the assets, of Silver State.

On July 1, 2019, the terms of the promissory note payable for the acquisition of Silver State were amended to call for immediate payment of \$2,000,000 plus accrued interest on July 1, 2019 followed by payments of \$800,000 plus accrued interest on the first of each of August, September, October, November, and December 2019.

12. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)

Effective November 21, 2019 and June 25, 2020, Mr. Newman and the Company agreed to further amend the terms of the promissory note due to Mr. Newman. The December 1, 2019 principal payment of \$800,000 was cancelled and the monthly principal payments thereafter were reduced to \$600,000 per month. Further, the annual interest rate on the note was reduced from 10% to 9.5%. The remaining balance on the promissory note is due and payable on January 1, 2021. This modification resulted in a gain of \$nil.

On November 19, 2020, the Company announced an agreement with Mr. Newman that the remaining \$15,200,000 principal outstanding on his promissory note, due to mature on January 1, 2021, was amended with lower monthly payments amortized over a 30-month period. Commencing December 1, 2020, the monthly payments are \$506,667 plus interest. The interest rate at 9.5% was unchanged.

For the year ended January 31, 2023, interest expense was \$455,091 (2022 - \$1,032,691). Interest paid during the year ended January 31, 2023 was \$504,147 (2022 - \$1,082,500).

13. DERIVATIVE LIABILITY

A summary of the Company's derivative liabilities is as follows:

	Conversion feature of convertible promissory notes	Earn out shares	Total
	\$	\$	\$
Balance, January 31, 2021	485,157	9,273,970	9,759,127
Fair value adjustment on derivative liabilities	(485,157)	(8,091,133)	(8,576,290)
Settlement of Phantom earn out	-	(677,939)	(677,939)
Effect of foreign exchange	-	501,470	501,470
Balance, January 31, 2022	-	1,006,368	1,006,368
Fair value adjustment on derivative liabilities	-	(742,483)	(742,483)
Effect of foreign exchange	-	(24,185)	(24,185)
Balance, January 31, 2023	-	239,700	239,700

Upon the February 4, 2019 acquisition of Phantom Farms, the vendors can earn up to 4,500,000 'earn out' shares over a period of seven years. The conditions were based on the Company's common shares exceeding certain share prices during the period. The fair value of the derivative liability is derived using a Monte Carlo simulation. On January 24, 2022, the Company issued 1,300,000 common shares for full settlement of the Phantom earn out shares.

Upon the May 24, 2019 acquisition of Swell Companies, the vendors can earn up to 6,000,000 'earn out' shares over a period of seven years. The conditions were based on the Company's common shares exceeding certain share prices during the period. Additionally, the 50% of the earn out shares are earned upon a change of control of the Company. The fair value of the derivative liability is derived using a Monte Carlo simulation.

A summary of the Company's significant inputs into the Monte Carlo simulation used to determine the fair value of earn out shares is as follows:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
Discount rate	4.43%	1.24%
Expected life in years	3.31	4.33
Expected stock volatility	80%	80%
Expected volatility of foreign exchange	6.40%	6.52%

The conversion feature of the June 13, 2018 and May 24, 2019 convertible promissory notes expired on June 13, 2021 and May 24, 2021, respectively. As such, the fair value of each at January 31, 2023 and 2022 was \$nil and \$nil, respectively.

14. SHARE CAPITAL

Share capital consists of one class of fully paid common shares, with no par value. The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. All shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and repayment of capital and represent one vote at the Company's shareholders' meetings.

A summary of the Company's share capital is as follows:

	Number of shares	Common stock
	#	\$
Balance, January 31, 2021	117,057,860	103,636,830
Shares issued - Phantom Farm warrants exercises (1)	456,100	533,326
Shares issued - EFF commitment (2)	19,774	21,787
Shares issued - Guaranteed warrants (3)	1,214,080	-
Shares issued - Settlement of Earn out shares (4)	1,300,000	677,939
Share-based compensation	-	366,469
Balance, January 31, 2022	120,047,814	105,236,351
Share-based compensation	-	209,441
Balance, January 31, 2023	120,047,814	105,445,792

- (1) On February 4, 2021 the Company issued 456,100 shares upon the exercise of Phantom Farm warrants.
- (2) On April 5, 2021, the Company issued 19,774 common shares to the vendors of EFF for a partial settlement of the Company's commitment to issue shares.
- (3) On June 17, 2021, the Company issued 1,214,080 common shares pursuant to the cashless exercise of 4,160,000 warrants.
- (4) On January 24, 2022, the Company issued 1,300,000 common shares for the settlement of Phantom earn out shares.

a) Commitment to issue shares

In connection with the acquisition of EFF on June 13, 2018, the Company issued a promissory note payable to deliver 1,977,500 shares to the vendors of EFF in the amount of \$1,905,635, without interest, any time after October 15, 2018. As at January 31, 2023 shares issued pursuant to this commitment total 1,184,407 shares.

b) Warrants

A summary of the Company's warrant activity is as follows:

	Warrants outstanding	Weighted average exercise price	Weighted average remaining life
	#	C\$	Years
Balance January 31, 2021	11,894,746	1.32	1.96
Exercised	(4,616,100)	1.05	
Expired	(4,038,646)	1.73	
Balance, January 31, 2022	3,240,000	1.18	2.10
Balance, January 31, 2023	3,240,000	1.18	1.10

A summary of the Company's outstanding and exercisable warrants at January 31, 2023, is as follows:

		Number of
Expiry date	Exercise price	warrants
	C\$	#
December 31, 2023	1.00	632,400
January 30, 2024	1.00	1,407,600
May 24, 2024	1.50	1,200,000
		3,240,000

As at January 31, 2023 and 2022, outstanding and exercisable warrants had intrinsic values of \$nil and \$nil, respectively.

14. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

On February 4, 2021, 456,100 warrants with an exercise price of \$1.17 (C\$1.50) were exercised to purchase 456,100 common shares of the Company for proceeds of \$533,326. Of the warrants exercised, 426,100 were exercised by a Director of the Company. On the same date, 1,243,900 warrants expired unexercised.

On June 17, 2021, 4,160,000 warrants were exercised on a cashless basis for 1,214,080 common shares of the Company.

c) Stock options

The Company is authorized to grant options to executive officers and directors, employees, and consultants, enabling them to acquire up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. The exercise price of each option equals the market price of the Company's shares as calculated on the date of grant. The options can be granted for a maximum term of 10 years. Vesting is determined by the Board of Directors.

A summary of the Company's stock option activity is as follows:

	Options outstanding and exercisable	Weighted average exercise price	Weighted average remaining life
	#	C\$	Years
Balance January 31, 2021	6,965,000	1.22	2.05
Expired	(1,350,000)	2.80	
Balance, January 31, 2022	5,615,000	0.84	1.45
Granted	600,000	0.70	
Expired	(1,405,000)	1.25	
Balance, January 31, 2023	4,810,000	0.75	0.86

A summary of the Company's stock options outstanding and exercisable at January 31, 2023, is as follows:

Expiry date	Exercise price	Outstanding	Exercisable
	C\$	#	#
August 17, 2023	0.70	3,560,000	3,560,000
January 28, 2024	1.50	150,000	150,000
October 9, 2024	1.00	500,000	500,000
February 10, 2025	0.70	600,000	199,998
		4,810,000	4,409,998

As at January 31, 2023 and 2022, outstanding and exercisable stock options had intrinsic values of \$nil and \$nil, respectively.

During the year ended January 31, 2023, the Company recorded a share-based compensation expense of \$209,441 (2022 - \$366,469). A summary of the Company's assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model for stock options granted during the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

	2023	2022
Stock price	C\$0.61	
Exercise price	C\$0.70	
Risk-free rate	1.60%	-
Expected life of options	3 years	-
Annualized volatility	80%	-
Dividend rate	0%	

14. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Company has computed the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected term used for options issued to non-employees is the contractual life and the expected term used for options issued to employees and directors is the estimated period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The Company utilizes the "simplified" method to develop an estimate of the expected term of "plain vanilla" employee option grants. The Company is utilizing an expected volatility figure based on a review of the historical volatilities, over a period of time, equivalent to the expected life of the instrument being valued, of similarly positioned public companies within its industry. The risk-free interest rate was determined from the implied yields from U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with a remaining term consistent with the expected term of the instrument being valued.

15. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

A summary of the Company's selling, general and administration expenses for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

	2023	2022
A	710010	Φ
Accounting and legal	716,349	665,248
Depreciation and amortization	1,365,018	1,280,446
License fees, taxes and insurance	1,625,036	1,807,645
Office facilities and administrative	338,492	301,944
Operating lease cost	591,375	591,376
Other expenses	806,009	256,454
Professional fees and consulting	903,513	701,999
Salaries and wages	2,747,133	2,913,900
Sales, marketing, and promotion	83,672	83,770
Share-based compensation	209,441	366,469
Shareholder communications	18,128	26,781
Travel and entertainment	41,742	59,142
	9,445,908	9,055,174

16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company defines its major geographic operating segments as Oregon and Nevada. Due to the jurisdictional cannabis compliance issues ever-present in the industry, each state operation is by nature operationally segmented.

Key decision makers primarily review revenue, cost of sales expense, and gross margin as the primary indicators of segment performance. As the Company continues to expand via acquisition, the segmented information will expand based on management's agreed upon allocation of costs beyond gross margin.

A summary of the Company's segmented operational activity and balances for the year ended January 31, 2023 is as follows:

	Discontinued operations			
	(Oregon)	Nevada	Corporate	Consolidated
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Total revenue	357,540	28,888,410	-	29,245,950
Gross profit	-	13,401,146	-	13,401,146
Operating expenses:			-	
General and administration	(386,779)	(4,397,477)	(2,798,925)	(7,583,181)
Sales, marketing, and promotion	(1,938)	(83,672)	-	(85,610)
Operating lease cost	(195,639)	(591,375)	-	(787,014)
Depreciation and amortization	(23,756)	(1,270,092)	(94,926)	(1,388,774)
Share-based compensation	· · · · · · -	· -	(209,441)	(209,441)
Impairment of inventory	(245,682)	-	(20,726)	(266,408)
Provision for expected credit losses	(218,425)	-	· -	(218,425)
Interest, accretion, and other	(6,861)	(31,327)	288,123	249,935
Net income (loss) before taxes	(1,079,080)	7,027,203	(2,835,895)	3,112,228

16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)

A summary of the Company's segmented operational activity and balances for the year ended January 31, 2022 is as follows:

	Discontinued			
	operations (Oregon)	Nevada	Corporate	Consolidated
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Total revenue	1,128,403	32,982,976	-	34,111,379
Gross profit (loss)	(473,854)	18,809,985	-	18,336,131
Operating expenses:				
General and administration	(429,969)	(3,797,101)	(2,936,012)	(7,163,082)
Sales, marketing, and promotion	` <u>-</u>	(83,770)	-	(83,770)
Operating lease cost	(1,233)	(591,376)	-	(592,609)
Depreciation and amortization	(207,319)	(1,276,640)	(3,806)	(1,487,765)
Share-based compensation	` <u>-</u>	-	(366,469)	(366,469)
Impairment of inventory	(1,456,818)	-	-	(1,456,818)
Interest, accretion, and other	284,125	22,171	7,355,059	7,661,355
Net income (loss) before taxes	(2,285,068)	13,083,269	4,048,772	14,846,973

a) Entity-wide disclosures

All revenue for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 was earned in the United States.

For the years ended January 31, 2023 and January 31, 2022, no customer represented more than 10% of the Company's net revenue and receivables.

A summary of the Company's the long-lived tangible assets disaggregation by geographic area is as follows:

	January 31,	January 31,
	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Nevada	11,321,662	11,903,430
Discontinued operations (Oregon)	1,748,286	1,817,633
Other	703	24,414
	13,070,651	13,745,477

17. COMMITMENTS

The Company and its subsidiaries are committed under lease agreements with third parties and related parties, for land, office space, and equipment in Nevada and Oregon. A summary of the Company's future minimum payments at the year ended January 31, 2023 is as follows:

	Third Parties	Related Parties	Total
	\$	\$	\$
2024	273,743	1,276,262	1,550,005
2025	45,551	1,314,551	1,360,102
2026	45,551	1,353,987	1,399,538
2027	45,551	1,394,607	1,440,158
2028	45,551	1,436,445	1,481,996
Thereafter	322,651	7,712,494	8,035,145
	778,598	14,488,346	15,266,944

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the Company's related balances included in accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and promissory note payable is as follows:

	January 31, 2023	January 31, 2022
	\$	\$
Due to the President and CEO	2,043,019	8,172,075
Lease liabilities due to a company controlled by the CEO	8,953,425	9,279,123
Lease liabilities due to SDP Development	-	412,093
Due to the CFO of the Company	692	360
	10,997,136	17,863,651

Due to the President and CEO consists of promissory note principal and interest and reimbursable expenses incurred in the normal course of business.

A summary of the Company's transactions with related parties including key management personnel for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Consulting fees paid to a director	125,000	240,000
Amounts paid to CEO or companies controlled by CEO for leases	1,239,090	1,203,000
Amounts paid to CEO or companies controlled by CEO for repayments of promissory note	6,584,146	7,162,500
Amounts paid to CEO or companies controlled by CEO for remuneration	200,000	267,119
Salary paid to directors and officers	398,950	496,807
Share based compensation including warrants and stock options for directors and officers	153,426	251,333
Lease payments made to SDP Development	-	209,176
	8,700,612	9,829,935

Amounts paid to CEO or companies controlled by CEO consists of salary, lease payments, and promissory note principal and interest.

On February 12, 2020, the Company amended the purchase agreement with SDP Development, of which a Director of the Company is a principal owner. The Company had agreed on February 4, 2019 to purchase SDP Development on October 15, 2020, which owned six real estate properties that were leased in connection with Phantom Farms' cannabis cultivation, processing and wholesale distribution operations. The aggregate purchase price was \$8,010,000 payable in cash, or, at the election of the vendors, in whole or in part by the issue of 2,670,000 shares at \$3.00 per common share.

19. EARNINGS PER SHARE

A summary of the Company's calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

	2023	2022
Net income from continuing operations after income taxes	\$1,381,540	\$12,197,574
Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes	\$(1,088,329)	\$(2,242,644)
Net income	\$293,211	\$9,954,930
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding	120,047,814	118,308,584
Dilutive effect of warrants and stock options outstanding	2,833,093	2,833,093
Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding	122,880,907	121,141,677
Basic income per share, continuing operations	\$0.01	\$0.10
Diluted income per share, continuing operations	\$0.01	\$0.10
Basic loss per share, discontinued operations	\$(0.01)	\$(0.02)
Diluted loss per share, discontinued operations	\$(0.01)	\$(0.02)
Basic income per share	\$0.00	\$0.08
Diluted income per share	\$0.00	\$0.08

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes the effect of the potential exercise of warrants and stock options when the average market price of the common stock is lower than the exercise price of the respective warrant or stock option and when inclusion of these amounts would be anti-dilutive. For the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, the number of warrants excluded from the computation was 1,200,000 and 1,200,000, respectively. For the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, the number of stock options excluded from the computation was 4,409,998 and 4,263,333, respectively. For the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, the computation of diluted earnings per share also excludes the potential issuance of 6,000,000 earn out shares (Note 13) as the market price of the common shares has not been high enough to trigger an earn out event.

20. CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Company is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of its business. Management is of the opinion that disposition of any current matter will not have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations, or the ability to carry on any of its business activities.

a) Legal proceedings

Oregon Action: A complaint was filed in the Oregon State Circuit Court for Clackamas County, on April 29, 2019, by two current owners of Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC (the former sole member of EFF) (the "Plaintiffs"), alleging contract, employment, and statutory claims, alleging \$612,500 in damages (as amended), against the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries 320204 US Holdings Corp, EFF, Swell Companies Limited, and Phantom Brands LLC, in addition to three directors, two officers, and one former employee (the "Oregon Action"). The Company and the other defendants wholly denied the allegations and claims made in the lawsuit and is defending the lawsuit. On June 21, 2019, the Company filed Oregon Rule of Civil Procedure ("ORCP") 21 motions to dismiss all of the Plaintiffs' claims against it, its wholly owned subsidiaries, and other defendants. On December 30, 2019, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint dismissing the Company (and some of its directors and subsidiaries) from the case and reducing the amount in controversy in the Oregon Action. On May 6, 2020, the court granted the Company's ORCP 21 motions in its entirety to dismiss all of Plaintiffs' claims against the remaining defendants. The judgment of dismissal was entered by the Clackamas County court on or about October 14, 2020.

On October 22, 2020, the Company submitted a petition to recover the costs and attorney fees incurred by the Company as the prevailing party in the Oregon Action. On January 20, 2021, the Court ruled in the Company's favor, awarding the Company and its subsidiaries \$68,195 in attorney's fees, \$1,252 in costs, and a statutory prevailing party fee of \$640, through a supplemental judgment, entered on February 2, 2021. The judgment in favor of the Company remains unpaid and continues to collect interest at the statutory rate of 9% per annum.

On November 12, 2020, the plaintiffs appealed the order dismissing the claims alleged in their amended complaint. On March 2, 2021, the plaintiffs amended their appeal to also appeal the award of attorney fees and costs.

C21 INVESTMENTS INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

20. CONTINGENCIES (continued)

On October 26, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued its decision, reversing the general and supplemental judgments in favor of the Company and remanding the case to the trial court for further proceedings. The Company filed a petition for reconsideration of the Court of Appeals decision on December 7, 2022, which was denied.

On April 19, 2023, the Company filed a petition for review in the Oregon Supreme Court. The petition for review is pending. The Company cannot predict if the Oregon Supreme Court will grant certiorari to hear the appeal, and if so, the likely resolution of the appeal.

British Columbia Action: On or about September 13, 2019, the Company delivered a notice to the above-mentioned Plaintiffs of alleged breach and default under the EFF purchase and sale agreement, due to alleged unlawful, intentional acts and material misrepresentations by the Plaintiffs before and after the completion of the purchase. As a result of such breach, the Company denied the Plaintiffs' tender of their share payment notes in connection with the agreement. On or about October 14, 2019, Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC and one of its current owners, sued the Company in the Supreme Court of British Columbia to compel the issuance and delivery of the subject shares, including interests and costs (the "British Columbia Action").

On November 8, 2019, the Company responded and counterclaimed for general, special and punitive damages, including interest and costs, related to breach of contract, repudiation of contract, breach of indemnity and fraudulent and negligent misrepresentation by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs filed a response to the Company's counterclaims on or about June 5, 2020, and the parties stipulated to a form of amended pleading which included the joinder of additional parties, an owner of Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC and EFF, and additional contract and equitable claims and damages, partially duplicative to those alleged by the Plaintiffs in the Oregon Action (breach of contract, indemnity, unjust enrichment and wrongful termination claims). Plaintiffs allege \$2,774,176.05 in damages (as amended), plus unquantified additional damages, interest and costs, of which amounts are partially duplicative of the Oregon Action. This action remains in the discovery stage, and the trial date is scheduled for February 2024. It is too early to predict the resolution of the claims and counterclaims.

Settled and Dismissed Action: On or about May 30, 2019, Wallace Hill Partners Ltd. ("Wallace Hill") filed a civil claim in the Supreme Court of British Columbia alleging breach of contract and entitlement to 1,800,000 Common Shares of the Company, fully vested by March 1, 2019, and damages due to the lost opportunity to sell those shares after such date for a profit. On June 23, 2019, the Company circulated a letter to Wallace Hill terminating the agreement and accepting Wallace Hill's repudiation of the agreement based on Wallace Hill's previously published defamatory comments and termination of the agreement. Also, on June 23, 2019, the Company filed its response to the civil claim denying all claims and filed counterclaims alleging breach of contract, a declaratory judgment of termination of the agreement, defamation and an injunction from further defamatory comments.

On March 23, 2022, the Company and Wallace Hill entered into a mutual release agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, all parties agreed to dismiss their respective claims and to release one another from any further causes of action in connection with the subject matter of the original claims. On April 23, 2022, the parties filed a Notice of Discontinuance in the Supreme Court of British Columbia formally dismissing the civil action.

21. INCOME TAXES

The Company is a Canadian resident company, as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the "ITA"), for Canadian income tax purposes. However, it has subsidiaries that are treated as United States corporations for US federal income tax purposes per the Internal Revenue Code (US) ("IRC") and are thereby subject to federal income tax on their worldwide income. As a result, the Company is subject to taxation both in Canada and the United States.

A summary of the Company's components of the income tax provision for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

		2022
		(As restated -
20	23	Note 2)
	\$	\$
Current		
Canadian	-	-
US Federal and State 2,866,6	88	4,344,395
Total current income tax expense 2,866,6	88	4,344,395
Deferred		
Canadian	-	-
US Federal and State (56,9)	20)	590,072
Total deferred income tax recovery (56,9)	20)	590,072
Total income tax expense 2,809,7	68	4,934,467

A summary of the Company's domestic and foreign components of income (loss) before provision for income taxes for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

		2022
		(As restated -
	2023	Note 2)
	\$	\$
Canadian	(702,488)	6,985,670
United States	4,893,796	10,146,371
Income (loss) before income taxes	4,191,308	17,132,041

A summary of the Company's reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate percentage to the effective tax rate for the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

	2023	2022 (As restated - Note 2)
	\$	\$
Income (loss) for the year	4,191,308	17,132,041
Statutory rate	27%	27%
Income tax expense at statutory rate	1,131,653	4,625,653
Non-deductible expenditures and non-taxable revenues		
IRC section 280E disallowance	1,802,992	1,834,479
Other	56,549	98,946
Foreign tax rate differential	(288,933)	(608,783)
Change in foreign exchange rates and other	196,298	115,835
Change in valuation allowance	(198,848)	(73,893)
Payable adjustment to provision versus statutory tax returns	67,056	2,738,188
Deferred adjustment to provision versus statutory tax returns	10,410	(4,316,443)
Uncertain tax position, inclusive of interest and penalties	32,591	520,485
	2,809,768	4,934,467

21. INCOME TAXES (continued)

A summary of the Company's deferred tax assets significant components is as follows:

		January 31, 2022
	January 31, 2023	(As restated - Note 2)
	\$	\$
Deferred tax assets		
Share issuance costs and financing fees	4,764	262,726
Allowable capital losses	132,986	139,182
Non-capital losses	4,699,606	4,376,843
Intangible assets	85,843	98,394
Right of use assets and lease liabilities, net	73,247	53,248
Reclamation obligation	14,219	14,923
Derivative liability	64,719	271,719
Inventories	36,797	-
Convertible promissory note	312,190	345,989
Total deferred tax assets	5,424,371	5,563,024
Valuation allowance	(5,311,368)	(5,510,216)
Total net deferred tax assets	113,003	52,808
Deferred tax liabilities		
Property and equipment	(89,641)	(86,366)
Net deferred tax (liability) asset	23,362	(33,558)

Realization of deferred tax assets associated with the net operating loss carryforwards is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income prior to their expiration. A valuation allowance to reflect management's estimate of the Canadian loss carryforwards that may expire prior to their utilization has been recorded at January 31, 2023.

As of January 31, 2023, the Company has \$17.4 million of Canadian non-capital loses which expire between 2026 and 2043, and Canadian capital losses of \$985 thousand with no expiry date. The Company determined a valuation allowance was also applicable to the other Canadian deferred tax assets. The Company also has of \$2.7 million of Oregon net operating losses which have a 15-year carryforward period with losses expiring between 2034 and 2038. The Company determined a valuation allowance was applicable to the full amount of the available Canadian losses.

As the Company operates in the cannabis industry, the Company is subject to the limits of Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") Section 280E for US federal income tax purposes as well as state income tax purposes. Under IRC Section 280E, the Company is only allowed to deduct expenses directly related to costs of goods sold. This results in permanent differences between ordinary and necessary business expenses deemed non-allowable under IRC Section 280E.

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred by the Canadian entity over the three-year period ended January 31, 2023. Such objective evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as our projections for future growth.

On the basis of this evaluation, as of January 31, 2023, a valuation allowance of \$5,311,368 (2022 - \$5,510,216) has been recorded to recognize only the portion of the deferred tax asset that is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced or increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth.

The Company recognizes benefits from uncertain tax positions based on the cumulative probability method whereby the largest benefit with a cumulative probability of greater than 50% is recorded. An uncertain tax position is not recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. As of January 31, 2023, and January 31, 2022, the Company recorded an uncertain tax liability of \$846,446 and \$813,855, respectively, inclusive of interest and penalties.

21. INCOME TAXES (continued)

The uncertain tax position comprises of certain deductions for lease obligations, depreciation and amortization taken in prior years in excess of the accounting expenses in respect of assets used in production as well as deductions for inventory impairment that were not previously taken. The total of these uncertainties before interest and penalties is \$789,112 as of January 31, 2023. The Company believes it is reasonably possible that \$401,824 of unrecognized tax benefits related to depreciation and \$7,745 of unrecognized tax benefits related to amortization, lease obligations and inventory may decrease within the next 12 months as the Company will be filling amended tax returns for prior years and amounts will be coming statute-barred with respect to the 2020 fiscal year.

During the years ended January 31, 2023, the Company recorded interest of \$55,065 and penalties of \$2,268 on uncertain tax liabilities within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income. The Company is subject to taxation and files income tax returns in Canada, the U.S. and Oregon. As of January 31, 2023, the tax returns for the 2020, 2021 and 2022 fiscal years are subject to examination by tax authorities in the U.S. and Oregon. The tax return for the 2019 fiscal year is also subject to examination by tax authorities in Canada.

The aggregate change in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits, which includes interest and penalties is as follows:

		2022
	January 31,	(As restated -
	2023	Note 2)
	\$	\$
Beginning balance	813,855	293,370
Increase due to tax positions taken during a prior year	32,591	520,485
Ending balance	846,446	813,855

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would, if recognized, impact the effective tax rate is \$846,446 for the tax year ended January 31, 2023 (\$813,855 for January 31, 2022).

A summary of the components of the Company's income taxes payable is as follows:

		January 31,
		2022
	January 31,	(As restated -
	2023	Note 2)
	\$	\$
Income taxes payable	6,890,412	4,056,315
Unrecognized tax position, inclusive of interest and penalties	846,446	813,855
	7,736,858	4,870,170

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tables present information about the Company's financial instruments and their classifications as of January 31, 2023 and January 31, 2022 and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs utilized to determine such fair value:

Fair value measurements at January 31, 2023 using:	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Financial liabilities:				
Earn out shares (Note 13)	-	_	239,700	239,700
Fair value measurements at January 31, 2022 using:	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Financial liabilities:				
Earn out shares (Note 13)	-	-	1,006,368	1,006,368

The fair value of the derivative liability associated with the earn out shares was derived using a Monte Carlo simulation using non-observable inputs, and therefore represent a Level 3 measurement.

C21 INVESTMENTS INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended January 31, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 13, 2023 the Company announced it had negotiated the cancellation of a portion of the earn out share obligations pursuant to the Swell Purchase agreement. The Company entered into agreements with certain Swell vendors to extinguish the Company's obligation to issue 4,792,800 common shares in exchange for a one-time payment of \$575,136.

On February 6, 2023, the Company and its CEO, Sonny Newman, agreed to defer payment of the principal portion of the March 1, 2023 promissory note payment in order to facilitate the cash coverage required to settle the Company's cash settlement with the Swell vendors. The principal portion was deferred until April 1, 2023 and normally scheduled payments of principal and interest resumed at that time.

On March 9, 2023, the Company executed a settlement agreement to terminate the lease-to-own arrangement accounted for as a sales-type lease for certain licenses, land and equipment in Oregon, USA (Note 4). The lessee failed to make the minimum payments under the arrangement and the Company exercised its right to terminate the relationship. As part of the settlement agreement, the lessee paid \$500,000 as consideration for two cannabis licenses in Oregon. The Company retains the land, building and equipment.

On June 1, 2023, the Company completed all payments totaling \$2,026,667 on the promissory note payable (Note 12(b)) owing to Sonny Newman, the Company's President and CEO. In connection with the repayment, the security against the Company's assets held in Silver State Cultivation LLC and Silver State Relief LLC has been fully discharged.



C21 INVESTMENTS INC.

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended January 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)

C21 INVESTMENTS INC.

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET	1
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS	2
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	3
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	4
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	5-34



Baker Tilly US, LLP 18500 Von Karman Ave; 10th Fl. Irvine, CA 92612 United States of America

T: +1 (949) 222 2999 F: +1 (949) 222 2989

bakertilly.com

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors C21 Investments Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of C21 Investments Inc. (the "Company") as of January 31, 2021, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders' equity, and cashflows for the year then ended, and related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We served as the Company's auditor from 2020 to 2022.

Baker Tilly US, LLP

Irvine, CA

August 15, 2022

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT JANUARY 31, 2021

ASSETS	¢
ASSETS	\$
Current assets	(007 400
Cash	6,237,182
Receivables	116,017
Inventory	2,692,647
Prepaid expenses and deposits	778,037
Current portion of assets classified as held for sale	1,492,826
New assument assets	11,316,709
Non-current assets Property and equipment	2,748,636
Right-of-use assets	9,337,248
Intangible assets	10,957,961
Goodwill	28,541,323
Security deposit	47,739
Deferred tax asset	556,514
Assets classified as held for sale	3,313,334
TOTAL ASSETS	66,819,464
TOTALASSETS	00,017,404
LIABILITIES	
Current liabilities	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	2,680,996
Promissory note payable - current portion	6,080,000
Convertible promissory note - current portion	2,202,646
Income taxes payable	3,378,299
Lease liabilities - current portion	260,621
Current portion of liabilities classified as held for sale	628,171
•	15,230,733
Non-current liabilities	
Lease liabilities	9,279,123
Deposit liability	-
Promissory note payable	8,106,667
Derivative liabilities	9,759,127
Reclamation obligation	55,008
Liabilities classified as held for sale	1,132,658
TOTAL LIABILITIES	43,563,316
SHADEHOLDEDS' FOLLITY	
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY Common stock, no par value; unlimited shares authorized; 117,057,860	
shares issued and outstanding as at January 31, 2021	103,636,830
Commitment to issue shares	649.928
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(1,604,126)
Deficit Deficit	(79,426,484)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	23,256,148
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	66,819,464

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Revenue	33,466,063
Cost of sales	15,418,717
Gross Profit	18,047,346
Selling, general and administrative expense	8,807,399
Income from operations	9,239,947
Interest expense	(3,931,570)
Accretion expense	(1,220,896)
Other income	35,275
Loss on change in fair value of derivative liabilities	(5,756,195)
Net loss from continuing operations before income taxes	(1,633,439)
Income tax expense	(2,968,133)
Net loss from continuing operations after income taxes	(4,601,572)
Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes	(3,228,056)
NET LOSS	(7,829,628)
Other comprehensive loss	
Cumulative translation adjustment	(613,609)
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS	(8,443,237)
Basic loss per share from continuing operations	(0.04)
Diluted loss per share from continuing operations	(0.04)
Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations	(0.03)
Basic loss per share	(0.07)
Diluted loss per share	(0.07)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic	104,841,540
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted	104,841,540

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

	Number of shares	Common stock	Commitment to issue shares	Accumulated other comprehensive loss	Deficit	Total shareholders' equity
		\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Balance at January 31, 2020	89,388,639	85,096,509	1,100,881	(990,517)	(71,596,856)	13,610,017
Purchase of Phantom real estate	7,132,042	2,582,903	-	-	-	2,582,903
Amendment of Megawood consideration	95,849	38,415	-	-	-	38,415
Shares issued on exercise of options	200,000	98,950	-	-	-	98,950
Shares issued on exercise of convertible debentures	19,764,694	12,758,473	-	-	-	12,758,473
Commitment to issue shares on purchase of Swell Companies	456,862	429,582	(429,582)	-	-	-
Payment of EFF share payment note	19,774	21,371	(21,371)	-	-	-
Standby warrants issued	-	2,116,192	-	-	-	2,116,192
Share-based compensation	-	494,435	-	-	-	494,435
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year	-	-	-	(613,609)	(7,829,628)	(8,443,237)
Balance at January 31, 2021	117,057,860	103,636,830	649,928	(1,604,126)	(79,426,484)	23,256,148

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

	January 31, 2021
	\$
OPERATING ACTIVITIES	(4 (04 570)
Net loss from continuing operations	(4,601,572)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:	
Depreciation and amortization	2,270,526
Share-based compensation	494,435
Interest expense	3,573,101
Accretion expense	1,220,896
Deferred income tax	602.087
Foreign exchange gain	284,401
Loss on change in fair value of derivative liabilities	5,756,195
Gain on disposal of assets	(135,564)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities	(100,00 1,
Inventory	1,700,987
Prepaid expenses and deposits	(368,678)
Receivables	154,900
Assets classified as held for sale	-
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(1,431,130)
Income tax payable	(336,367)
Lease liabilities	(701,115)
Liabilities classified as held for sale	-
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations	8,483,102
Cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations	241,753
INVESTING ACTIVITIES	
Purchases of property and equipment	(227,777
Payment of Megawood consideration payable	(130,000)
Payment of Swell consideration payable	(846,256)
Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations	(1,204,033
Cash provided by investing activities of discontinued operations	100,000
FINANCING ACTIVITIES	
Principal repayments on promissory note payable	(7,013,333)
Repayment of convertible promissory notes	-
Cash proceeds from warrants	-
Cash proceeds from options	98,950
Issuance of convertible debentures on exercise of warrants	5,688,442
Interest paid in cash	(2,500,669)
Lease payments received	-
Cash used in financing activities of continuing operations	(3,726,610
Cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations	(119,914
Effect of foreign exchange on cash	(613,609)
Increase in cash during the year	3,160,689
Cash, beginning of year	3,076,493
Cash, end of year	6,237,182
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information	
Interest paid in cash	2,515,446
Income taxes paid in cash	2,832,676
Non-cash investing activities	
Right-of-use asset additions resulting from lease renewals	7,236,663
Non-cash financing activities	
Common shares issued on exercise of convertible debentures	12,758,473
Common shares issued in settlement of Phantom Farms earn out shares	-
Common shares issued as partial settlement of commitment to issue shares	450,953
Common shares issued to complete purchase of land	2,582,903
Common shares issued as partial repayment of promissory note	38,415

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

C21 Investments Inc. (the "Company" or "C21") was incorporated January 15, 1987, under the Company Act of British Columbia. The Company is a publicly traded company with its registered office is 1900-885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3H4.

Pursuant to a change of business announced on January 29, 2018 to the Cannabis industry, the Company commenced acquiring and operating revenue-producing cannabis operations in the USA.

On June 15, 2018, the Company's common shares were delisted from the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSX-V") at the Company's request and on June 18, 2018 the Company commenced trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange ("CSE"), completed its change of business to the cannabis industry and commenced trading under the symbol CXXI. The Company registered its common shares in the United States and on May 6, 2019, its shares were cleared by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority for trading on the OTC Markets platform under the U.S. trading symbol CXXIF. On September 28, 2020, the Company began trading on the OTCQB® Venture Market.

For the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company operated in two segments: recreational cannabis in Oregon, USA and recreational and medical cannabis in Nevada, USA (note 17). Subsequent to the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company made the strategic decision to exit operations in Oregon. The results of operations for the year ended January 31, 2021 have been re-stated to present the operating results of the Oregon segment as discontinued operations. The Nevada segment remains engaged in the cultivation of and manufacturing of cannabis flower products, vape products and extract products for wholesale and retail sales.

At January 31, 2021, the Company had cash of \$6,237,182, a working capital deficit of \$3,914,024, and an accumulated deficit of \$79,426,484. However, for the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company generated net positive cash flows from operations.

Management has taken several actions to ensure that the Company will continue as a going concern through January 31, 2022 and January 31, 2023, including the closing of its operations in Oregon (note 4), selling the assets in Oregon, reducing headcount, and reducing discretionary expenditures. The Company is seeking additional financing in the form of debt which could consolidate existing debt on its balance sheet on more favorable terms.

In the United States, 36 states, the District of Columbia, and four out of five U.S. territories allow the use of medical cannabis. The recreational adult-use of cannabis is legalized in 17 states, including Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Illinois, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, and the District of Columbia. At the federal level, however, cannabis currently remains a Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal Controlled Substances Act of 1970. Under U.S. federal law, a Schedule I drug or substance has a high potential for abuse, no accepted medical use in the United States, and a lack of accepted safety for the use of the drug under medical supervision. As such, even in those states in which marijuana is legalized under state law, the manufacture, importation, possession, use or distribution of cannabis remains illegal under U.S. federal law. This has created a dichotomy between state and federal law, whereby many states have elected to regulate and remove state-level penalties regarding a substance which is still illegal at the federal level. There remains uncertainty about the US federal government's position on cannabis with respect to cannabis-legal status. A change in its enforcement policies could impact the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended January 31, 2021 ("consolidated financial statements") are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss.

Functional and reporting currency

The functional currency of C21 Investments Inc. is Canadian dollars, and the functional currency of the Company's subsidiaries is U.S. dollars. C21 has determined that the U.S. dollar is the most relevant and appropriate reporting currency as the Company's operations are conducted in U.S. dollars and its financial results are prepared and reviewed internally by management in U.S. dollars. The consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of the Company and all the entities in which the Company has a controlling voting interest and is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. All consolidated entities were under common control during the entirety of the periods for which their respective results of operations were included in the consolidated statements (i.e. from the date of acquisition). All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated upon consolidation.

The following are the Company's subsidiaries that are included in these consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended January 31, 2021:

Name of Subsidiary	Country of Incorporation	Percentage Ownership	Functional Currency	Principal Activity
320204 US Holdings Corp.	USA	100%	USD	Holding Company
320204 Oregon Holdings Corp.	USA	100%	USD	Holding Company
320204 Nevada Holdings Corp.	USA	100%	USD	Holding Company
320204 Re Holdings, LLC	USA	100%	USD	Holding Company
Eco Firma Farms LLC	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis producer
Silver State Cultivation LLC	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis producer
Silver State Relief LLC	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis retailer
Swell Companies LTD	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis processor, distributor
Megawood Enterprises Inc.	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis retailer
Phantom Venture Group, LLC	USA	100%	USD	Holding Company
Phantom Brands, LLC	USA	100%	USD	Holding Company
Phantom Distribution, LLC	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis distributor
63353 Bend, LLC	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis producer
20727-4 Bend, LLC	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis processor
4964 BFH, LLC	USA	100%	USD	Cannabis producer
Workforce Concepts 21, Inc.	USA	100%	USD	Payroll and benefits services

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates and judgments.

Areas requiring a significant degree of estimation and judgment relate to the determination of fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, impairment of long-lived assets and inventory, fair value measurements, useful lives, depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and intangible assets, the recoverability and measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities, share-based compensation, and fair value of derivative liabilities.

Cash

Cash held in financial institutions and cash held at retail locations, have carrying values that approximate fair value.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect on the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rate at the reporting date. All differences are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates and any revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive loss.

Inventory

Inventory consists of raw materials, consumables and packaging supplies used in the process to prepare inventory for sale; work in process consisting of pre-harvested cannabis plants, by-products to be extracted, oils and terpenes; and finished goods.

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost determined using the weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is calculated as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any estimated costs to complete and sell the goods. Costs are capitalized to inventory, until substantially ready for sale. Costs include direct and indirect labor, raw materials, consumables, packaging supplies, utilities, facility costs, quality and testing costs, production related depreciation and other overhead costs. The Company records inventory reserves for obsolete and slow-moving inventory. Inventory reserves are based on inventory obsolescence trends, and the historical and professional experience of management. The Company classifies cannabis inventory as a current asset, although, due to the duration of the cultivation, drying, and conversion process, certain inventory items may not be realized in cost of sales within one year.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and losses on impairment.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 45 years

Leasehold improvements shorter of the life of the improvement or the remaining life of the lease

Furniture & fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Machinery & equipment 2-7 years

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortization of intangible assets begins when the asset becomes available for use. Brands, licenses, and customer relationships are amortized over 10 years, which reflect the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.

Goodwill and indefinite lived Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair value of the net intangible and tangible assets acquired. Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting unit in which the business that created the goodwill resides. A reporting unit is an operating segment, or a business unit one level below that operating segment, for which discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment management. The Company's goodwill is part of the Nevada reporting unit.

Goodwill is tested annually for any impairment, or more frequently in the case that events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a reporting unit may not be recoverable. The Company may elect to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If factors indicate this is the case, then a quantitative test is performed and an impairment is recorded for any excess carrying value above the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the amount of goodwill.

For the year ended January 31, 2021, the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to the Nevada reporting unit exceeded its carrying amount and as such, no impairment was noted.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives.

At the end of each fiscal year, the Company reviews the intangible assets' estimated useful lives and amortization methods, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Long-lived assets are reviewed for indicators of impairment at each statement of balance sheet date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that a potential impairment has occurred. The Company groups assets at the lowest level for which cash flows are separately identifiable, referred to as an asset group. When indicators of potential impairment are present the Company prepares a projected undiscounted cash flow analysis to determine the recoverable amount for the respective asset or asset group. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount and is recorded as in profit or loss equal to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use. Such assets, or disposal groups, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The comparative consolidated balance sheet is re-presented to classify assets as held for sale in the period that the respective assets are classified as held for sale.

Business combinations

Acquisitions are accounted for in accordance with ASC 805 - *Business Combinations*, with the assets and liabilities acquired recorded at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Company is required to allocate the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values. The excess of the purchase price over those fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired over the consideration, is a gain on business acquisition and would be recognized as a gain in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

Convertible instruments

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued *Accounting standards update 2020-06—debt—debt with conversion and other options (subtopic 470-20) and derivatives and hedging—contracts in entity's own equity (subtopic 815-40): accounting for convertible instruments and contracts in an entity's own equity, an update to simplify the accounting for convertible debt and other equity-linked instruments. The new guidance simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by eliminating the cash conversion and beneficial conversion feature models used to separately account for embedded conversion features as a component of equity. Instead, the Company will account for the convertible debt as a single unit of account, unless the conversion feature requires bifurcation and recognition as a derivative. Additionally, the guidance requires the Company to use the if-converted method for all convertible instruments in the diluted earnings per share calculation and include the effect of potential share settlement for instruments that may be settled in cash or shares. The Company early adopted this new guidance using the full retrospective method as of February 1, 2020. The adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements and there was no impact to the number of potentially dilutive shares in each of the periods presented.*

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued *ASU 2016-02, Leases* ("ASC 842"), a standard that requires lessees to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by requiring the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. The requirements of this standard include a significant increase in required disclosures to meet the objective of enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. The FASB has issued several amendments and practical expedients to the standard, including clarifying guidance, transition relief on comparative reporting at adoption, a practical expedient, which allows lessees to elect as an accounting policy not to apply the provisions of ASC 842 to short term leases, and codification improvements to clarify that lessees and lessors are exempt from certain interim disclosure requirement associated with adopting the new leases standard. The standard was adopted by the Company beginning February 1, 2020 and the standard was adopted using the modified retrospective transition approach, which allows the Company to recognize a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit in the period of adoption rather than restate comparative prior year periods. The cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit was \$nil. The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for short-term leases that have a term of 12 months or less.

Upon commencement of a contract containing a lease, the Company classifies leases other than short-term leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease according to the criteria prescribed by ASC 842. The lease classification is reassessed only when: (a) the contract is modified and the modification is not accounted for as a separate contract, and (b) there is a change in the lease term or the assessment of whether the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset.

For both finance leases and operating leases, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are initially measured as the present value of future lease payments and initial direct costs discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate is not readily determinable, the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Subsequent measurement of lease liabilities classified as finance leases is at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets classified as finance leases is at carrying amount less accumulated amortization, where amortization is recorded straight-line over the lease term. Subsequent measurement of lease liabilities classified as operating leases is at the present value of the unpaid lease payments discounted at the discount rate for the lease established at the commencement date. Subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets classified as operating leases is carrying amount less accumulated amortization where amortization is calculated as the difference between straight-line lease cost for the period, including amortization of initial direct costs, and the periodic accretion of the lease liability.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial liability or equity instrument of another party. Financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Subsequent measurement depends on how the financial instrument has been classified and may be at fair value or amortized cost. For financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value, the Company calculates the estimated fair value of financial instruments using quoted market prices whenever available. When quoted market prices are not available, the Company uses standard pricing models including the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

There have been no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels during the year ended January 31, 2021.

The Company's measures the derivative liability at fair value using Level 3 inputs.

The Company's cash, receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and income taxes payable are recorded at cost. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.

Financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost include promissory note payable, and reclamation obligation.

Share-based compensation

The Company measures equity settled share-based payments based on their fair value at their grant date and recognizes share-based compensation expense over the vesting period based on the Company's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. Consideration paid to the Company on the exercise of stock options is recorded as common stock.

Income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on enacted tax rates and laws for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

As the Company operates in the cannabis industry, it is subject to the limits of IRC Section 280E under which the Company is only allowed to deduct expenses directly related to the cost of producing the products or cost of production.

The Company recognizes uncertain income tax positions at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Recognition or measurement is reflected in the period in which the likelihood changes. Any interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax liabilities are presented within income tax expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

loss per share

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares. Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the respective years. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average shares outstanding adjusted for additional shares from the assumed exercise of stock options, restricted share units, or warrants, if dilutive.

The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming the outstanding dilutive convertible instruments, options, and warrants are exercised and that the assumed proceeds are used to acquire common shares at the average market price during the year. Diluted loss per share figures for the years presented are equal to those of basic loss per share for the years since the effects of convertible instruments, stock options and warrants are anti-dilutive.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized by the Company in accordance with ASC 606. Through application of the standard, the Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

In order to recognize revenue under ASC 606, the Company applies the following five steps:

- 1. Identify a customer along with a corresponding contract
- 2. Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract to transfer goods or provide distinct services to a customer
- 3. Determine the transaction price that the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer
- 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract
- 5. Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies the performance obligation(s) in the contract

The Company's contracts with customers for the sale of dried cannabis and other products derived from cannabis consist of one performance obligation, being the transfer of control of the goods to the customer at the point of sale. The Company transfers control and satisfies its performance obligation when collection has taken place, compliant documentation has been signed, and the product was accepted by the buyer. The Company does not have performance obligations subsequent to delivery on the sale of goods to customers and revenues from sale of goods are recognized at a "point in time", which is upon passing of control to the customer.

Transaction costs associated with a business combination, (i.e., other than those associated with the issuance of debt or equity), are expensed as incurred as a line item in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Reclamation obligation

The Company recognizes the fair value of a legal or constructive liability for a reclamation obligation in the year in which it is incurred and when a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The carrying amount of the related long-lived asset is increased by the same amount as the liability. Changes in the liability for a reclamation obligation due to the passage of time will be recognized within accretion expense. The amount will be recognized as an increase in the liability and an accretion expense in the consolidated statements comprehensive loss. Changes resulting from revisions to the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash flows are recognized as an increase or a decrease to the carrying amount of the liability and the related long-lived asset.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

Recent accounting pronouncements, other than those below, issued by the FASB, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants("AICPA") and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") did not or are not believed by management to have a material effect on the Company's present or future financial statements.

Debt

In August 2020, the FASB issued *ASU 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options* ("ASU 2020-06"), (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40). ASU 2020-06 simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity. The FASB reduced the number of accounting models for convertible debt and convertible preferred stock instruments and made certain disclosure amendments to improve the information provided to users. In addition, the FASB amended the derivative guidance for the own stock scope exception and certain aspects of the earnings-per-share guidance. The amendments are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted for after December 15, 2020. The Company early adopted this new guidance using the full retrospective method as of February 1, 2020.

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued new guidance on the recognition and measurement of leases, ASC 842 - Leases. Under this guidance, a lessee recognizes assets and liabilities on its balance sheet for most leases. Lease expense continues to be consistent with previous guidance. Additionally, this guidance requires enhanced disclosures regarding the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leasing arrangements. The Company adopted this guidance effective February 1, 2020 using the modified retrospective transition method and comparative year ended January 31, 2021.

The adoption of this guidance resulted in the recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets of \$5,001,360, and \$5,001,360 of lease liabilities, with a \$nil impact on deficit. The transition to ASC 842 did not have a material impact on the Company's results of operations or liquidity. When measuring lease liabilities, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate, estimated at 10%.

Revenue

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"), which provides a single comprehensive model for accounting for revenue from contracts with customers and supersedes nearly all previously existing revenue recognition guidance. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Company adopted the standard as of February 1, 2020. There was no impact of adopting ASU 2014-09 on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. ASU 2016-13 requires the measurement of current expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Adoption of ASU 2016-13 will require financial institutions and other organizations to use forward-looking information to better formulate their credit loss estimates. In addition, the ASU amends the accounting for credit losses on available for sale debt securities and purchased financial assets with credit deterioration.

This update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on February 1, 2020 and adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Fair value measurement

In August 2018, the FASB issued *ASU 2018-13*, *Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820).* ASU 2018-13 adds, modifies, and removes certain fair value measurement disclosure requirements. ASU 2018-13 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2018-13 on February 1, 2020 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes

In December 2019, the FASB issued *ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes*, which is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. ASU 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and was adopted on February 1, 2021 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As a result of non-profitable operations in the Oregon reporting unit, the Company began to wind down operations in Oregon beginning in the year ended January 31, 2021. At January 31, 2021, the Company classified the assets and liabilities in Swell and Megawood as held for sale and completed the sale of these assets in April 2021. By January 31, 2022, the Company made the decision to cease all growing, manufacturing, and processing activities in Bend, Oregon. As the Oregon reporting unit comprises the assets of multiple components in distinct geographic locations, management anticipates completing the sale on a piecemeal basis. Management is engaged in an active program to seek buyers for the major classes of assets and liabilities in Oregon in order to complete a sale in the next twelve months.

Remaining inventory on hand at January 31, 2021 had an estimated aggregate net realizable value of approximately \$1,296,009. For the year ended January 31, 2021, net loss from discontinued operations included impairment of inventory in Oregon in the amount of \$1,384,922 in order to report inventory at its net realizable value. Subsequent to January 31, 2021, the Company sold the remaining Oregon inventory on July 20, 2022.

Prepaid expenses classified as held for sale primarily relates to the renewal of licenses that may be transferred in the event of a sale. Otherwise, prepaid expenses will be expensed within loss from discontinued operations over the next twelve months.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

For the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company recorded a provision for expected credit losses on previously recorded management fees receivable of \$nil.

Long-term debt consists of vehicle loans and a building mortgage. The mortgage began on February 1, 2015 and matures on January 1, 2035 (20 years). The mortgage bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.5% with payments made monthly. The equipment and vehicle loans consist of three loans with maturity dates ranging from June 1, 2021 through May 15, 2023 and interest rates ranging from 5.59% to 19.9% with payments made monthly.

The following table summarizes the major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued Oregon operation that have been classified as held-for-sale in the consolidated balance sheet:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Carrying amounts of the major classes of assets included in discontinued operations:	
Receivables	93,855
Inventory	1,296,009
Prepaid expenses and deposits	153,904
Deferred tax asset	109,753
Property and equipment	1,895,572
Right-of-use assets	1,074,930
Intangible assets	182,137
Total assets classified as held for sale	4,806,160
Current portion of assets classified as held for sale	(1,492,826)
Non-current portion of assets classified as held for sale	3,313,334
Carrying amounts of the major classes of liabilities included in	
discontinued operations:	4 247 400
Lease liabilities	1,217,499
Long-term debt	543,330
Total liabilities classified as held for sale	1,760,829
Current portion of liabilities classified as held for sale	(628,171)
Non-current portion of liabilities classified as held for sale	1,132,658

In connection with the wind-down of operations, the Company concluded that the customer relationship intangible asset held in the Oregon reporting unit had no value and recognized \$ nil of impairment. Other expenses for the year ended January 31, 2021 included interest expense of \$183,404, acquisition re-organization costs of \$1,204,740, and impairment on capital assets of \$116,881, offset by other income of \$231,212.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The following table provides the major classes of line items constituting pre-tax loss from discontinued operations:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Revenue	2,661,223
Cost of sales	2,393,417
Gross margin	267,806
Expenses	
General and administration	630,691
Provision for expected credit losses	-
Sales, marketing, and promotion	27,933
Operating lease cost	56,650
Depreciation and amortization	378,113
Impairment of inventory	1,384,922
Impairment of intangible asset	-
Other expenses	1,273,813
Net loss from discontinued operations before income taxes	(3,484,316)
Income tax expense	256,260
Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes	(3,228,056)

The following table summarizes the cash flows from discontinued operations:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities of discontinued	
operations	241,753
Net cash provided by investing activities of discontinued operations	100,000
Net cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations	(119,914)

5. SECURITY DEPOSIT

The Company has a security deposit with the Alberta Energy Regulator ("AER") under the AER's Liability Management programs to cover potential liabilities relating to its wells. The required security deposit with the AER is determined based on a monthly licensee management rating assessment. At January 31, 2021, the security deposit had a balance of \$47,739.

6. RECEIVABLES

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Sales taxes receivable	14,809
Trade receivables, net	101,208
	116,017

At January 31, 2021, trade receivables are presented net of a provision for expected credit losses of \$nil.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

7. INVENTORY

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Finished goods	1,946,638
Work in process	582,655
Raw materials	163,354
	2,692,647

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Property and equipment

The following table summarizes the Company's property and equipment:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Land	1,330,000
Leasehold improvements	244,472
Furniture & fixtures	376,207
Computer equipment	94,846
Machinery & equipment	1,261,340
	3,306,865
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization	(558,229)
	2,748,636

Total depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended January 31, 2021 was \$630,818. Of the total expense, \$135,950 was allocated to inventory.

At January 31, 2021, the Company reclassified property and equipment with a cost of \$1,479,014 and accumulated depreciation of \$751,582 to assets classified as to held for sale. The assets consisted primarily of redundant processing and extraction equipment as well as leasehold improvements and fixtures in a right-of-use asset. Management estimated the fair value less costs to sell exceeds the carrying value and therefore the assets are measured at their carrying values.

During the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company recorded a loss of \$116,881 related to the disposal of various items of leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, computer equipment and machinery and equipment related to the Oregon operations. The cost of the property and equipment disposed of was \$318,314 and accumulated depreciation was \$201,433. There was \$nil gross proceeds and the loss has been recorded as other expenses within net loss from discontinued operations.

During the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company transferred lights and equipment with a cost of \$324,371 and accumulated depreciation of \$128,319 between operating units resulting in a classification change from leasehold improvements to machinery and equipment.

Right-of-use assets

The Company's right-of-use assets result from its operating leases (note 11) and consist of land and buildings used in the cultivation, processing, and warehousing of its products.

During the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company amended lease agreements on three leases to extend their term. This resulted in right-of-use asset additions of \$7,236,663.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For the year ended January 31, 2021, operating lease costs include right-of-use asset amortization of \$800,269. Of this, \$450,413 was allocated to inventory.

At January 31, 2021, the Company reclassified right-of-use assets with a carrying amount of \$583,257 to held for sale following an assessment that the Swell and Pure Green properties were redundant to the Company's operation. In addition, the Company reclassified the associated lease liabilities of \$628,171 to be classified as held for sale. Management estimated the fair value less costs to sell exceeds the carrying value and therefore the assets are measured at their carrying values.

At January 31, 2021, the Company reclassified right-of-use assets with a carrying amount of \$491,672 to held for sale. Management estimated the fair value less costs to sell exceeds the carrying value and therefore the assets are measured at their carrying values.

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Intangible assets

The following table summarizes the Company's intangible assets:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Licenses	12,141,476
Brands	868,982
Customer relationships	2,122,063
·	15,132,521
Less: accumulated amortization	(4,174,560)
	10,957,961

Total amortization expense from intangible assets for the year ended January 31, 2021 was \$1,464,528.

During the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company sold a brand for \$100,000. At the time of the sale, the brand had a carrying amount of \$100,000 comprised of cost of \$117,737 and accumulated amortization of \$17,737.

At January 31, 2021, the Company reclassified intangible assets with a cost of \$400,009 and accumulated amortization of \$217,872 to held for sale. The intangible assets classified as held for sale consist of licenses, customer lists, and startup costs associated with a right-of-use asset that has also been classified as held for sale. Management estimated the fair value less costs to sell exceeds the carrying value and therefore the assets are measured at their carrying values.

Goodwill

As at January 31, 2021, the Company had goodwill of \$28,541,323 which was allocated to the Nevada reporting unit.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The following table summarizes the Company's accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Accounts payable	1,382,519
Accrued liabilities	1,183,259
Interest payable	115,218
	2,680,996

11. LEASES

On February 1, 2020 the Company adopted ASC 842 using the modified retrospective transition approach which requires the recognition of lease assets and liabilities for operating and finance leases. Beginning on February 1, 2020, the Company's financial statements are presented in accordance with the revised policy.

The Company's accounting policy is described in note 3. As a result of the adoption of ASC 842, the Company recorded operating right-of-use assets of \$5,001,360, and operating lease liabilities of \$5,001,360.

The Company's leases consist of land and buildings used in the cultivation, processing, and warehousing of its products. All leases were found to be operating leases in accordance with ASC 842.

The following table presents the Company's active leases and total lease term under contract:

		Useful life	
Entity Name/Lessee	Asset	(years)	Type
Swell Companies, LTD	Land/Building	5	Operating lease
Silver State Cultivation LLC	Land/Building	12	Operating lease
Silver State Relief LLC (Sparks)	Land/Building	12	Operating lease
Silver State Relief LLC (Fernley)	Land/Building	12	Operating lease
Megawood Enterprises Inc.	Land/Building	5	Operating lease
Phantom Distribution, LLC	Land/Building	5	Operating lease
63353 Bend, LLC	Land/Building	5	Operating lease
20727-4 Bend, LLC	Land/Building	5	Operating lease
4964 BFH, LLC	Land/Building	5	Operating lease

For the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company incurred operating lease costs of \$1,249,422. Of these amounts, \$700,185, were allocated to inventory.

The following table displays the weighted average discount rate used in calculating lease liabilities and weighted average remaining lease term:

	January 31, 2021
Weighted average discount rate	10%
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)	11.32

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

11. LEASES (Continued)

The maturity of the contractual undiscounted lease liabilities of the Company's operating leases as of January 31, 2021 is as follows:

Year ending January,	Continuing	Discontinued	
	operations	operations	Total
			\$
2022	1,203,000	420,382	1,623,382
2023	1,239,090	426,184	1,665,274
2024	1,276,263	415,947	1,692,210
2025	1,314,551	144,732	1,459,283
2026	1,353,987	36,399	1,390,386
Thereafter	10,543,546	-	10,543,546
Total undiscounted lease liabilities	16,930,437	1,443,644	18,374,081
Interest on lease liabilities	(7,390,693)	(226,145)	(7,616,838)
Total present value of minimum lease payments	9,539,744	1,217,499	10,757,243
Current portion of lease liability	260,621	314,799	575,420
Non-current portion of lease liability	9,279,123	902,700	10,181,823

As at January 31, 2021, liabilities classified as held for sale includes lease liabilities of \$1,217,499. The Company had total undiscounted lease liabilities with related parties of \$17,615,013 (note 18). Of the total undiscounted lease liabilities with related parties, \$684,576 are classified as held for sale.

12. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES AND PROMISSORY NOTES

The Company early adopted ASU 2020-06 on February 1, 2021 using the full retrospective method. The adoption eliminates the cash conversion and beneficial conversion feature models used to separately account for embedded conversion features as a component of equity.

Transaction costs related to the issuance of convertible promissory notes are apportioned to their respective financial liability and equity components (if applicable) in proportion to the allocation of proceeds as a reduction to the carrying amount of each component.

When valuing the financial liability component of the convertible debentures and promissory notes, the Company used specific interest rates assuming no conversion features existed. The resulting liability component is accreted to its face value over the convertible note's term until its maturity date.

Convertible debentures

The following is the continuity of the Company's convertible debentures issued in Canadian dollars. All below disclosure is denominated in U.S. dollars:

	December 31,	anuary 30, 2019	
	2018 issuance	issuance	Total
	\$	\$	\$
Balance, January 31, 2020	2,066,976	4,179,094	6,246,070
New issuances on exercise of warrants	1,749,065	3,939,377	5,688,442
Conversions	(4,075,959)	(8,682,514)	(12,758,473)
Interest	190,003	409,237	599,240
Accretion expense	251,990	473,248	725,238
Interest paid - cash	(250,879)	(534,039)	(784,918)
Foreign exchange loss	68,804	215,597	284,401
Balance, January 31, 2021	-	-	-

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

12. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES AND PROMISSORY NOTES (Continued)

The following transactions occurred during the year ended January 31, 2021:

- (a) 262 convertible debentures were issued for gross proceeds of \$195,734 (C\$262,000). A total of \$2,508,068 (C\$3,209,000) in principal of the December 31, 2018 convertible debentures were converted into 4,011,250 common shares of the Company. The remaining balance outstanding is \$nil.
- (b) 497 convertible debentures were issued for gross proceeds of \$371,297 (C\$497,000). A total of \$5,204,120 (C\$6,673,000) in principal of the January 30, 2019 convertible debentures were converted into 8,341,250 common shares of the Company. The remaining balance outstanding is \$nil.
- (c) 1,988 warrants were exercised in connection with the convertible debentures issued on December 31, 2018, resulting in gross proceeds of \$1,485,188 (C\$1,988,000). 2,087 warrant debentures with a carrying amount of \$1,632,114 (C\$2,087,000) were converted into 2,313,322 common shares of the Company. At January 31, 2021, all warrants had been exercised or expired.
- (d) 4,572 warrants were exercised in connection with the convertible debentures issued on January 30, 2019, resulting in gross proceeds of \$3,415,633 (C\$4,572,000). 4,587 warrant debentures issued under the January 30, 2019 issuance with a carrying amount of \$3,595,099 (C\$4,587,000) were converted into 5,098,872 common shares of the Company. At January 31, 2021, all warrants had been exercised or expired.

The following is a continuity of the Company's convertible promissory notes denominated in U.S. dollars:

	June 13, 2018	January 23, 2019	May 24, 2019	
	issuance	issuance	issuance	Total
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Balance, January 31, 2020	639,665	175,000	918,316	1,732,981
Payment	-	(175,000)	-	(175,000)
Interest	48,733	-	100,274	149,007
Accretion expense	384,192	-	111,466	495,658
Balance, January 31, 2021	1,072,590	-	1,130,056	2,202,646

On June 13, 2018, the Company issued convertible promissory notes to the vendors that sold Eco Firma Farms, LLC to the Company in the aggregate principal amount of \$2,000,000. The convertible promissory notes were convertible at \$1.00 per share. The convertible promissory notes accrue interest at a rate of 4% per annum, compounded annually, and were fully due and payable on June 13, 2021. The Company is in an ongoing dispute with the vendors over repayment (note 22).

On issuance, the Company determined the conversion feature was a derivative liability as the convertible promissory notes are exercisable in USD while the functional currency of the Company is Canadian dollars. The fair value of the conversion feature as at January 31, 2021 was \$409,007.

On January 23, 2019, the Company issued a convertible promissory note to the vendor that sold Megawood Enterprises, Inc. to the Company in the principal amount of \$175,000. The convertible note is convertible into 35,000 common shares of the Company at a conversion price of C\$5.00 per conversion share and may be converted at any time between October 24, 2019 and January 24, 2020. On issuance, the Company determined the conversion feature was a derivative liability as the convertible promissory notes are exercisable in USD while the functional currency of the Company is Canadian dollars. The fair value of the conversion feature as at January 31, 2021 was \$nil. On February 21, 2020, the Company repaid the convertible promissory note with a cash payment of \$130,000 and the issuance of 95,849 common shares (note 15).

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

12. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES AND PROMISSORY NOTES (Continued)

On May 24, 2019, the Company issued a two-year unsecured convertible promissory note to a debtor of Swell Companies in the principal amount of \$1,000,000. The convertible note accrues interest at 10% per annum compounded annually and payable at maturity. The note is convertible into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of \$1.56 per share and may be converted at the maturity date. On issuance, the Company determined the conversion feature was a derivative liability as the convertible promissory notes are exercisable in USD while the functional currency of the Company is Canadian dollars. The fair value of the conversion feature as at January 31, 2021 was \$76,150.

On May 24, 2021 the note was fully repaid.

Promissory notes

The following is a continuity of the Company's promissory notes denominated in U.S. dollars:

	January 1, 2019
	issuance
	\$
Balance, January 31, 2020	21,200,000
Payments	(7,013,333)
Balance, January 31, 2021	14,186,667
Current portion	6,080,000
Non-current portion	8,106,667

On January 1, 2019, the Company issued a promissory note to Mr. Newman, who sold Silver State to the Company in the principal amount of \$30,000,000. The note is payable in the following principal instalments: \$3,000,000 on April 1, 2019, \$6,000,000 on each of July 1, 2019, October 1, 2019, January 1, 2020, and April 1, 2020, and \$3,000,000 on July 1, 2020. The note accrues interest at a rate of 10% per annum. The note is secured by all of the outstanding membership interests, and a security interest in all of the assets, of Silver State.

On July 1, 2019, the terms of the promissory note payable for the acquisition of Silver State were amended to call for immediate payment of \$2,000,000 plus accrued interest on July 1, 2019 followed by payments of \$800,000 plus accrued interest on the first of each of August, September, October, November, and December 2019.

Effective November 21, 2019 and June 25, 2020, Mr. Newman and the Company agreed to further amend the terms of the secured promissory note due to Mr. Newman. The December 1, 2019 principal payment of \$800,000 was cancelled and the monthly principal payments thereafter were reduced to \$600,000 per month. Further, the annual interest rate on the note was reduced from 10% to 9.5%. The remaining balance on the note is due and payable on January 1, 2021. This modification resulted in a gain of \$nil.

On November 19, 2020, the Company announced agreement with Mr. Newman that the remaining \$15,200,000 principal outstanding on his senior secured Note, due to mature on January 1, 2021, has been amended with lower monthly payments amortized over a 30-month period. Commencing December 1, 2020, the monthly payments will be \$506,667 plus interest. The interest rate at 9.5% is unchanged.

For the year ended January 31, 2021, interest expense was \$1,643,363. Interest paid during the year ended January 31, 2021 was \$1,715,750.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

13. RECLAMATION OBLIGATION

The Company has recorded a decommissioning provision in connection with estimated reclamation costs on a previously written off property. The obligation is recognized based on the estimated future reclamation costs. The Company had two wells in Alberta which were determined to be uneconomic and costs have been incurred to plug these wells. Reclamation and remediation work is still required to bring the site back to its natural state.

14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES

The following reflects the continuity of derivative liabilities:

	Conversion features of convertible promissory notes	Earn out shares	Total
	\$	\$	\$
Balance, January 31, 2020	151,242	3,699,154	3,850,396
Fair value adjustment on derivative liabilities	333,915	5,422,280	5,756,195
Effect of foreign exchange	-	152,536	152,536
Balance, January 31, 2021	485,157	9,273,970	9,759,127

Upon the February 4, 2019 acquisition of Phantom Farms the vendors can earn up to 4,500,000 'earn out' shares over a period of seven years. The conditions were based on the Company's common shares exceeding certain share prices during the period. The liability was derived using a Monte Carlo simulation.

Upon the May 24, 2019 acquisition of Swell Companies the vendors can earn up to 6,000,000 'earn out' shares over a period of seven years. The conditions are based on C21 common shares exceeding certain share prices during the period. Additionally, the 50% of the earn out shares are earned upon a change of control of the Company. The liability is derived using a Monte Carlo simulation.

Significant inputs into the Monte Carlo simulation used to determine the fair value of earn of earn out shares were as follows:

	Earn out shares
	January 31, 2021
Discount rate	0.30%
Expected life in years	5.34
Expected stock volatility	80%
Expected volatility of foreign exchange	5.29%

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the conversion features of the convertible promissory notes is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Significant inputs into the calculation were as follows:

	Conversion	Conversion
	feature of June feature of M	
	13, 2018 issuance	2019 issuance of
	issuance of	convertible
	convertible	promissory notes
	promissory notes	
	January 31, 2021	January 31, 2021
Discount rate	0.18%	0.18%
Expected life in years	0.36	0.31
Expected stock volatility	85%	86%
Stock price (CAD)	\$1.54	\$1.54
Exercise price (CAD)	\$1.28	\$2.00

As at January 31, 2021, the conversion features of the June 13, 2018 and May 24, 2019 convertible promissory notes had fair values of \$409,007 and \$76,150, respectively. Subsequent to January 31, 2021, the conversion features expired on June 13, 2021 and May 24, 2021, respectively unexercised.

15. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock consists of one class of fully paid common shares, with no par value. The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. All shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and repayment of capital and represent one vote at the Company's shareholders' meetings.

The following table reflects the continuity of common stock for the year ended January 31, 2021:

	Number of	Common stock
	Shares	Common stock
Release January 24, 2020	00 200 420	\$
Balance, January 31, 2020	89,388,639	85,096,509
Shares issued - acquisition of Phantom Farms (i)	7,132,042	2,582,903
Shares issued - Megawood (ii)	95,849	38,415
Shares issued - option exercises (iii)	200,000	98,950
Shares issued - conversion of debentures (iv)	19,764,694	12,758,473
Shares issued - Swell commitment (v)	456,862	429,582
Shares issued - EFF commitment (vi)	19,774	21,371
Standby warrants issued	-	2,116,192
Share-based compensation	-	494,435
Balance, January 31, 2021	117,057,860	103,636,830

- (i) On February 19, 2020, the Company amended the terms of the purchase of Phantom Farms, including SDP. The amended terms of the purchase agreement regarding the real estate assets of SDP group resulted in the Company electing to purchase the real estate of the Phantom Farms outdoor grow (two parcels), and SDP receiving 7,132,042 shares of C21 with a fair value of \$2,582,903.
- (ii) On February 21, 2020, the Company repaid the convertible promissory note with a cash payment of \$130,000 and the issuance of 95,849 common shares with a fair value of \$38,415 (note 12).

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

15. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONTINUED)

- (iii) On October 15, 2020, the Company issued 200,000 shares upon the exercise of stock options.
- (iv) During the year ended January 31, 2021 the Company issued 19,764,694 shares upon the conversion of debentures.
- (v) On November 23, 2020, the Company issued 456,862 common shares to Swell as part of the purchase agreement dated May 23, 2019 as final settlement of the Company's commitment to issue shares.
- (vi) On December 30, 2020, the Company issued 19,774 common shares to the vendors of EFF for a partial settlement of the Company's commitment to issue shares.

Commitment to issue shares

The Company issued a promissory note payable to deliver 2,142,000 shares to the vendors of EFF in the amount of \$1,905,635, without interest, any time after October 15, 2018. As at January 31, 2021 the Company has a remaining commitment to deliver 1,349,046 shares.

Warrants

The following summarizes the Company's warrant activity:

	Warrants outstanding	Weighted average exercise price	Weighted average remaining life
	#	C\$	Years
Balance January 31, 2020	5,694,746	1.66	0.74
Issued	6,200,000	1.00	
Balance, January 31, 2021	11,894,746	1.32	1.96

As at January 31, 2021, the following warrants were outstanding and exercisable:

Expiry Date	Exercise Price	Number of Warrants
	C\$	#
February 4, 2021	1.50	1,700,000
May 28, 2021	1.83	2,794,746
December 31, 2023	1.00	1,922,000
January 30, 2024	1.00	4,278,000
May 24, 2024	1.50	1,200,000
		11,894,746

On May 28, 2020, the Company extended the expiry date of 2,794,746 warrants with an exercise price of C\$1.83, from May 29, 2020 to May 29, 2021, with all other terms the same. These warrants expired unexercised on May 29, 2021.

On February 4, 2021, 456,100 warrants with an exercise price of \$1.17 (C\$1.50) were exercised to purchase 456,100 common shares of the Company for proceeds of \$533,326. Of the warrants exercised, 426,100 were exercised by a Director of the Company. On the same date, 1,243,900 warrants expired unexercised.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

15. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Continued)

On June 17, 2021, 4,160,000 warrants were exercised on a cashless basis for 1,214,080 common shares of the Company.

Stock options

The Company is authorized to grant options to executive officers and directors, employees and consultants, enabling them to acquire up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. The exercise price of each option is set by the Board of Directors and shall not be less than the market price of the Company's shares on the date of grant. The options can be granted for a maximum term of 10 years. Vesting is determined by the Board of Directors.

Details of the Company's stock option activity are as follows:

	Options outstanding and exercisable	Weighted average exercise price	Weighted average remaining life
	#	C\$	Years
Balance January 31, 2020	3,255,000	1.78	2.18
Granted	4,055,000	0.73	
Exercised	(200,000)	0.65	
Expired/Cancelled	(145,000)	0.71	
Balance, January 31, 2021	6,965,000	1.22	2.05

As at January 31, 2021, the following stock options were outstanding and exercisable:

Expiry Date	Exercise Price	Outstanding	Exercisable
	C\$	#	#
June 25, 2021	2.80	1,350,000	1,350,000
February 5, 2022	1.11	460,000	460,000
October 9, 2022	1.38	500,000	500,000
January 24, 2023	0.80	100,000	100,000
August 17, 2023	0.70	3,905,000	1,301,667
January 28, 2024	1.50	150,000	50,000
October 9, 2024	1.00	500,000	500,000
		6,965,000	4,261,667

During the year ended January 31, 2021, the Company recorded a share-based compensation expense of \$494,435. The fair value of stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model using the following weighted average assumptions:

Expiry Date	2021
Risk-free rate	0.19%
Expected term of options	3 years
Annualized volatility	80%
Dividend rate	0%

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

16. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended January 31, 2021 were comprised of the following:

	2021
	\$
Accounting and legal	501,854
Depreciation and amortization	1,321,686
License fees, taxes and insurance	1,705,539
Office Facilities and administrative	253,230
Operating lease cost	549,031
Other	372,307
Professional Fees and consulting	650,188
Salaries and wages	2,884,320
Share-based compensation	494,435
Shareholder Communications	15,834
Travel and entertainment	58,975
	8,807,399

17. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company defines its major geographic operating segments as Oregon and Nevada. Due to the jurisdictional cannabis compliance issues ever-present in the industry, each state operation is by nature operationally segmented.

Key decision makers primarily review revenue, cost of sales expense, and gross margin as the primary indicators of segment performance. As the Company continues to expand via acquisition, the segmented information will expand based on management's agreed upon allocation of costs beyond gross margin.

Segmented operational activity and balances are as follows:

January 31, 2021	Discontinued operations	Nevada	Corporate	Consolidated
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Total revenue	2,661,223	33,466,063	-	36,127,286
Gross profit	267,806	18,047,346	-	18,315,152
Operating expenses:			-	=
Selling, general and administrative	(658,624)	(3,643,205)	(2,799,042)	(7,100,871)
Operating lease cost	(56,650)	(549,031)	-	(605,681)
Depreciation and amortization	(378,113)	(1,270,564)	(51,122)	(1,699,799)
Share-based compensation	=	=	(494,435)	(494,435)
Impairment of inventory	(1,384,922)	=	-	(1,384,922)
Interest, accretion, and other	(1,273,813)	(137,651)	(10,735,735)	(12,147,199)
Net income (loss) before taxes	(3,484,316)	12,446,895	(14,080,334)	(5,117,755)

Entity-wide disclosures

All revenue for the year ended January 31, 2021 was earned in the United States.

For the year ended January 31, 2021, no customer represented more than 10% of the Company's net revenue.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

17. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (Continued)

The following table displays the disaggregation of long-lived assets by geographic area:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Nevada	10,110,806
Discontinued operations (Oregon)	1,946,961
Other	28,117
Total	12,085,884

18. COMMITMENTS

The Company and its subsidiaries are committed under lease agreements with related parties, for land, office space, and equipment in Nevada and Oregon as well as for mortgage payments on a building held for sale. At January 31, 2021, the Company has the following future minimum payments:

	Mortgage	Leases with related parties	Total
	\$	\$	\$
2022	277,214	1,431,192	1,708,406
2023	232,961	1,467,282	1,700,243
2024	224,513	1,504,455	1,728,968
2025	80,414	1,314,551	1,394,965
2026	45,743	1,353,987	1,399,730
Thereafter	415,496	10,543,546	10,959,042
	1,276,341	17,615,013	18,891,354

Leases with related parties includes \$684,576 of undiscounted lease payments for lease liabilities held for sale.

19. INCOME TAXES

The Company is a Canadian resident company, as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the "ITA"), for Canadian income tax purposes. However, it has subsidiaries that are treated as United States corporations for US federal income tax purposes per the Internal Revenue Code (US) ("IRC") and are thereby subject to federal income tax on their worldwide income. As a result, the Company is subject to taxation both in Canada and the United States.

The components of the income tax provision for the year ended January 31, 2021 include:

	January 31,
	2021
	\$
Current	
Canadian	-
US Federal	2,366,046
Total current income tax expense	2,366,046
Deferred	
Canadian	-
US Federal	602,087
Total deferred income tax recovery	602,087
Total income tax expense	2,968,133

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

19. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The domestic and foreign components of loss before provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

	January 31,
	2021
	\$
Canadian	(11,678,406)
US Federal	10,044,967
Loss before income taxes	(1,633,439)

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate percentage to the effective tax rate for the year ended January 31, 2021 is as follows:

	January 31,
	2021
	\$
Loss for the year	(1,633,439)
Statutory rate	27%
Income tax recovery at statutory rate	(441,029)
Non-deductible expenditures and non-taxable revenues	1,842,777
Foreign tax rate differential	(602,698)
Change in valuation allowance	737,667
Adjustment to provision versus statutory tax returns	1,431,416
	2,968,133

The significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets as follows at January 31, 2021:

	January 31,
	2021
	\$
Deferred tax assets	
Share issuance costs and financing fees	505,035
Allowable capital losses	138,421
Non-capital losses	3,834,262
Intangible assets	816,736
Mineral resource properties	983,977
Right of use assets and lease liabilities, net	63,032
Goodwill	-
Reclamation obligation	14,852
Total deferred tax assets	6,356,315
Valuation allowance	(5,573,835)
Total net deferred tax assets	782,480
Deferred tax liabilities	
Property and equipment	(225,966)
Net deferred tax asset	556,514

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

19. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Realization of deferred tax assets associated with the net operating loss carryforwards is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income prior to their expiration. A valuation allowance to reflect management's estimate of the net operating loss carryforwards that may expire prior to their utilization has been recorded at January 31, 2021.

As the Company operates in the cannabis industry, the Company is subject to the limits of Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") Section 280E for US federal income tax purposes as well as state income tax purposes for all states except for California and Colorado. Under IRC Section 280E, the Company is only allowed to deduct expenses directly related to costs of goods sold. This results in permanent differences between ordinary and necessary business expenses deemed non-allowable under IRC Section 280E.

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred by the Canadian entity over the three-year period ended January 31, 2021. Such objective evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as our projections for future growth.

On the basis of this evaluation, as of January 31, 2021, a valuation allowance of \$5,573,835 has been recorded to recognize only the portion of the deferred tax asset that is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced or increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth.

The Company recognizes benefits from uncertain tax positions based on the cumulative probability method whereby the largest benefit with a cumulative probability of greater than 50% is recorded. An uncertain tax position is not recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. As of January 31, 2021, the Company has not recorded any uncertain tax assets or liabilities.

The Company does not expect that uncertain tax benefits will materially change in the next 12 months. The Company is subject to taxation in Canada and the United States. As of January 31, 2021, tax years for 2019 and 2020 are subject to examination by the tax authorities. The 2018 tax year is also subject to investigation in Canada.

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances due to related parties included in accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and promissory note payable at January 31, 2021:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Due to the President and CEO	14,369,004
Lease liabilities due to a company controlled by the CEO	9,539,744
Lease liabilities due to SDP Development	589,328
Due to the CFO of the Company	527
	24,498,603

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021

(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Due to the President and CEO consists of promissory note principal and interest and reimbursable expenses incurred in the normal course of business.

The Company had the following transactions with related parties including key management personnel during the year ended January 31, 2021:

	January 31, 2021
	\$
Consulting fees paid to a director	-
Amounts paid to CEO or companies controlled by CEO	10,368,616
Salary paid to directors and officers	499,710
Share compensation for directors and officers	360,610
Convertible debenture interest paid to directors and officers	18,346
Lease payments made to SDP Development	228,192
	11,475,474

Amounts paid to CEO or companies controlled by CEO consists of salary, lease payments, and promissory note principal and interest.

On February 12, 2020, the Company amended the purchase agreement with SDP Development, of which a director of the Company is a principal owner. The Company had agreed on February 4, 2019 to purchase SDP Development on October 15, 2020, which owned six real estate properties that were leased in connection with Phantom Farms' cannabis cultivation, processing and wholesale distribution operations. The aggregate purchase price was \$8,010,000 payable in cash, or, at the election of the vendors, in whole or in part by the issue of 2,670,000 shares at \$3.00 per common share.

On February 12, 2020 the parties agreed to the following modified terms: the Company purchased the two Southern Oregon farms from SDP Development constituting over 60 acres of real property housing the two outdoor cannabis cultivation facilities totaling 80,000 square feet of canopy, rent reduction on the three Phantom properties in Central Oregon, and a release from the obligation to purchase the sixth property in Southern Oregon. In exchange, the SDP vendors received 7,132,041 common shares of the Company with a fair value of \$2,582,903. The consideration exceeded the fair market value of the land acquired and as a result, the Company recorded transaction costs of \$1,204,740. The Company has three remaining leases with SDP Development. The undiscounted future cash flows for the three remaining leases at January 31, 2021 total \$684,576.

On November 16, 2020, the Company amended the terms of the three Nevada leases with Double G Holdings (a Company controlled by the Company's President and CEO). The term of the two dispensary leases and the warehouse lease was extended to November 30, 2027 with a right to extend for a further five years and with an annual increase to the base rent of 3% commencing January 1, 2022. At January 31, 2021, the undiscounted future cash flows for all three leases including the five-year extension total \$16,930,437.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation for the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended January 31, 2021:

	January 31, 2021
Net loss from continuing operations after income taxes Net loss from discontinued operations after income taxes Net loss	\$(4,601,572) \$(3,228,056) \$(7,829,628)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding Dilutive effect of warrants and stock options outstanding Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding	104,841,540 - 104,841,540
Basic loss per share, continuing operations Diluted loss per share, continuing operations	\$(0.04) \$(0.04)
Basic loss per share, discontinued operations Diluted loss per share, discontinued operations	\$(0.03) \$(0.03)
Basic loss per share Diluted loss per share	\$(0.07) \$(0.07)

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes the effect of the potential exercise of warrants and stock options when the average market price of the common stock is lower than the exercise price of the respective warrant or stock option and when inclusion of these amounts would be anti-dilutive. For the year ended January 31, 2021, the number of warrants and stock options excluded from the computation was 16,156,413.

22. CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Company is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of its business. Management is of the opinion that disposition of any current matter will not have a material adverse impact on the Company's balance sheet, results of operations, or the ability to carry on any of its business activities.

Legal proceedings

Oregon Action: A complaint was filed in the Oregon State Circuit Court for Clackamas County, on April 29, 2019, by two current owners of Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC (the former sole member of EFF) (the "Plaintiffs"), alleging contract, employment, and statutory claims, alleging \$612,500 in damages (as amended), against the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries 320204 US Holdings Corp, EFF, Swell Companies Limited, and Phantom Brands LLC, in addition to three directors, two officers, and one former employee (the "Oregon Action"). The Company and the other defendants wholly denied the allegations and claims made in the lawsuit and is defending the lawsuit. On June 21, 2019, the Company filed Oregon Rule of Civil Procedure ("ORCP") 21 motions to dismiss all of the Plaintiffs' claims against it, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and other defendants; on May 6, 2020, the court granted the Company's ORCP 21 motion in its entirety to dismiss all of Plaintiffs' claims. The judgment of dismissal was entered by the Clackamas County court on or about October 14, 2020. On November 12, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the judgement of dismissal.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

22. CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

On October 22, 2020, the Company submitted a petition to recover the costs and attorney fees incurred by the Company as the prevailing party in the Oregon Action. On January 20, 2021, the Court ruled in the Company's favor, awarding the Company and its subsidiaries \$68,195 in attorney's fees, \$1,252 in costs, and a statutory prevailing party fee of \$640, through a supplemental judgment. On March 3, 2021, Plaintiffs filed an amended notice of appeal from the supplemental judgment awarding attorney fees.

The parties have since briefed the appeal to the Oregon Court of Appeals and await a determination from the Court. It is too early to predict the resolution of the appeal.

British Columbia Action: On or about September 13, 2019, the Company delivered a notice to the above-mentioned Plaintiffs of alleged breach and default under the EFF purchase and sale agreement, due to alleged unlawful, intentional acts and material misrepresentations by the Plaintiffs before and after the completion of the purchase. As a result of such breach, the Company denied the Plaintiffs' tender of their share payment notes in connection with the agreement. On or about October 14, 2019, Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC and one of its current owners, sued the Company in the Supreme Court of British Columbia to compel the issuance and delivery of the subject shares, including interests and costs (the "British Columbia Action").

On November 8, 2019, the Company responded and counterclaimed for general, special and punitive damages, including interest and costs, related to breach of contract, repudiation of contract, breach of indemnity and fraudulent and negligent misrepresentation by the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs filed a response to the Company's counterclaims on or about June 5, 2020, and the parties stipulated to a form of amended pleading which included the joinder of additional parties, an owner of Proudest Monkey Holdings, LLC and EFF, and additional contract and equitable claims and damages, partially duplicative to those alleged by the Plaintiffs in the Oregon lawsuit (breach of contract, indemnity, unjust enrichment and wrongful termination claims). Plaintiffs allege \$2,774,176 in damages (as amended), plus unquantified additional damages, interest and costs, of which amounts are partially duplicative of the Oregon Action. This action remains in the discovery stage, but no trial date has been set. It is too early to predict the resolution of the claims and counterclaims.

Settled and Dismissed Action: On or about May 30, 2019, Wallace Hill Partners Ltd. ("Wallace Hill") filed a civil claim in the Supreme Court of British Columbia alleging breach of contract and entitlement to 1,800,000 common shares of the Company, fully vested by March 1, 2019, and damages due to the lost opportunity to sell those shares after such date for a profit. On June 23, 2019, the Company circulated a letter to Wallace Hill terminating the agreement and accepting Wallace Hill's repudiation of the agreement based on Wallace Hill's previously published defamatory comments and termination of the agreement. Also, on June 23, 2019, the Company filed its response to the civil claim denying all claims and filed counterclaims alleging breach of contract, a declaratory judgment of termination of the agreement, defamation and an injunction from further defamatory comments.

On March 23, 2022, the Company and Wallace Hill entered into a mutual release agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, all parties agreed to dismiss their respective claims and to release one another from any further causes of action in connection with the subject matter of the original claims. On April 23, 2022, the parties filed a Notice of Discontinuance in the Supreme Court of British Columbia formally dismissing the civil action.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2021 (Expressed in U.S. dollars, except as noted)

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tables present information about the Company's financial instruments and their classifications as of January 31, 2021 and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs utilized to determine such fair value:

Fair value measurements at January 31, 2021 using:

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
	\$	\$	\$	\$
Financial liabilities:				
Conversion features of convertible				
promissory notes (note 14)	-	-	485,157	485,157
Earn out shares (note 14)	-	-	9,273,970	9,273,970

The fair value of the conversion feature of convertible promissory notes was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions in the model were based on the share price and other active market data that is observable as well as unobservable estimates and therefore represent a level 3 measurement.

The fair value of the derivative liability associated with the earn out shares was derived using a Monte Carlo simulation using non-observable inputs, and therefore represent a level 3 measurement.

Item 19. Exhibits

Exhibit Number	<u>Name</u>
1.1	Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference from our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on July 14, 2020)
1.2	Certificate of Incorporation and Certificates of name changes (incorporated by reference from our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on July 14, 2020)
2.1	Description of the Company's Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by reference from our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on July 14, 2020)
4.1	Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on July 14, 2020)
4.2	Restricted Share Unit Plan (incorporated by reference from our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on July 14, 2020)
4.3	Consulting Services Agreement dated September 1, 2019, between the Company and CB1 Capital Advisors LLC (incorporated by reference from our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on July 14, 2020)
4.5	Earn-Out Share Settlement Agreement, dated February 1, 2023, between the Company and Swell vendor, Alleh Lindquist
8.1	List of Significant Subsidiaries
12.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
12.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
13.1	Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
13.2	Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
15.1	Management's Discussion and Analysis for the Year Ended January 31, 2023
15.2	Change of Auditor and Notice Letters (incorporated by reference from our Form 6-K filed with the SEC on December 7, 2022)
15.3	Consent of Marcum, LLP
15.4	Consent of Baker Tilly US, LLP
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

SIGNATURES

The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sight this Annual Report on its behalf.

C21 Investments Inc.

By: /s/ Sonny Newman

Name: Sonny Newman

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: July 20, 2023